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based on the closing sale price for the Regissatmmon stock on that date as reported by The Nl DBapital Market. For purposes of
this calculation, shares of common stock held bgadors and officers of the Registrant at June28Q4 were excluded. This determination of
executive officers and directors as affiliatesas mecessarily a conclusive determination for atneiopurpose.
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PART |
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain of the statements contained in this AnRegbort on Form 10-K are forward-looking and conggtforwardlooking statements witr
the meaning of the Private Securities LitigatiorfdR@ Act of 1995. In addition, from time to time may publish forwardeoking statemen
relating to such matters as anticipated financiatfprmance, business prospects, technological dewatnts, product pipelines, clinical tri
and research and development activities, the adegoécapital reserves and anticipated operatingutes and cash expenditures, current
potential collaborations, strategic alternativesdanther aspects of our present and future busimggsations and similar matters that a
constitute such forwartboking statements. These statements involve kaodmnknown risks, uncertainties, and other factbeg may caus
our or our industrys actual results, levels of activity, performanaeachievements to be materially different from &utyre results, levels
activity, performance, or achievements expressednptied by such forwartboking statements. Such factors include, amongrattings
unforeseen changes in the course of research anela@ment activities and in clinical trials; poskilchanges in cost, timing and progres
development, preclinical studies, clinical trialsdaregulatory submissions; our or our collabora®@bility to obtain and maintain regulatc
approval of any of our product candidates; possitienges in capital structure, financial conditidature working capital needs and ot
financial items; changes in approaches to medigsdtment; introduction of new products by others;scess or failure of our current or futt
collaboration arrangements, risks and uncertain@essociated with possible acquisitions of otheht®dogies, assets or businesses; our al
to obtain additional funds for our operations; oability to obtain and maintain intellectual propgrprotection for our technologies &
product candidates and our ability to operate owsimess without infringing the intellectual properights of others; our reliance on thi
parties to conduct preclinical studies or clinidaibls; the rate and degree of market acceptancarof approved product candidates; poss
actions by customers, suppliers, strategic partnpatential strategic partners, competitors andulkedory authorities; compliance with listii
standards of The NASDAQ Capital Market; and thisted under “Risk Factors” below and elsewherehistAnnual Report on Form 1K- In
some cases, you can identify forward-looking statgmby terminology such as “expect,” “anticipaté@stimate,” “plan,” “believe, “could,”
“intend,” “predict,” “may,” “should,” “will,” "woul  d” and words of similar import regarding the Compes expectations. Forwartboking
statements are only predictions. Actual events esults may differ materially. Although we beliehattour expectations are based
reasonable assumptions within the bounds of ounertge of our industry, business and operationscamnot guarantee that actual resi
will not differ materially from our expectations évaluating such forwartboking statements, you should specifically consigeious factors
including the risks outlined under “Risk FactorsThe discussion of risks and uncertainties set fortthis Annual Report on Form 104is no
necessarily a complete or exhaustive list of alksi facing the Company at any particular pointime. We operate in a highly competit
highly regulated and rapidly changing environmentiaur business is in a state of evolution. Theeefih is likely that new risks will emer
and that the nature and elements of existing niglkischange, over time. It is not possible for mgament to predict all such risk factors
changes therein, or to assess either the impadllo$uch risk factors on our business or the extientvhich any individual risk factc
combination of factors, or new or altered factargy cause results to differ materially from thoeatained in any forwardeoking statemer
Except as required by law, we assume no obligatiarvise or update any forwalooking statement that may be made from time te bgnu
or on our behalf for any reason, even if new infation becomes available in the future.

Unless the context requires otherwise or unles®ratise noted, all references in this Annual Repmrt Form 10-K to “Celsion” ‘the
Company”, “we”, “us”, or “our” are to Celsion Corporation, a Delaware corporatiand its wholly owned subsidiary, CLSN Laborato

Inc., also a Delaware Corporatiol
Trademarks

The Celsion Corporation (“Celsion” or “the Companyrand and product names, including but not lichite Celsion®, ThermoDox®
EGEN®, TheraPlas™ and TheraSilence™ contained in this mleotl are trademarks, registered trademarks orceemiarks of Celsic
Corporation or its subsidiary in the United StaldsS.) and certain other countries. This documésd aontains references to trademarks
service marks of other companies that are the piyppétheir respective owners.




OVERVIEW

Celsion is a fullyintegrated oncology drug development company fatusedeveloping a portfolio of innovative canceratiments, includir
directed chemotherapies, immunotherapies and RMANA-based therapies. Our lead program is Thermx@@ proprietary headctivate
liposomal encapsulation of doxorubicin, currentlyai Phase 111 clinical trial for the treatment oinpary liver cancer (the OPTIMA Study) an
Phase Il clinical trial for the treatment of re@nt chest wall breast cancer (the DIGNITY Studyr @ipeline also includes GEN{formerly
known as EGEN-001), a DNhased immunotherapy for the localized treatmenbwdrian and brain cancers. We have three pla
technologies for the development of treatments tfowse suffering with difficult-to-treat forms of meer, novel nucleic acibdase
immunotherapies and other antincer DNA or RNA therapies, including TheraPlasf &heraSilence™. We are working to develop
commercialize more efficient, effective and targetamcology therapies based on our technologies, thi¢ goal to develop novel therapet
that maximize efficacy while minimizing side-effeetommon to cancer treatments.

Our lead product ThermoDox@® being evaluated in a Phase Il clinical triat fisimary liver cancer (the OPTIMA study) startimgthe firs
half of 2014 and a Phase I clinical trial for remnt chest wall breast cancer (the DIGNITY Study)ermoDox®is a liposomal encapsulati
of doxorubicin, an approved and frequently usedotogy drug for the treatment of a wide range of ceas. Localized heat at m
hyperthermia temperatures (greater than 39.5° @)Iseleases the encapsulated doxorubicin fronighsome enabling high concentration:
doxorubicin to be deposited preferentially in anguad the targeted tumor.

On January 31, 2013, we announced that ThermoDox@®mbination with radio frequency ablation (RFdill not meet the primary endpc
of Progression Free Survival (PFS) for the 701gmattlinical trial in patients with hepatocellutzarcinoma (HCC), also known as primary |
cancer (the HEAT Study). Specifically, we deterndinafter conferring with the HEAT Study independBata Monitoring Committee (iDMC
that the HEAT study did not meet the goal of denarting persuasive evidence of clinical effectiven¢hat could form the basis for regula
approval. In the trial, ThermoDdX was wadlerated with no unexpected serious adverse evEntwing the announcement of the HE
Study results, we continue to follow patients feerll survival (OS), the secondary endpoint of H8AT Study, on a quarterly basis. We h
conducted a comprehensive analysis of the data fhemHEAT Study to assess the future strategicevaluThermoDox® As part of thi
analysis, we also evaluated our product pipelireerasearch and development priorities. In April 204e announced the deferral of expe
associated with the Company’s Phase Il study ofb®o0x® in combination with RFA for the treatment of colot& liver metastases (T
ABLATE Study) until such time as the Company fizak its plans for the continuation of its developtprogram with ThermoDo® in HCC.

The data from the HEAT Study post-hoc analysis ssgthat ThermoDo® may substantially improve overall survival, whemgared to th
control group, in patients if their lesions undeggd5 minute RFA procedure standardized for a fegreater than 3 cm in diameter. Data f
seven OS sweeps have been conducted since thim¢opHS data from the HEAT Study were announcethimuary 2013, with each data
showing progressive improvement in statistical igance. The most recent pdsdc OS analysis data from the HEAT Study (as otidanl15
2015)announced in February 2015 demonstrated that arge, well bounded, subgroup of patients (n=28%p 4f the study patients), t
combination of ThermoDo® and standardized RFA provided a 59% improveme@3ncompared to optimized RFA alone. The Hazardo
at this latest quarterly OS analysis is 0.628 (96%00.420 - 0.939) with a palue of 0.02. These data continue to strongly esgtha
ThermoDox® may significantly improve overall survival comparédl a RFA control in patients whose lesions undeogtimized RF/
treatment for 45 minutes or more. These findingshato patients with single HCC lesions (64.4%td HEAT Study population) from bc
size cohorts of the HEAT Study (3-5 cm an@ Bm) and represent a subgroup of 285 patientsidvieal/erall survival for the subgroup has
yet been reached. We may choose to end this asalfyeiverall survival once the median is reach&both arms of the study.

Data from the HEAT Study pos$iec analysis have been presented at five sciemtifit medical conferences in 2013 and 2014 by keixTF
Study investigators and leading liver cancer expdithe presentations include:

World Conference on Interventional Oncology in Mefji1 3

European Conference on Interventional Oncologyime2013 and April 2014
International Liver Cancer Association Annual Coefece in September 2013 and 2014
American Society of Clinical Oncology 30 Annual Mieg in June 2014




We also completed computational modeling with seppntary prospective preclinical animal studiespsujing the relationship betwe
heating duration and clinical outcomes.

On February 24, 2014, we announced that the U.8d ead Drug Administration (FDA), after its custam&0 day review period, accep
without comment, subject to compliance with regufatstandards, our pivotal, double-blind, placebatmlled Phase IlI trial of ThermoDox®
our proprietary heaactivated liposomal encapsulation of doxorubicie@mbination with RFA in primary liver cancer, alssown as HCC (tt
OPTIMA Study). The OPTIMA Study trial design is ledson the comprehensive analysis of data from & Hstudy, which, as describ
previously, demonstrated that treatment with Thédm@® resulted in a 59% improvement in overall survivahilarge number of HCC patie
that received an optimized RFA treatment for loripan 45 minutes. Designed with extensive inputnfigiobally recognized HCC researct
and clinicians and, after formal written consubiatiwith the FDA, the OPTIMA Study was launched lie first half of 2014. The OPTIM
Study is expected to enroll up to 550 patients gllgbat up to 100 sites in the United States, Eardphina and elsewhere in the Asia Pa
region, and will evaluate ThermoDox#® combination with standardized RFA, which willgtere a minimum of 45 minutes across
investigators and clinical sites for treating les@® to 7 centimeters, versus standardized RFAealBine primary endpoint for the trial is ove
survival, and the secondary endpoints for the wisd PFS and Safety. The statistical plan callstdar interim efficacy analyses by
independent DMC.

In addition, the Company has met with the ChindaeSkod and Drug Administration (CHINA FDA) to disss the OPTIMA Phase Il Stu
including minimum patient enrollment requirementporting the registration of ThermoDo® China. Based on those discussions, we
submitted an application for accelerated approyahe OPTIMA Study in China. We also filed a requéx® a Voluntary Harmonizatic
Procedure (VHP) in Europe, which provides for tissemsment of multinational clinical trial applicais across several European coun
including Germany, Italy and Spain. Our requesf& HP in Europe was approved on October 23, 2014.

On June 20, 2014, we completed the acquisitiorub$tantially all of the assets of EGEN, Inc., aal#¥dma Corporation (EGEN), pursuar
an Asset Purchase Agreement. CLSN Laboratories, dnDelaware corporation and a whaotiywned subsidiary of ours (CLSN Laboratori
acquired all of EGEM right, title and interest in and to substantialllyof the assets of EGEN, including cash and aasglivalents, paten
trademarks and other intellectual property rigbtsical data, certain contracts, licenses and gsrrequipment, furniture, office equipme
furnishings, supplies and other tangible persomapgrty. In addition, CLSN Laboratories assumedaterspecified liabilities of EGEI
including the liabilities arising out of the acoeir contracts and other assets relating to periftes the closing date. The consideration ol
acquisition include an initial payment of approxteig $3.0 million in cash plus 2.7 million sharek @elsion's common stock. Addition
consideration included contingent value rightslioge$30.4 million, payable in cash, shares of @esommon stock or a combination ther
at Celsion’s option, upon acheivement of three miagitestone events as follows:

a) Certain specified development milestones raaid GEN-1 to treat ovarian cancer patients ($i#iGon);
b) Certain specified development milestones mdpto GEN-1 to treat GBM cancer patients ($12.0iom); and
c) A self-liquidating payment of 50% of all feesceived from the licensing of TherSilence (up td38illion).

With the acquisition, we purchased GEN-1 (formémypwn as EGEN-001), a DNBased immunotherapy for the localized treatmeivafiar
and brain cancers, and three platform technoldgiethe development of treatments for those suffervith difficult-totreat forms of cance
novel nucleic acid-based immunotherapies and o#mtrcancer DNA or RNA therapies, including TheraPlasitl & heraSilence™.
February 2015, we announced that the FDA accepi¢itiput comment, the Phase | dose-escalation dirni@al of GEN- in combination wit
the standard of care in neajuvant ovarian cancer. The clinical trial wilkiatify a safe, tolerable and potentially therapmlly active dose «
GEN-1 while maximizing an immune response. The triadésigned to enroll three to six patients per degel and will evaluate safety &
efficacy and attempt to define an optimal doseawycforward into a Phase 1l trial. We expect tiiate enrollment for the trial in the secc
half of 2015 at five to six U.S. clinical centers.

In 2007, we sold our medical device franchise tstBo Scientific Corporation for net aggregate paytsef $43 million, receiving $13 millic

in 2007 and $15 million in each of 2008 and 208®ce this divesture, we have dedicated our effants resources to the development
commercialization of cancer drugs including tunemgeting chemotherapy treatments using focused dwerigy in combination with heat-
activated drug delivery systems, immunotherapied BNA-based therapies. To support our research and geweht, we raised grc
proceeds of approximately $95 million in equitydirtings and warrant and option exercises in thesy2@09 through 2013. In January 2(
we raised net proceeds of $14 million through antgdinancing. We had cash, cash equivalents,tsieom investments and interest receiv
totaling $37 million at the end at December 31,200e have one credit facility for a total prin@phmount of up to $20 million and h:
drawn down $10 million under this credit facility.




On December 5, 2008, we entered into a developnpeatiuct supply and commercialization agreemenk wiakult Honsha Co., Ltd. (tl
Yakult Agreement) under which we granted Yakultexglusive right to commercialize and market Therrop® for the Japanese market.
received a $2.5 million upfront licensing fee andynmreceive additional payments from Yakult uponeigtof marketing approval by t
Japanese Ministry of Health, Labor and Welfare afi as upon the achievement of certain levels tdssand approval for new indicatio
Under the Yakult Agreement, we will receive doutligit escalating royalties on the sale of Thermo®ax Japan, when and if any such s
occur, and we also will be the exclusive suppliefllermoDox®to Yakult. In January 2011, we amended the Yakgite&ment to provide f
up to $4.0 million in an accelerated partial paytrterus of a future drug approval milestone, whitluded $2.0 million paid to us upon
closing of the preferred equity financing and aditdnal $2.0 million conditioned upon the resuroptiof enrollment of Japanese patient
the Japan cohort of the HEAT study. In consideratib these accelerated milestone payments from I¥,ake agreed to reduce future d
approval milestone payments by approximately 40%other milestone payments were unaffected.

On May 6, 2012, we entered into a lotegm commercial supply agreement with Zhejiang Hiftharmaceutical Co. Ltd. (Hisun) for
production of ThermoDo® in mainland China, Hong Kong and Macau (the Cheratory). Hisun will be responsible for providiradl of the
technical and regulatory support services for trenufiacture of ThermoDo® in the China territory and we will repay Hisun thelatec
development costs and fees, which we expect toppeogimately $1.2 million in total, commencing dmetsuccessful completion of th
registrational batches of ThermoD8x In.March 2015, results of stability tests performiydHisun demonstrated it successfully compl
three registration batches of ThermoD®xall of which show substantial chemical equivaleméth investigational product produced by
Companys current contract manufacturer. We plan to qualify seek regulatory approval for HISUN to servaragpproved manufacturer
China and Europe.

On January 18, 2013, we broadened our relationshipHisun by entering into a technology developiesntract, pursuant to which His
paid us a non-refundable research and developnemntof $5.0 million to support our development ofeffhoDox ® Following ou
announcement of the HEAT Study results on Janu&ry®313, we and Hisun agreed that the technologgldpment contract entered into
January 18, 2013 will remain in effect while thetjgs continue to collaborate the next steps iati@h to ThermoDo® which include th
continued subgroup analysis of the Chinese coHopatients in the HEAT Study for primary liver camcand other activities to further
development of ThermoDdX for the China territory.

On July 19, 2013, we and Hisun entered into a Mamadum of Understanding to pursue ongoing collalbmatfor the continued clinic
development of ThermoDdX and the technology tramsfiating to the commercial manufacture of Thermar® for the China territory. Th
expanded collaboration includes development ofrtéxe generation liposomal formulation with the goélcreating safer, more efficacic
versions of marketed cancer chemotherapeutics.

As a result of the risks and uncertainties disali$sehis Annual Report on Form ¥J-among others, we are unable to estimate thetidn
and completion costs of our research and developprejects or when, if ever, and to what extent wit receive cash inflows from ti
commercialization and sale of a product. Our inbib complete any of our research and developraetitities, preclinical studies or clini
trials in a timely manner or our failure to entetoi collaborative agreements when appropriate caiddificantly increase our capi
requirements and could adversely impact our liguidiVhile our estimated future capital requiremeats uncertain and could increas:
decrease as a result of many factors, includinge¥tent to which we choose to advance our resedesiglopment activities, preclinical stuc
and clinical trials, or if we are in a positiongarsue manufacturing or commercialization actigit\e will need significant additional capita
develop our product candidates through developnagit clinical trials, obtain regulatory approvalsdamanufacture and commercia
approved products, if any. We do not know whethemwill be able to access additional capital wheedeel or on terms favorable to us or
stockholders. Our inability to raise additional italp or to do so on terms reasonably acceptablestovould jeopardize the future success o
business.




As a clinical stage biopharmaceutical company,baginess and our ability to execute our strateggctueve our corporate goals are subje
numerous risks and uncertainties. Material riskd @mcertainties relating to our business and adustry are described in "Part [, Item 1A. F
Factors" in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

THERMODOX® (DOXORUBICIN ENCAPSULATED IN HEAT-ACTIVA TED LIPOSOME)

Liposomes are manufactured submicroscopic vesgdasisting of a discrete aqueous central compattswnounded by a membrane bile
composed of naturally occurring lipids. Conventioliigosomes have been designed and manufacturedrty drugs and increase reside
time, thus allowing the drugs to remain in the llstoeam for extended periods of time before theyramoved from the body. However,
current existing liposomal formulations of canceugs and liposomal cancer drugs under developnmenbtliprovide for the immediate rele
of the drug and the direct targeting of organ dpetiimors, two important characteristics that squired for improving the efficacy of can
drugs such as doxorubicin. A team of research istenat Duke University developed a heatisitive liposome that rapidly changes
structure when heated to a threshold minimum teatper of 39.5° to 422elsius. Heating creates channels in the liposbitager that alloy
an encapsulated drug to rapidly disperse into theosnding tissue. Through a perpetual, wavide, exclusive development ¢
commercialization license from Duke University, §leh has licensed this novel, heativated liposomal technology that is differergéhfron
other liposomes through its unique low heat-actistatlease of encapsulated chemotherapeutic agents.

We are using several available focu$edt technologies, such as radio frequency abléRéA\), microwave energy and high intensity foct
ultrasound (HIFU), to activate the release of drugsy our novel heat-sensitive liposomes.

THERMODOX® IN RELATION TO PRIMARY LIVER CANCER
Liver Cancer Overview

Primary liver cancer (hepatocellular carcinoma @@ is one of the most common and deadliest forfmsancer worldwide. It ranks as
fifth most common solid tumor cancer. It is estieththat up to 90% of liver cancer patients wik dvithin five years of diagnosis. T
incidence of primary liver cancer is approximat28;000 cases per year in the United States, appatgly 40,000 cases per year in Europe
is rapidly growing worldwide at approximately 80000cases per year. HCC has the fastest rate wftlymf all cancers and is projected tc
the most prevalent form of cancer by 2020. HCCommmonly diagnosed in patients with longstandingatiepdisease and cirrhosis (prima
due to hepatitis C in the U.S. and Europe and ktepBtin Asia).

At an early stage, the standard first line treatnfenliver cancer is surgical resection of the armUp to 80% of patients are ineligible
surgery or transplantation at time of diagnosisabse early stage liver cancer generally has fewpsyms and when finally detected the tu
frequently is too large for surgical resection. feha@re few alternative treatments, since radiatteerapy and chemotherapy are lar
ineffective. For tumors generally up to 5 centimgie diameter, RFA has emerged as the standasdreftreatment which directly destroys
tumor tissue through the application of high terapanes administered by a probe inserted into tihe aebthe tumor. Local recurrence rates i
RFA directly correlate to the size of the tumorr Famors 3 cm or smaller in diameter the recurrerate has been reported to be 120%:
however, for tumors greater than 3 cm, local reange rates of 40% or higher have been observed.

Celsion’s Approach

While RFA uses extremely high temperatures (gretii@n 80° Celsius) to ablate the tumor, it may faitreat micrometastases in the ou
margins of the ablation zone because temperataré®iperiphery may not be high enough to destreycancer cells. Celsion’s ThermoD®x
treatment approach is designed to utilize the tghilf RFA devices to ablate the center of the tumbile simultaneously thermally activati
the ThermoDo»® liposome to release its encapsulated doxorubickiltoemaining viable cancer cells throughout tieated region, includii
the tumor ablation margins. This novel treatmergraach is intended to deliver the drug directlytiiose cancer cells that survive RFA. ~
approach will also increase the delivery of theatakicin at the desired tumor site while poterngyiaducing drug exposure distant to the tu
site.




Phase | Clinical Trial - Primary Liver Cancer

In the second quarter of 2007, we completed owt fthase | single dose escalation clinical triat timvestigated ThermoDo® in
combination with RFA for the treatment of primanydametastatic liver cancer. The study was carrigidad the National Cancer Institute
(NCI), which is part of the National Institutestdéalth (NIH) and Queen Mary Hospital in Hong Kong.

In 2007 we initiated a second Phase | dose esgalatiudy designed to investigate simplificatiortie# current RFA/ThermoDoR treatmer
regimen including a single vial formulation of ThesDox® designed for commercial distribution. The studyalermitted multiple dosing
liver cancer patients. This clinical trial was cdetpd in 2008.

701 Patient Global Clinical Trial - Primary Liver C ancer (The HEAT Study)

The HEAT Study for ThermoDof in combination with RFA, was conducted in patiewtth primary liver cancer under a Special Prot:
Assessment agreed to with the FDA. The SpecialoBobtAssessment (SPA) agreed to with the FDA spetiPFS as the HEAT Study’
primary endpoint. We scheduled a meeting with tligAMR Study independent DMC on January 30, 2013 @depto conduct an analysis of
HEAT Study’s PFS endpoint. Following review by th#C, on January 31, 2013, we announced that Theor&DOn combination with RF,
did not meet the HEAT Study’primary endpoint of PFS. Specifically, we deteredi, after conferring with the DMC, that the HEATU®&y dic
not meet the goal of demonstrating persuasive eeilef clinical effectiveness that could form thasils for regulatory approval in 1
population chosen for the HEAT Study. The HEAT $tudhs designed to show a 33 percent improvemeRE® with 80 percent power an
p-value = 0.05. In the trial, ThermoD8&x was weletated with no unexpected serious adverse events.

As provided for in the SPA, we continue to folloletpatients enrolled in the HEAT Study to the sdeoy endpoint of overall survival. v
have evaluated data from seven sweeps of ovemalival since the announcement of the HEAT Stwdgtimary endpoint result, with et
showing progressive improvement in statistical gigance. In January 2014, we announced that thed&8d from the podtec analysis ¢
results from the HEAT Study support continued clitiidevelopment through a prospective pivotal Phihsatudy. The postioc data sugge
that ThermoDoy® may substantially improve overall survival, whemgared to the control group, in patients whosetesiindergo optimiz:
RFA treatment for 45 minutes or more. The mostmepesthoc analysis data from the HEAT Study announcdeeipruary 2015 demonstr
that the patient subgroup in the ThermoD®oarm whose RFA procedure lasted longer than 45 m&n(285 patients or 41% of the st
patients), experienced a 59% improvement in overaWival, with a Hazard Ratio of 0.628 (95% CIZD4 0.939) and a Ralue of 0.02. ,
multivariate analysis we conducted supports oumttygsis that RFA time is the determining factoimnproving OS. This information shot
be viewed with caution since it is based on a sgteative analysis of a subgroup that has not rebiteenedian point for the overall survi
analysis. We may choose to end this analysis afath&irvival once the median is reached for bathsaof the study.

We also completed computational modeling with sepmntary prospective preclinical animal studiesciwigupport the relationship betw:
heating duration and clinical outcomes.

Phase 1l Global Clinical Trial - Primary Liver Can cer (The OPTIMA Study)

Based on the overall survival data from the gust-analysis of results from HEAT Study, we subaditour proposed pivotal Phase 11l clin
protocol for the FDA review in the fourth quartdra®13. On February 24, 2014, we announced thaEbw, after its customary 30 day revi
period, accepted without comment, subject to caangk with regulatory standards, clearance for tR&I®A Study our pivotal, doublélind,
placebo-controlled Phase I trial of ThermoD®%n combination with standardized RFA in primaryeiivcancer, also known as HCC. -
OPTIMA Study trial design is based on a comprehenanalysis of data from our Phase IIl HEAT Study.

Designed with extensive input from globally recamd HCC researchers and clinicians and after formitlen consultation with the FDA, t
OPTIMA Study was launched in the first half of 20T4e OPTIMA Study is expected to enroll up to $Blients globally at up to 100 site:
the United States, Europe, China and elsewherhdmsia Pacific region, and will evaluate Thermo$bin combination with standardiz
RFA, which will require a minimum of 45 minutes ass all investigators and clinical sites for tnegtiesions 3 to 7 centimeters, vel
standardized RFA alone. The primary endpoint ferttial is overall survival, and the secondary emidis for the trial are PFS and Safety.

OPTIMA Study is 80% powered to show a 33% improveimea OS. The statistical plan calls for two interiefficacy analyses by

independent DMC. As reported in February 2015, post data from the HEAT Study demonstrate that abd&z well bounded subgroup
patients in the ThermoDdXarm whose RFA procedure lasted longer than 45 minexperienced a 59% improvement in overall sukvividh
a Hazard Ratio of 0.628 (95% CI 0.420 - 0.939) afdvalue = 0.02.




In addition, the Company has met with the ChindaeSkod and Drug Administration (CHINA FDA) to disss the OPTIMA Phase Il Stu
including minimum patient enrollment requirementggorting the registration of ThermoD8xn China. Based on those discussions, we
submitted an application for accelerated appro¥ahe OPTIMA Study in China. We also filed a requés a Voluntary Harmonizatic
Procedure (VHP) in Europe, which provides for tlssessment of multinational clinical trial applicats across several European coun
including Germany, Italy and Spain. Our requesf& HP in Europe was approved on October 23, 2014.

We will continue with partnerships, such as ouaagement with Hisun to the extent feasible. In toidj we have assessed our product pip
and research and development priorities. As weuatal strategic alternatives, we will need to cosrsid number of factors, includi
investment in, or acquisition of, complementary ibesses, technologies or products, possible capdtizing transactions, partner
opportunities and working capital requirements. &pect that the strength of our balance sheetaffitird us the opportunity to evaluate
future development plans. However, as demonstratedhe HEAT Study results announced on January 2813, drug research &
development is an inherently uncertain processtia is a high risk of failure at every stage pt@approval. The timing and the outcom
clinical results is extremely difficult to predidtlinical development successes and failures cae hadisproportionate positive or nega
impact on our scientific and medical prospectsariirial prospects, financial condition and markdétea

THERMODOX® IN RELATION TO CANCERS OTHER THAN PRIMAFR LIVER CANCER

In June 2012, we announced collaboration with thés&rsity of Oxford to begin an early phase clihisaudy of ThermoDox®plus HIFU ir
the treatment of metastatic liver cancer. The,tuidlich is supported by the National Institute ftgalth Research Oxford Biomedical Rese
Centre, will be carried out as a multidisciplinagllaboration between us, the Oxford Universitytibage of Biomedical Engineering and
Oxford University Hospitals NHS Trust. This earlhgse clinical study is being finalized and will uveg approval from a local eth
committee.

In collaboration with the Focused Ultrasound Fouimtia we are sponsoring preclinical studies desigioeexplore the use of ThermoDox®
combination with MRguided HIFU for the treatment of pancreatic candére studies are being conducted at the Univeddityashingto
(UW) School of Medicine. The UW research includesral models to confirm the ability of HIFU to tagconcentrations of doxorubicin
proprietary pancreatic cancer cell lines and iro\studies to assess the response to these turaatedrusing ThermoDox@&ith and withou
HIFU-induced hyperthermia. We believe that these cotktimns are providing important new device techgie such as HIFU to activate -
low heat sensitive liposomal technology in diffietd-treat cancers.

Recurrent Chest Wall (RCW) Breast Cancer Overview

Breast cancer is the most common malignancy in woiméoth the United States and the world. Despiariety of therapeutic approaches
to 40% of the estimated 95,000 patients in the ddhtates undergoing a mastectomy as their pritneagment will develop locally recurre
RCW breast cancer. There is currently no effectivtemotherapeutic standard of care for RCW bremster and as a result, many of tt
patients will die within two years of the recurrendatients with RCW breast cancer suffer fromiglising tumors and other sympto
including pain, foul-smelling wounds, and a vergual reminder of tumor progression.

Celsion’s Approach

We have been actively seeking a targeted localimstment for breast cancer using ThermoDdar®&onjunction with localized microwa
hyperthermia to treat RCW breast cancer. Studid3ute University and other centers have indicated heat may improve the therape
action of non-temperature sensitive liposomal dok@in formulations in advanced locegional breast cancer. Our liposomal encapst
doxorubicin is released by heat generated fromxdermal microwave tissue hyperthermia device tlsaplaced on a womas'chest. Th
microwave hyperthermia heats the target to a teatper adequate to activate ThermoDdx® not to ablate the tissue like RFA. Upon het
to 39.5° to 42%C, a significant concentration of doxorubicin idessed directly to the tumor. As in our liver canpeogram, we use
commercially available thermotherapy device to lieattarget tissue and activate ThermoDox® at #eired target site.




Microwave hyperthermia as a separate standaloatntesnt has been found to have the ability to kildst cancer cells. Because breast ¢
cells have higher water content than surroundimgnabcells, the tumor is heated to a greater exteart normal breast tissue and is select
destroyed. Therefore, heating cancer cells withi@owave device for sixty minutes at 43°C has beemd to be tumoricidal. We expect t
the combination of microwave hyperthermia and ThaDox® will be more efficacious than microwave hyperthexralone or treatment w
existing non-heat activated liposomal formulations.

Breast Cancer Phase I/l Clinical Trial - The DIGNITY Study

In 2009, the Company commenced an open label, essalating ThermoDo® Phase I/Phase Il clinical trial for patients witlCW breas
cancer —the DIGNITY Study). The DIGNITY Study is designea eéstablish a safe therapeutic dose in Phase linaBtase Il to demonstri
local control, including complete and partial respes, and stable disease as its primary endpdig. DIGNITY Study is also planned
evaluate kinetics in ThermoDox® produced from nib@n one manufacturing site.

The Company completed enrollment of the Phase tigmoof the study in 2010 and an independent Dati@t$ Monitoring Board declar
50mg/m2 to be the Phase Il dose. The Phase tiopoof the DIGNITY Study protocol has been revielwey the FDA and enrollme
commenced in the first quarter of 2013. The tsadlésigned to enroll up to 20 patients at fiveictihsites in the United States and is evalui
ThermoDox® in combination with mild hyperthermian@liment is expected to be completed in rB@it5 with final clinical results to |
reported in the second half of 2015.

Duke University conducted a Phase | dose escaldtirgmoDox®study in patients with RCW breast cancer and hasemted prelimina
results from the 16 enrolled patients that charaete¢he safety of the drug in RCW patients andfé@sibility of ThermoDox®administratiol
in these patients. In December 2013, we announmebined clinical data from our DIGNITY study anetbuke University sponsored Pha
trial of ThermoDox@®plus hyperthermia in RCW breast cancer. The twalaity designed Phase | studies enrolled patieritis kighly resistar
tumors found on the chest wall and who had progess previous therapy including chemotherapy,ataah therapy and hormone there
ThermoDox®in combination with mild hyperthermia was evaluatedhese patients in up to six cycles. Both stsidimployed an open lal
3+3 dose escalation study design to determine thriftum Tolerated Dose, evaluate safety and determarly effects of ThermoDox@
combination with mild hyperthermia. There were 28ignts treated in the two trials, including 1li@ats in the DIGNITY Study and .
patients in the Duke study. Of the 29 patientsw28e eligible for evaluation of efficacy. A localsponse rate of over 60 percent was rep
in 14 of the 23 evaluable patients with five conplesponses and nine partial responses.

On July 24, 2014, we announced interim data froelDIGNITY Study of ThermoDo® in RCW Breast Cancer. Of the 14 patients enrolled
treated, ten were eligible for evaluation of eftigaBased on data available to date, approxim#&@% of patients experienced a stabilizatic
their highly refractory disease with a local respomate of 50% observed in the ten evaluable gati@otably three complete responses,
partial responses and one patient with stable siseBhese data are consistent with the combineitalidata from the two Phase | tr
discussed above.

Breast Cancer Phase Il Clinical Trial - The Euro-DIGNITY Study

The Company anticipates a Phase Il study of Radicady (RT), HyperThermia (HT) and ThermoD®x to tneatients with locategiona
recurrent chest wall breast cancer will be initlaly six to eight physicians and institutions lechin Italy, Israel, the Netherlands, Poland
the Czech Republic (the Euro-DIGNITY Study). Ther&DIGNITY Study will be Phase Il study enrolling up 100 patients affected
recurrent breast adenocarcinoma on the chest \ithiwithout nodes over a period of two years.

The primary objectives of the Euro-DIGNITY StudylMie (i) to evaluate efficacy in patients aftecygles of ThermoDo® plus Hyperthermi
measuring tumor diameter as a response to therapyiia to evaluate locasegional breast tumor control in patients who ugdefhermobDo
® /hyperthermia/radiotherapy as measured by targieedinical response rate combining a RECIST datevith digital photography to gau
response.




Secondary objectives of the EUBGNITY Study will be (i) to evaluate the safety ofthe combination «
ThermoDox/Hyperthermia/Radiotherapy among patieitis LRR breast cancer, (ii) to evaluate the dwraif local control complete respo
(CR), partial response (PR) and stable disease {@DBying treatment with ThermoDox/HyperthermiatRatherapy up to 24 months amc
patients with LRR breast cancer and (iii) to as$&sent Reported Quality of Life using the FAGTand Brief Pain Inventory (BPI) followit
treatment with ThermoDox/Hyperthermia/Radiotherapyong patients with LRR breast cancer.

Early Access Program for ThermoDox® for the Treatmem of Patients with RCW Breast Cancer

On January 13, 2015, we entered into an Early Acéggeement with Impatients N.V., a Netherlands pany (Impatients), pursuant to wh
Impatients will develop and execute through itsndranyTomorrows an early access program for ThermxdDio all countries of the Europe
Union territory, Iceland, Liechtenstein, Norway @ditzerland (the Territory) for the treatment attipnts with RCW breast cancer. Undet
early access program, Impatients will engage iiviliess to secure authorization, exemption or waivem regulatory authorities for patient |
of ThermoDox® that may otherwise be subject to apmsfrom such regulatory authorities before tHe sad distribution of ThermoDdXin
the relevant territories. We will be responsible tlre manufacture and supply of quantities of ThEDax ® to Impatients for use in the Ea
Access Program and Impatients will distribute agii BhermoDox® pursuant to such authorization, exgong or waivers.

Acquisition of EGEN

On June 20, 2014, we completed the acquisitionubktntially all of the assets of EGEN, Inc. (EGENj)suant to an Asset Purch
Agreement (EGEN Asset Purchase Agreement). CLSMiatabries acquired all of EGEBIYight, title and interest in and to substantiallyof
the assets of EGEN, including cash and cash eauitgl patents, trademarks and other intellectuapepty rights, clinical data, cert:
contracts, licenses and permits, equipment, fumitaffice equipment, furnishings, supplies andeotfangible personal property. In addit
CLSN Laboratories assumed certain specified lisbdliof EGEN, including the liabilities arising oot the acquired contracts and other a:
relating to periods after the closing date. The EQRurchase Agreement contains customary repregergadnd warranties regarding EG
and Celsion, covenants regarding the conduct of EGHusiness prior to the consummation of the Actjaisi indemnification provision
termination and other provisions customary for seations of this nature.

In the acquisition, we purchased GEN-1, a DN#sed immunotherapy for the localized treatmentwarian and brain cancers, and tl
platform technologies for the development of trezits for those suffering with difficult-to-treatrfos of cancer, novel nucleic adidse!
immunotherapies and other anti-cancer DNA or RNérdbpies, including TheraPlas™ and TheraSilence™.

Ovarian Cancer Overview

Ovarian cancer is the most lethal of gynecologimalignancies among women with an overall five yaawival rate of 44.6% between the
years 2004 to 2010. This poor outcome is due irt farthe lack of effective prevention and early edibn strategies. There we
approximately 22,000 new cases of ovarian cancehenUS in 2014 with an estimated 14,000 deathstadlity rates for ovarian cancer
declined very little in the last forty years duethie unavailability of detection tests and improwetments. Most women with ovarian cancer
are not diagnosed until Stages Il or IV, when disease has spread outside the pelvis to the aldantkareas beyond causing swelling and
pain, where the five-year survival rates are 2%l1opercent and 11 percent, respectively. First-themotherapy regimens are typically
platinum-based combination therapies. Although fingt line of treatment has an approximate 80 eetreesponse rate, 55 to 75 percent of
women will develop recurrent ovarian cancer withio years and ultimately will not respond to platim therapy. Patients whose cancer
recurs or progresses after initially respondingumery and first-line chemotherapy have been divigito one of the two groups based on the
time from completion of platinum therapy to diseaseurrence or progression. This time period ismefl to as platinum-free interval. The
platinum-sensitive group has a platinum-free iribiof longer than six months. This group generadlgponds to additional treatment with
platinum-based therapies. The platinum-resistaotigihas a platinum-free interval of shorter thanmbnths and is resistant to additional
platinum-based treatments. Pegylated liposomal didstcin, topotecan, and Avastin are the only appdosecond-line therapies for platinum-
resistant ovarian cancer. The overall responsefoatthese therapies is 10 to 20 percent with nredizerall survival of eleven to twelve
months. Immunotherapy is an attractive novel apgrdar the treatment of ovarian cancer particulaityce ovarian cancers are considered
immunogenic tumors. Interleukin-12 (IL-12) is a gwtent cytokine with potent immune-stimulatorydaanti-angiogenic properties. The
precedence for a therapeutic role of IL-12 in caaugancer is based on epidemiologic and precliniat.




Celsion’s Approach

Celsion’s GEN-1 approach for IL-12 delivery is dgsd to achieve local concentrations ofli2-at the tumor site with minimal increase
systemic circulation. This DNA-based approach imeslintraperitoneal (IP) administration of an1R-plasmid formulated with a propriet
lipopolymer delivery system PEG-PEI-Cholesteroltiis approach, our GEMl{immunotherapy is combined with standard chemaghedrug
to achieve better clinical outcome than with chdmotpy alone. Increases in 112 concentrations at the tumor site for severakdsyer
single administration will create a potent immum&ieonment against the tumor and a direct killinfgtlee tumor with concomitant use
cytotoxic chemotherapy together will resulting imm robust and durable antitumor response than athemapy alone. The activation of
body’s immune system will potentially eliminate ttleemotherapy resistant cells and lower the risleotfirrence.

GEN-1 Single Agent Clinical Trials

The First-In-Man, Phase 1 clinical trial of GEN-bnotherapy was conducted to determine the saftydtality of IP administered GEN-in
platinum-resistant (Stage Il and V) ovarian canpatients who had received 2-6 prior chemotherapsitments. This open label, non
randomized, dose escalation study enrolled a tdtaB patients in 4 dose escalation cohorts (0=8)n3.0 (n=3), 12 (n=4), and 24 (n=3) m\
2). All four weekly treatments of IP administered Kb& at escalating doses were well tolerated. Thiitye percent (39%) of patients tree
had stable disease.

In a Phase Il study, GEN-1 IP was administered4aimg/m2 dose once every week until progression or intoleratxicity in women wit|
persistent epithelial ovarian, fallopian tube dnary peritoneal cancer. The GEN-1 treatment wdttalerated within this Phase Il Study..

GEN-1 Combination Clinical Trials

A Phase | dose-escalation trial of IP GEN-1 (12mg/, 18 mg/m2 and 24 mg/rh ) plus IV carboplatin (ABYdocetaxel (75 mg/rA) was
examined in recurrent ovarian cancer patients vatbgreviously treated with firdine chemotherapy and had disease recurrence ehmafte
treatment (the platinum-sensitive disease) witbtal tof 13 patients enrolled in the study. The GEleatment administered in combina
with carboplatin/docetaxel was well tolerated. Basing the GEN- dosing frequency from 4 treatments to 8 treatsn@mtconjunction wit
chemotherapy was also well tolerated. There werapparent drug related, clinically significant niagatrends in laboratory test results, v
sign measurements, or physical examination findifige best clinical response rate was 92% including CR, 33% PR and 42% SD. -
median progression-free survival and overall swahMur all treatment groups was 8.8 months and tf6ths, respectively.

Based on encouraging results from GENionotherapy Phase | and Phase Il clinical tifafglatinum resistant ovarian cancer patients, ask
Ib combination trial of GENE plus Doxil initiated in this patient populatiora/conducted. Since the clinical responses to selauatherapie
is poor (historically the objective response raes less than 15%), it is hypothesized that thetiaddof GEN-1 would improve the clinic
outcome in this difficult to treat patient poputati This trial, which was a standard 3 + 3 Phaskrée cohort, dose escalation study in t
cohorts which enrolled 16 evaluable patients rengivncreasing doses of Doxil and GEN-Of these 16 evaluable patients on this stu
clinical benefit of 57.1% (PR=21.4%; SD=35.7%) wasand in the 14 patients with a measurable dise@ke. highest number of par
responses was found at the highest dose level @A dose of GEN-1 combined with 50 mgADoxil) which demonstrated that 1
maximum tolerated dose was not exceeded. Theséisrdmam the combination trial are highly encouragisince the historical Obijecti
Response Rate in Doxil treated patients is legs 15&6.

In January 2015, we announced that we submittéliet&DA a Phase | clinical trial protocol for GEINFor the treatment of ovarian cancer.
protocol, developed with guidance from the Compariedical Advisory Board, is designed to establiskafe dose and biological activity
GEN-1 in newly diagnosed ovarian cancer patients whb e undergoing neoadjuvant chemotherapy. Thecdirtrial will identify a safe
tolerable and potentially therapeutically activesel@f GEN1 while maximizing an immune response with the pt&t to identify an enhanc
population for definitive study. In February 20Mge announced that the FDA has accepted, withoutreemh, the Phase | dogscalatio
clinical trial of GEN-1 in combination with the stdard of care in neadjuvant ovarian cancer. The trial is designedrmlé three to si
patients per dose level and will evaluate safety efficacy and attempt to define an optimal doseawy forward into a Phase |l trial. \
expect to initiate enrollment for the trial in thecond half of 2015 at five to six U.S. clinicahtars.
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THERAPLAS ™ TECHNOLOGY PLATFORM

TheraPlas™ is a technology platform for the deljveir DNA and messenger RNA (MRNA) therapeuticssyiathetic nonviral carriers and
capable of providing cell transfection for doubkeanded DNA plasmids and large therapeutic RNAmads such as mRNA. There are
components of a TheraPlas system, a plasmid DNARNA payload encoding a therapeutic protein, ardklarery system. The delive
system is designed to protect the DNA/RNA from @egtion and promote trafficking into cells and tigb intracellular compartments.
designed the delivery system of TheraPlas™ by ctaiyimodifying the low molecular weight polymer itmprove its gene transfer activ
without increasing toxicity. We believe that Theed®™ is a viable alternative to current approacteesggene delivery due to seve
distinguishing characteristics, including enhancedecular versatility that allows for complex madétions to improve activity and safety.

The design of TheraPlas delivery systems is basadalecular functionalization of polyethyleneimi(REl), a cationic delivery polymer witt
distinct ability to escape from the endosomes @ukeavy protonation. The transfection activity doxicity of PEI is tightly coupled to i
molecular weight therefore the clinical applicatiwiPEl is limited. We have used molecular funcéilimation strategies to improve the acti
of low molecular weight PEls without augmentingitteytotoxicity. In one instance, chemical conjugatof a low molecular weight branct
BPEI1800 with cholesterol and polyethylene glyd®EG) to form PEG-PEGholesterol (PPC) dramatically improved the tractde activity
of BPEI1800 following in vivo delivery. Togethehd cholesterol and PEG modifications produced agpmately 20fold enhancement
transfection activity. Biodistribution studies folling intraperitoneal or subcutaneous administratid DNA/PPC nanocomplexes shov
DNA delivery localized primarily at the injectiofites with only small amount escaped into systemicutation. PPC is the delivery compor
of our lead TheraPlas product, GHNwhich is in clinical development for the treatrhevarian cancer and in preclinical developmenttffie
treatment of glioblastoma. The PPC manufacturiraggss has been scaled up from bench scalegjlto 0.6Kg, and several cGMP lots h
been produced with reproducible quality.

Another approach to improve PEI activity involvessslinking low-moleculaweight PEIs through degradable linkages to creatgel an
degradable structures. Two cross-linked polymer® Heeen synthesized with this approach and optionfiaetransfection activity. Both cross-
linked polymers expressed several fold higher femti®on activity than their respective monomers &wler cyotoxicity than a commercia
available 25 kDa polymer. One embodiment of the/mpelr is being developed for in vivo delivery of @isid DNA and mRNA. Intraveno
administration of the nanoparticles carrying DNAnORNA payload in mice has produced expression hiigh degree of lung specificity. T
lung specificity and safety for mRNA delivery folling intravenous administration in mice has beemfiomed in nonhuman primates. The
results demonstrate potential clinical utility fielivery of therapeutic DNA and RNA for lung diseasand pulmonary disorders.

TheraPlas™ has emerged as a viable alternativartert approaches due to several distinguishingacheristics such as excellent molec
versatility that allows for complex modifications improve activity and safety with little difficylt The biocompatibility of these polym:
reduces the risk of adverse immune response, tluwgireg for repeated administration. Compared tkathDNA or cationic lipids, TheraPlas
is generally safer, more efficient, and cost effectWe believe that these advantages place Ceisian excellent position to capitalize on
technology.

THERASILENCE ™ TECHNOLOGY PLATFORM

TheraSilence™ is a technology platform for the \d&ly of syntheticallygenerated inhibitory RNA (RNAI) such as small intoby RNAs
(siRNAs), microRNAs, microRNA mimics, and relatecblecules that can regulate protein expression attifinscript level by exploitit
endogenous cell mechanisms. Inhibitory RNA basedaipies have tremendous potential for targetinmially any disease related gene wi
high degree of specificity and thus eliminatingcadied “non-drugabletarget classes. The TheraSilence™ technology asiesabe prima
obstacle to nucleic acibased therapeutics which is the efficient delivierytarget cells. Specifically, a delivery systened® to be able
protect the RNAi from nuclease degradation, tranfie molecule across the cellular membranes aledise the material so that it car
available to the endogenous RNA silencing machinétg have developed proprietary, novel structunas @re able to interact with the RP
molecules forming protective nanoparticles that banreadily taken up into cells. In addition, thesystems are chemically flexible ¢
amenable to attachment of tissiaegeted ligands, in vivo stabilizing agents anfteotfunctional moieties which can tailor a formidatfor &
particular application and delivery modality. Welibee that these features can provide high spétsiffior RNAI delivery to select tissu
enhance stability and reduce in vivo toxicity. liwev proof-ofconcept studies of our most advanced system hawersthe ability to delive
RNAI molecules specifically to the pulmonary vaseulollowing intravenous administration. Using tlislivery system we have been abl
show in mice that delivery of a sSiRNA molecule thafets antirascular endothelial receptor 2 (VEGF2), a prothat is critical for the grow
of new blood vessels in tumors, can significantlyibit lung tumor growth. Additionally, delivery @ antimicro RNA molecule into rats wi
experimentally induced pulmonary arterial hypertemsvas able to normalize vascular remodeling titaturs in the lung and restore car
function that is compromised as a result of theeai®. This suggests that this delivery system &aoctige deliver numerous potentia
therapeutic molecular targets and may have applitédr the treatment of numerous lung diseases.
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BUSINESS STRATEGY

An element of our business strategy has been &upuas resources permit, the research and devethdmrha range of product candidates 1
variety of indications. We may also evaluate ligegscancer products from third parties for canceatiments to expand our current pro
pipeline. This is intended to allow us to diversifie risks associated with our research and dereap expenditures. To the extent we
unable to maintain a broad range of product catelijaur dependence on the success of one or prisuct candidates would increase
results such as those announced in relation taHBAT study on January 31, 2013 will have a moreni§icant impact on our financi
prospects, financial condition and market value. &y also consider and evaluate strategic alteremtincluding investment in, or acquisit
of, complementary businesses, technologies or ptedés demonstrated by the HEAT Study resultsgdesearch and development is
inherently uncertain process and there is a higlhaf failure at every stage prior to approval. Tind@ng and the outcome of clinical results
extremely difficult to predict. The success ordad of any preclinical development and clinicahltican have a disproportionately positivi
negative impact on our results of operations, fa@rcondition, prospects and market value.

As a result of the risks and uncertainties disalissehis Annual Report on Form ¥)-among others, we are unable to estimate thetida
and completion costs of our research and developprejects or when, if ever, and to what extent witk receive cash inflows from ti
commercialization and sale of a product if one wf product candidates receives regulatory apprforamarketing, if at all. Our inability -
complete any of our research and development esyipreclinical studies or clinical trials in imnely manner or our failure to enter i
collaborative agreements when appropriate couldifisgntly increase our capital requirements andld@dversely impact our liquidity. Wh
our estimated future capital requirements are daiceand could increase or decrease as a resaoiany factors, including the extent to wt
we choose to advance our research and developrotvities, preclinical studies and clinical trials;, whether we are in a position to put
manufacturing or commercialization activities, well wieed significant additional capital to develaur product candidates throt
development and clinical trials, obtain regulatapprovals and manufacture and commercialize apgrpveducts, if any. We do not kn
whether we will be able to access additional cépiteen needed or on terms favorable to us or amgksiolders. Our inability to raise additio
capital, or to do so on terms reasonably acceptahls, would jeopardize the future success oboginess.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT EXPENDITURES

We are engaged in a limited amount of researchdamdlopment in our own facilities and have sporgdoesearch programs in partnership '
various research institutions, including the Nadilo@ancer Institute and Duke University. We arerently, with minimal cash expenditur
sponsoring clinical and pre-clinical research a thniversity of Oxford, University of Utrecht, Bigm and Womes’ Hospital and tt
University of Washington. The majority of the spamgin research and development is for the fundih§hermoDox®clinical trials. Resear:
and development expenses were approximately $1#i6rm$9.4 million and $15.8 million for the yeaended December 31, 2014, 2013
2012, respectively. Sekem 7 — Management’s Discussion and Analysis offéial Condition and Results of Operatifor additiona
information regarding expenditures related to esearch and development programs.

GOVERNMENT REGULATION

Regulation in the United State

Research and Development

Our research and development activities, @irical tests and clinical trials are subject ttemsive regulation by the FDA as would
manufacturing, marketing and labeling of our praduif any. The Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic fhet Public Health Service Act and

regulations promulgated by the FDA govern, amorgothings, the testing, manufacture, safety, a€fyc labeling, storage, record keep
approval, advertising, promotion, import and exmdrour products.
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Under these statutes, our heativated liposomes will be regulated as a new dfing steps ordinarily required before such prosleenn b
marketed in the U.S. include (a) prinical and clinical studies; (b) the submissianthe FDA of an application for, or approval, as
Investigational New Drug application (IND), whichust become effective before human clinical trialBsyraommence; (c) adequate and wel
controlled human clinical trials to establish ttadesy and efficacy of the product; (d) the subnassio the FDA of a New Drug Applicati
(NDA); and (e) FDA approval of the application, linding approval of all product labeling.

Pre<linical tests include laboratory evaluation of gwot chemistry, formulation and stability, as weedl animal studies, to assess the pott
safety and efficacy of the product. Rileical safety tests must be conducted by laboiegahat comply with FDA regulations regarding d
laboratory practice. The results of pinical tests are submitted to the FDA as paraofIND and are reviewed by the FDA before
commencement of human clinical trials. SubmissibaroIND will not necessarily result in FDA authoation to commence clinical trials, ¢
the absence of FDA objection to an IND does noessarily mean that the FDA will ultimately apprcue NDA or that a product candid
otherwise will come to market.

Clinical trials involve the administration of th@sato humans under the supervision of a qualifisdgipal investigator. Clinical trials must
conducted in accordance with good clinical prastisader protocols submitted to the FDA as partrofND. Also, each clinical trial must
approved and conducted under the auspices of emaltreview board (IRB), and with patient informamhsent. An IRB will consider, ama
other things, ethical factors and the safety of anrsubjects and the possible liability of the tusibn conducting the clinical trials.

Clinical trials are typically conducted in two dirée sequential phases, but the phases may ovefase | clinical trials involve the init
introduction of the therapy to a small number dfjeats. Phase Il trials are generally larger treaducted in the target population. Pha
studies may serve as the pivotal trials, providimg demonstration of safety and effectiveness reduior approval. However, the FDA n
require additional, postarket trials as a condition of approval. In theecaf drugs and biological products, Phase Il cdihirials generally a
conducted in a target patient population to gaéwlence about the pharmacokinetics, safety anlddigal or clinical efficacy of the drug f
specific indications, to determine dosage toleraamu optimal dosage and to identify possible agveffects and safety risks. When a dru
biological compound has shown evidence of efficaog an acceptable safety profile in Phase Il etialus, Phase Il clinical trials &
undertaken to serve as the pivotal trials to detnatesclinical efficacy and safety in an expandatigmt population.

There can be no assurance that any of our clibied$ will be completed successfully within anyesfied time period or at all. On January
2013, we announced that ThermoDok®combination with RFA did not meet the primarydpnint of the HEAT study in patients with HC
also known as primary liver cancer. Specifically determined, after conferring with the DMC, tha HEAT study did not meet the goa
demonstrating persuasive evidence of clinical éffeoess that could form the basis for regulatggraval in the population chosen for
HEAT study.

On February 24, 2014, we announced that the FDXAr &6 customary 30 day review period, acceptalaut comment, subject to complia
with regulatory standards, clearance for the OPTIB#®dy our pivotal, double-blind, placebo-contrdliEhase Il trial of ThermoDox@&n
combination with RFA in primary liver cancer, alkoown as HCC. The OPTIMA Study trial design is lthee a comprehensive analysi
data from our Phase Ill HEAT Study.

Either the FDA or we may suspend clinical trialaay time, if the FDA, our independent DMC, or vamclude that clinical subjects are be
exposed to an unacceptable health risk or for attesons. The FDA inspects and reviews clinical sites, informed consent forms, data f
the clinical trial sites (including case reportrfar and record keeping procedures) and the perfaenafithe protocols by clinical trial person
to determine compliance with good clinical pradiic@he FDA also examines whether there was biakanconduct of clinical trials. T
conduct of clinical trials is complex and difficutispecially in pivotal Phase Il or Phase Il g8ialhere can be no assurance that the des
the performance of the pivotal clinical trial protds or any of our current or future product caatkd will be successful.

The results of prelinical studies and clinical trials, if successfate submitted in an application for FDA approt@lmarket the drug
biological product for a specified use. The testimgl approval process requires substantial timeeffiodt, and there can be no assurance
any approval will be granted for any product at éinye, according to any schedule, or at all. TheARBay refuse to accept or approve
application if it believes that applicable regutatoriteria are not satisfied. The FDA may alsouiegj additional testing for safety and effice
Moreover, if regulatory approval is granted, thprpal will be limited to specific indications. Tieecan be no assurance that any of our ct
product candidates will receive regulatory appreval marketing or, if approved, that approval vl for any or all of the indications that
request.
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In 2009, the FDA granted orphan drug designatiofeermoDox® for the treatment of HCC. Orphan drug designatiatities the Company
seven years of market exclusivity following regatgtapproval, if any, FDA assistance in clinicattrdesign, a reduction in FDA user fe
U.S. tax credits related to development expenséstlaa opportunity to apply for funding from the Ug@overnment to defray the costs
clinical trial expenses.

Any FDA-approved drug utilizing the patented tedoges may also be eligible for regulatory exclits#s, such as new chemical entity
exclusivity of five years in the US, and orphanglexclusivity of seven years in the US and ten yeéarEurope. Additionally, an FDA-
approved drug may be eligible for Biologics Exclitsi of 12 years in the US, ten years in Europee fyears in Australia, eight years in
Canada and eight years in Japan.

Post-Approval Requirements

After receipt of necessary regulatory approvalgny, for initial manufacturing and sale of our ¢wot candidates, our contract manufactt
facilities and products are subject to ongoingeevand periodic inspection. Each U.S. drug manufagy establishment must be registe
with the FDA. Manufacturing establishments in th&land abroad are subject to inspections by th& & must comply with current go
manufacturing practices. In order to ensure fudhtecal compliance with such practices, manufactuneust expend funds, time and effol
the areas of production and quality control. Iniadd, the FDA may impose posipproval requirements on us, including the requénentha
we conduct specified post-marketing studies.

Inspections

We are subject to the periodic inspection of oimic4l trials, facilities, procedures and operasi@md/or the testing of our products by the |
to determine whether our systems and processes arempliance with FDA regulations. Following suittspections, the FDA may iss
notices on Form 483 and warning letters that requoértain activities identified during the inspeantito be modified. A Form 483 notice
generally issued at the conclusion of an FDA inSpecand lists conditions the FDA inspectors bedieway violate FDA regulations. FL
guidelines specify that a warning letter only isb® issued for violations of “regulatory signifieai for which the failure to adequately ¢
promptly achieve correction may be expected tolt@san enforcement action.

Recalls

The FDA has the authority to require the recalbof products in the event of material deficienceslefects in manufacture. A government
mandated recall, or a voluntary recall by us, coakiilt from a number of events or factors, inaigdiomponent failures, manufacturing ert
instability of product or defects in labeling.

Other FDA Regulations

We are also subject to recordkeeping and reporgégglations. These regulations require, among dtfiegs, the reporting to the FDA
adverse events alleged to have been associatedhwitise of a product or in connection with cerfaimduct failures.

Labeling and promotional activities are also retpdaby the FDA. We must also comply with recorceiag requirements as well

requirements to report certain adverse events wnglour products. The FDA can impose other poatketing controls on us as well as
products including, but not limited to, restricttoon sale and use, through the approval procegsat®ns and otherwise.
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Regulation Outside of the U.S.

In addition to regulations in the U.S., we will bgbject to regulations of other countries goverrang clinical trials and commercial sales
distribution of our product candidates. Whethemot we obtain FDA approval for a product, we mustain approval by the compara
regulatory authorities of countries outside of th&. before we can commence clinical trials in scohntries and approval of the regulator
such countries or economic areas, such as the Eamopnion and China, before we may market prodinctaose countries or areas.
approval process and requirements governing theéumrof clinical trials, product licensing, pricimgnd reimbursement vary greatly from pl
to place, and the time may be longer or shortar that required for FDA approval.

Under European Union regulatory systems, a compaay submit marketing authorization applicationsheit under a centralized
decentralized procedure. The centralized proceduhnih is compulsory for medicines produced by édbiology or those medicines inten
to treat AIDS, cancer, neurodegenerative disordemdiabetes and is optional for those medicines dh@ highly innovative, provides for
grant of a single marketing authorization thatadid/for all European Union member states. The diakized procedure provides for mul
recognition of national approval decisions. Undwgs procedure, the holder of a national marketingparization may submit an applicatior
the remaining member states. Within 90 days ofivaug the applications and assessments report, mashber state must decide whethe
recognize approval. If a member state does nograze the marketing authorization, the disputedhisoire eventually referred to the Eurog
Commission, whose decision is binding on all mensbates.

In 2011, the European Commission granted orphag designation for ThermoDox®r the treatment of HCC in Europe. As establishg
the EMA, orphan drug designation provides for stifieradvice and regulatory assistance from the EMitect access to centralized marke
authorization and certain financial incentives,tsas reduction of fees associated with pugiorization inspections and marketing authorn
application fees. The orphan drug designation iroge also provides 10 years of market exclusivitysequent to product approval.

MANUFACTURING AND SUPPLY

We do not currently own or operate manufacturinglifees for the production of preclinical, clinicar commercial quantities of any of «
product candidates. We currently contract withdhparty contract manufacturing organizations (CM€s)our preclinical and clinical tri
supplies, and we expect to continue to do so ta theepreclinical and any clinical requirementoaf product candidates. We have agreen
for the supply of such drug materials with manuifeets or suppliers that we believe have sufficeapgacity to meet our demands. In addi
we believe that adequate alternative sources fon supplies exist. However, there is a risk tHatupplies are interrupted, it would materi
harm our business. We typically order raw mateidald services on a purchase order basis and dmtmtinto longerm dedicated capacity
minimum supply arrangements .

Manufacturing is subject to extensive regulatidreg impose various procedural and documentationinements, which govern record keep
manufacturing processes and controls, personnaljtgcontrol and quality assurance, among othénwst CMOs manufacture our prod
candidates under current Good Manufacturing Pr¢iGMP) conditions. cGMP is a regulatory standardhe production of pharmaceutic
that will be used in humans.

SALES AND MARKETING

Our current focus is on the development of ourtagsportfolio, the completion of clinical trialsd, if and where appropriate, the registre
of our product candidates. We currently do not hamarketing, sales and distribution capabilities. we receive marketing a
commercialization approval for any of our produahdidates, we intend to market the product eitivectly or through strategic alliances
distribution agreements with third parties. Théndtte implementation of our strategy for realizthg financial value of our product candid:
is dependent on the results of clinical trials émr product candidates, the availability of regofgtapprovals and the ability to negot
acceptable commercial terms with third parties.

PRODUCT LIABILITY AND INSURANCE
Our business exposes us to potential product itigliks that are inherent in the testing, mantuifeing and marketing of human therape
products. We presently have product liability imnge limited to $10 million per incident, and if weere to be subject to a claim in exces

this coverage or to a claim not covered by ourriasce and the claim succeeded, we would be reqtorpdy the claim out of our own limit
resources.
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COMPETITION

Competition in the discovery and development of mesthods for treating and preventing disease ensd. We face, and will continue to fi
intense competition from pharmaceutical and biatetdgy companies, as well as academic and res@astitutions and government agent
both in the U.S. and abroad. We face significamhmetition from organizations pursuing the sameiwailar technologies used by us in
drug discovery efforts and from organizations depilg pharmaceuticals that are competitive withaduct candidates.

Most of our competitors, either alone or togethdthvtheir collaborative partners, have substantigiteater financial resources and la
research and development staffs than we do. Intiaddimost of these organizations, either alon¢ogether with their collaborators, hi
significantly greater experience than we do in digpieg products, undertaking preclinical testingl alinical trials, obtaining FDA and ott
regulatory approvals of products, and manufactuaind marketing products. Mergers and acquisitiorteé pharmaceutical industry may re
in even more resources being concentrated amongarpetitors. These companies, as well as acadestitutions, governmental agenc
and private research organizations, also compete ws in recruiting and retaining highly qualifiedientific personnel and consultants.
ability to compete successfully with other companie the pharmaceutical and biotechnology fieldo atlepends on the status of
collaborations and on the continuing availabilifycapital to us.

ThermoDox®

Although there are many drugs and devices marlkatddunder development for the treatment of cankerCompany is not aware of any o
heat activated drug delivery product either beiragkated or in human clinical development.

GEN-1
GEN-1's studied indications include ovarian caraed glioblastoma multiforme (GBM) brain cancer.

In evaluating the competitive landscape for bottiidations, early stage indications are treated witbmotherapy (temozolomide, BC!
CCNU for brain cancer; docetaxel, doxil and cisplain for ovarian cancer), while later stage ovarsardt GBM cancer are treated v
Bevacizumab - Avastif , an anti-angiogenesis inbibiAvastin® is currently also being evaluateddarly stage disease.

In product positioning for both indications, thererrently is no direct immunotherapy competitor f8EN-1, which will be studied as
adjuvant to both chemotherapy standard of caremegs, as well as ardirgiogenesis compounds. To support these casesaweeconducte
clinical studies in combination with chemotherapy bvarian cancer, and preclinical studies in caratibn with both temozolomide a
Bevacizumab-Avasti® . We plan to initiate clinistidies in the second half of 2015 for both intiarss.

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

Licenses

Duke University License Agreem

In 1999, we entered into a license agreement witkeDUniversity under which we received exclusivghts, subject to certain exceptions
commercialize and use Duke’s therifmsome technology. In relation to these liposqatents licensed from Duke University, we havec
two additional patents related to the formulation aise of liposomes. We have also licensed fronena, CA certain global rights cover
the use of pegylation for temperature sensitivesgmes.

In 2003, our obligations under the license agreemeétlhh Duke University with respect to the testingd regulatory milestones and ot
licensed technology performance deadlines wereirgited in exchange for a payment of shares of oameon stock. The license agreen

continues to be subject to agreements to pay dtydyased upon future sales. In conjunction with platent holder, we have filed internatic
applications for a certain number of the United&tgatents.
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Our rights under the license agreement with Dukevéisity extend for the longer of 20 years or timel ®f any term for which any relevi
patents are issued by the United States PatenfTeadbmark Office. Currently we have rights to Duk@atent for its thermbposome
technology in the United States, which expires0a& and to future patents received by Duke in @ankurope, Japan and Australia, whe
has patent applications have been granted. ThepEanogrant provides coverage in the European Corityniror this technology, our licen
rights are worldwide, including the United Stat€anada, certain European countries, Australia, Homp, and Japan.

Patents and Proprietary Rights

On February 5, 2013, Celsion announced that itprigtary patent application, "Method of Storing Mparticle Formulations," had be
allowed in China and granted in South Korea andtralia. Celsion holds an exclusive license agregnwdth Duke University for it
temperature-sensitive liposome technology that otiee ThermoDox@ormulation. Celsion's newly issued patents pertgprcifically tc
methods of storing stabilized, temperatsemsitive liposomal formulations and will assisthie protection of global rights. These patents
extend the overall term of the ThermoDox@&tent portfolio to 2026. The patents in thesedhmeuntries are the first in this family, wh
includes pending applications in the U.S., Europé additional key commercial geographies in Aslhis extended patent runway to 2!
allows for the evaluation of future developmenfaiits for ThermoDox® and Celsion's heat-sensitipesome technology platform.

For the ThermoDox technology, we either exclusiviElgnse or own US and international patents wigints and methods and composition
matters that cover various aspects of LTSL techglwith expiration dates ranging from 2019 to 2026

For the TheraPlas technology, we own three US amelriational patent families and related applicetiovith claims and methods ¢
compositions of matters that cover various aspaictheraPlas and GEN-1 technologies, with exmratiates ranging from 2020 to 2028.

For the TheraSilence technology, we own multiple &8 international patent families and related iappibns with claims and methods
compositions of matters that cover various aspafctheraSilence technology, with expiration date2@31.

For the RAST technology, we own US and internatigadents with claims and methods and compositamaatters that cover various asp
of RAST technology, with expiration dates to 2030.

There can be no assurance that an issued patémemiin valid and enforceable in a court of lawotigh the entire patent term. Should
validity of a patent be challenged, the legal psscassociated with defending the patent can b&/arsd time consuming. Issued patents ce
subject to oppositions, interferences and othed harty challenges that can result in the revooatif the patent or maintenance of the pate
amended form (and potentially in a form that reedbe patent without commercially relevant or broaderage). Competitors may be abl
circumvent our patents. Development and commereiatin of pharmaceutical products can be subjesutistantial delays and it is poss
that at the time of commercialization any patentecimg the product has expired or will be in fofoe only a short period of time followir
commercialization. We cannot predict with any detiaif any third party U.S. or foreign patent righother proprietary rights, will be deen
infringed by the use of our technology. Nor canpredict with certainty which, if any, of these righwill or may be asserted against us by
parties. Should we need to defend ourselves angantiners against any such claims, substantiakaosly be incurred. Furthermore, pai
making such claims may be able to obtain injunctireother equitable relief, which could effectivelyock our ability to develop
commercialize some or all of our products in th8.land abroad, and could result in the award oftamitial damages. In the event of a clail
infringement, we or our partners may be requireddi@in one or more licenses from a third partyeréhcan be no assurance that we can ¢
a license on a reasonable basis should we deeetdiseary to obtain rights to an alternative teagylthat meets our needs. The failur
obtain a license may have a material adverse effecur business, results of operations and firueoindition.
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In addition to the rights available to us under ptated or pending license agreements, we rely erpmprietary knowhow and experience
the development and use of heat for medical thesapihich we seek to protect, in part, through pedary information agreements w
employees, consultants and others. There can lasswance that these proprietary information ageeésvwill not be breached, that we !
have adequate remedies for any breach, or that thgseements, even if fully enforced, will be adagquto prevent thirgharty use of th
Company’s proprietary technology. Please refetemI1A, Risk Factors, including, but not limited tWe rely on trade secret protection
other unpatented proprietary rights for importarappietary technologies, and any loss of such siglduld harm our business, result
operations and financial conditionSimilarly, we cannot guarantee that technology tedicensed to us by others will not be succesg
challenged or circumvented by third parties, ot the rights granted will provide us with adequptetection. Please refer to Item 1A, F
Factors, including, but not limited to,Otr business depends on licensing agreements Wit parties to permit us to use patel
technologies. The loss of any of our rights urtiese agreements could impair our ability to dgveled market our products.”

EMPLOYEES

As of March 11, 2015, we employed 28 ftithe employees. We also maintain active indepenhdentractor relationships with varic
individuals, most of whom have month#tezenth or annual consulting agreements. None of emuployees are covered by a collec
bargaining agreement, and we consider our relatigthsour employees to be good.

COMPANY INFORMATION

Celsion was founded in 1982 and is a Delaware catjpm. Our principal executive offices are lochi&t 997 Lenox Drive, Suite 1(
Lawrenceville, NJ 08648. Our telephone numbe6@9] 896-9100. The Company’s website is www.celsiom. The information containi
in, or that can be accessed through, our websitetipart of, and is not incorporated in, this AahReport on Form 10-K.

AVAILABLE INFORMATION

We make available free of charge through our websitvw.celsion.com, our Annual Report on Form 10arterly Reports on Form XD-
Current Reports on Form 8- and all amendments to those reports as sooaas®mably practicable after such material is edaatally filec
with or furnished to the Securities and Exchangen@dssion (the SEC). In addition, our website ides other items related to corpo
governance matters, including, among other thirgs, corporate governance principles, charters efoua committees of the Board
Directors, and our code of business conduct andse#pplicable to all employees, officers and doex We intend to disclose on our inte
website any amendments to or waivers from our addeusiness conduct and ethics as well as any amemtd to its corporate governa
principles or the charters of various committeethefBoard of Directors. Copies of these documeratg be obtained, free of charge, from
website. In addition, copies of these documentshei made available free of charge upon writtequest. The public may read and copy
materials filed with the SEC at the SECPublic Reference Room at 100 F Street, NE, Wgttin DC 20549. The public may obt
information on the operation of the Public RefeeeRoom by calling the SEC at 1-800-SBE830. The SEC also maintains an internet site
contains reports, proxy and information statemants other information regarding issuers that féeiqdic and other reports electronically v
the Securities and Exchange Commission. The addfabsat site is www.sec.gov. The information aable on or through our website is n
part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and shaudt be relied upon.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
During 2014 and 2013, we issued a total of 8.0iomlshares of common stock; including shares ofrnom stock issued upon conversiol
the 15,000.00422 shares ®é¢ries A 0% convertible preferred stock, in théofelng equity transactions for an aggregate $46il6om in gross

proceeds. On October 28, 2013, we effected a 415r&verse stock split of our common stock. Unldgbgmvise expressly stated, the share
per share data in this section and elsewhere snAthinual Report on Form 10-K have been adjustedftect the reverse stock split.
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e On February 1, 2013, we entered into a Contrdigdity OfferingSM Sales Agreement (ATM) with Cantor Fitzgerald & Cas, sale
agent, pursuant to which we may offer and sellinfrime to time through “at-the-marketfferings, shares of our common st
having an aggregate offering price of up to $25ilion. From February 1, 2013 through February 26813, we sold and issued
aggregate of 1,195,923 shares of common stock wgudr agreement for approximately $6.8 millionggiegate gross proceeds.

e On February 22, 2013, we entered into a Secuitigshase Agreement with certain institutional inwes pursuant to which the
sold, in a registered direct offering, an aggre@éte5,000.00422 shares of our Series A 0% corhlerpireferred stock and warrant:
purchase up to 1,341,382 shares of common stockrf@ggregate purchase price of approximatelyOsabllion in gross proceec
All of the shares of Series A 0% convertible preddrstock have been converted into 2,682,764 slofeammon stock.

e On May 30, 2013, we entered into a Securities RagelAgreement with certain institutional investprgrisuant to which we sold, i
registered direct offering, an aggregate of 1,392 dhares of our common stock for an aggregatenpaecprice of approximately $
million in gross proceeds.

e On January 15, 2014, we entered into a Securitigsh@se Agreement with certain institutional ineest pursuant to which t
Company sold, in a registered offering, an aggeegaB,603,604 shares of its common stock and west@ purchase up to 1,801,
shares of Common Stock, for an aggregate purchiaseqf approximately $15 million.

During 2013, we received gross proceeds of appratéim $0.4 million from the exercise of warrantsdlaommon stock options to purch
30,499 shares of common stock.

On June 20, 2014, we completed the acquisitionubStntially all of the assets of EGEN, Inc. At tlesing, we paid approximately $.
million in cash and issued 2,712,188 shares afdtemon stock to EGEN. In addition, 670,070 shafesommon stock are issuable to EC
on or after August 2, 2016 pending satisfactorplign of any post-closing adjustments of expersas EGENS indemnification obligatior
under the EGEN Purchase Agreement

In addition, we entered into a loan agreement ometer 25, 2013 with Hercules Technology Growthi@apinc. (Hercules), pursuant
which we may borrow a secured term loan of up @ $2lion in multiple tranches (the Hercules Crefigreement). The loan bears interest
floating per annum rate equal to the greater ofl{i)25 percent and (ii) the sum of 11.25 percens phe prime rate minus 3.25 perc
Payments under the loan agreement are interestfantiie first twelve months after loan closinglldaved by a 30month amortization peric
of principal and interest through the scheduledumiigtdate. We drew the first tranche of $5 million November 25, 2013 and may reqt
subject to Herculeonsent in its sole discretion, an additional $ifion in up to three advances with each advanca minimum amount «
$5 million before June 30, 2014 unless extended upercules’consent. We used approximately $4 million of thstftranche to repay t
outstanding obligations under a loan agreement @itford Finance LLC and Horizon Technology Fina@mrporation. On June 9, 2014,
borrowed an additional $5 million and used the lpasceeds to pay the upfront cash payment to EGHilbsing and certain transaction ci
incurred in connection with the acquisition.

We believe that our cash and investment resourt&87%1 million on hand at December 31, 2014, cedplith our access to the ATM,
sufficient to fund operations through 2016. Howeweur future capital requirements will depend upmmmerous unpredictable factc
including, without limitation, the cost, timing, ggress and outcomes of clinical studies and reglateviews of our proprietary dr
candidates, our efforts to implement new collabores, licenses and strategic transactions, gersrdl administrative expenses, ca|
expenditures and other unforeseen uses of caskoplete the development and commercializationwfproducts, we will need to ra
substantial amounts of additional capital to fuind operations. We do not have any committed sowtésancing and cannot give assure
that alternate funding will be available in a timehanner, on acceptable terms or at all. We mag te@ursue dilutive equity financings, s
as the issuance of shares of common stock, prdfstoek, convertible debt or other convertible rereisable securities, which financil
could dilute the percentage ownership of our curcemmon stockholders and could significantly lowes market value of our common stock.
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RECENT EVENTS

On January 13, 2015, we entered into an Early Acéggseement with Impatients N.V., a Netherlands pany (Impatients), pursuant to wh
Impatients will develop and execute through itsndrenyTomorrows an early access program for Thernx@a all countries of the Europe
Union territory, Iceland, Liechtenstein, Norway a@ditzerland (the Territory) for the treatment attipnts with RCW breast cancer. Undet
early access program, Impatients will engage iivitiess to secure authorization, exemption or waivem regulatory authorities for patient |
of ThermoDox® that may otherwise be subject to apals from such regulatory authorities before thle snd distribution of ThermoDoxi®
the relevant territories. We will be responsible tiee manufacture and supply of quantities of TheEPox® to Impatients for use in the eg
access program and Impatients will distribute agidThermoDox® pursuant to such authorization, eggoms or waivers.

Under the Early Access Agreement, we granted taatmapts, specifically for the treatment of RCW Istezancer in the Territory, an exclus
royalty-free right to perform the early access programviies, reference regulatory documentation and eyads that we own, and use

trademarks relating to ThermoD®Xx In.addition, we granted to Impatients an optiomégotiate an exclusive license to distribute Thédox
® in the Territory after ThermoDdX  receives regulatapproval in a country within the Territory.

In consideration for Impatientservices to implement the early access programiraie event we receive regulatory authorizatiorset
distribute or market ThermoDd&%  in the Territory, wil be obligated to pay Impatients, subject tmaximum cap, a low singldigit royalty
of net sales of ThermoDdXin the countries where such regulatory authoriratias been obtained. The Early Access Agreemend kersn o
five years, with automatic renewals for consecutive-year periods, unless earlier terminated by eittegtypwith notice or in the event
material breach, bankruptcy, or insolvency withootice.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

We are providing the following cautionary discussad risk factors, uncertainties and assumptiorat the believe are relevant to our busin
These are factors that, individually or in the aggate, we think could cause our actual resultsifferdsignificantly from expected or histori
results and our forwardeoking statements. We note these factors for tov@ss permitted by Section 21E of the Securlieshange Act
1934, as amended (Exchange Act), and Section 2#t#e Becurities Act of 1933, as amended (Secudids You should understand that |
not possible to predict or identify all such fagoConsequently, you should not consider the faligwwto be a complete discussion of
potential risks or uncertaintiethat may impact our business. Moreover, we opeirate competitive and rapidly changing environmeéw
factors emerge from time to time and it is not filwedo predict the impact of all of these factorsour business, financial condition or res
of operations. We undertake no obligation to pupligpdate forwardeoking statements, whether as a result of newrnmdgion, future event
or otherwise.

RISKS RELATED TO OUR BUSINESS
We have a history of significant losses from oper#ins and expect to continue to incur significant Isses for the foreseeable future.

Since our inception, our expenses have substangatteeded our revenue, resulting in continuingdesand an accumulated deficit of ¢
million at December 31, 2014. For the years endeceihber 31, 2012, 2013 and 2014, we incurred bsebf $25.5 million, $8.3 million al
$25.2 million, respectively. We currently have rroguct revenue and do not expect to generate agupt revenue for the foreseeable fu
other than through the sale of our proprietary e@agroducts for life science research, which petglare based on our newly acqu
proprietary delivery platform technologies, Thead® and TheraSilence™. Because we are committe@drttinuing our product resear
development, clinical trial and commercializatiomgrams, we will continue to incur significant ogting losses unless and until we comg
the development of ThermoDox®, GEN-1 (formerly kmoas EGEN301) and other new product candidates and theshigraandidates ha
been clinically tested, approved by the U.S. Food Brug Administration (FDA) and successfully madde The amount of future losse
uncertain. Our ability to achieve profitability, @ver, will depend on, among other things, us ar aallaborators successfully develof
product candidates, obtaining regulatory approt@isarket and commercialize product candidates,ufis&turing any approved products
commercially reasonable terms, establishing a saldsnarketing organization or suitable third pattgrnatives for any approved product
raising sufficient funds to finance business atitgi If we or our collaborators are unable to dgyeand commercialize one or more of
product candidates or if sales revenue from angymbcandidate that receives approval is insuffigiave will not achieve profitability, whic
could have a material adverse effect on our busjfemncial condition, results of operations anospects.

Drug development is an inherently uncertain processvith a high risk of failure at every stage of deviepment. Our lead drug candidate
failed to meets its primary endpoint in the Phasell HEAT study.

On January 31, 2013, we announced that our leadlptdhermoDox@n combination with radiofrequency ablation (RFAJ)Iéd to meet tt
primary endpoint of the Phase Il clinical triakfprimary liver cancer, known as the HEAT study. Wéae not completed our final analysi:
the data and do not know the extent to which, ¥, e failure of ThermoDox®&o meet its primary endpoint in the Phase Il tdauld impac
our other ongoing studies of ThermoDox® includingieotal, double-blind, placebo-controlled Phaddril of ThermoDox®in combinatiol
with RFA in primary liver cancer, known as the ORIH study, which we launched in the first half of 12D The trial design of the OPTIN
study is based on the overall survival data fromphst-hoc analysis of results from the HEAT stuihyermoDox®is also being evaluated il
Phase Il clinical trial for recurrent chest walébst cancer and other preclinical studies.

Preclinical testing and clinical trials are longpensive and highly uncertain processes and faitare unexpectedly occur at any stag
clinical development, as evidenced by the failufeThermoDox®to meet its primary endpoint in the HEAT study. Brdevelopment
inherently risky and clinical trials take us sevgmars to complete. The start or end of a clinidal is often delayed or halted due to chan
regulatory requirements, manufacturing challengeguired clinical trial administrative actions, \wker than anticipated patient enrollmi
changing standards of care, availability or prewedeof use of a comparator drug or required pri@rapy, clinical outcomes includi
insufficient efficacy, safety concerns, or our ofimancial constraints. The results from preclinitadting or early clinical trials of a prod
candidate may not predict the results that wilbbéined in later phase clinical trials of the prodcandidate. We, the FDA or other applic
regulatory authorities may suspend clinical triafsa product candidate at any time for various @aas including a belief that subje
participating in such trials are being exposednaogeptable health risks or adverse side effecesm&y not have the financial resource
continue development of, or to enter into collakiores for, a product candidate if we experience prblems or other unforeseen events
delay or prevent regulatory approval of, or outigbio commercialize, product candidates. Theuialof one or more of our drug candidate
development programs could have a material adeffset on our business, financial condition andiltssof operations.
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If we do not obtain or maintain FDA and foreign regulatory approvals for our drug candidates on a timdy basis, or at all, or if the terms
of any approval impose significant restrictions odimitations on use, we will be unable to sell thosgroducts and our business, results of
operations and financial condition will be negativly affected.

To obtain regulatory approvals from the FDA andefgn regulatory agencies, we must conduct clinigals demonstrating that our prodt
are safe and effective. We may need to amend oggdoais or the FDA and/or foreign regulatory agesanay require us to perform additic
trials beyond those we planned. This process gépeakes a number of years and requires the aipee of substantial resources. The 1
required for completing testing and obtaining appi® is uncertain, and the FDA and foreign regujatmencies have substantial discretio
any phase of development, to terminate clinicadlistsl require additional clinical development dnesttesting, delay or withhold registrat
and marketing approval and mandate product withdigvincluding recalls. In addition, undesirabléeseffects caused by our drug candic
could cause us or regulatory authorities to infggrdelay or halt clinical trials and could resunlia more restricted label or the delay or deni
regulatory approval by regulatory authorities. Evfeme receive regulatory approval of a producg &pproval may limit the indicated uses
which the drug may be marketed. The failure to ioltianely regulatory approval of product candidatasy product marketing limitations o
product withdrawal would negatively impact our mesis, results of operations and financial condition

We do not expect to generate revenue for the foresable future.

We have devoted our resources to developing a revergtion of products and will not be able to matkese products until we he
completed clinical trials and obtain all necessgoyernmental approvals. Our lead product candiddtermoDox®and the product candida
we purchased in our acquisition of EGEN are stilVarious stages of development and trials andataoe marketed until we have comple
clinical testing and obtained necessary governnaparoval. Following our announcement on Janudry?813 that the HEAT study failed
meet its primary endpoint of progression free stalviwe continue to follow the patients enrolledtie Heat study to the secondary endp
overall survival. Based on the overall survivaladbm the post-hoc analysis of results from theAHEtudy, we launched a pivotal, double
blind, placebo-controlled Phase 11l trial of Theax® in combination with RFA in primary liver cancer,dwmn as the OPTIMA study, in t
first half of 2014. ThermoDox@®s currently also being evaluated in a Phase Hiadi trial for the treatment of recurrent chestiviseas
cancer, known as the DIGNITY Study, and other pnézdl studies. GENE is currently in an early stage of clinical deystent for th
treatment of ovarian cancer, and we plan to ingid#dhase | dose-escalation clinical trial of GEMNt combination with the standard of car
neoadjuvant ovarian cancer in the second half of. délevery technology platforms that we purchasednfieGEN are in preclinical stages
development. We do not expect to realize any reweéfmam product sales in the next several yearst #ll, other than the sale of reac
products we acquired from EGEN. Accordingly, owerue sources are, and will remain, extremely &dhitintil our product candidates
clinically tested, approved by the FDA or foreigrgulatory agencies and successfully marketed. Weataguarantee that any of our proc
candidates will be successfully tested, approvethbyFDA or foreign regulatory agency or markeacessfully or otherwise, at any tim
the foreseeable future or at all.

We will need to raise substantial additional capithto fund our planned future operations, and we maybe unable to secure such capit
without dilutive financing transactions. If we are not able to raise additional capital, we may not bable to complete the developmer
testing and commercialization of our product candichtes.

As of December 31, 2014, we had approximately & &¥llion in cash, cash equivalents and shertn investments. We have substantial fu
capital requirements to continue our research aweldpment activities and advance our drug caneédtitrough various development sta
including the product candidates and technologyf@ias that we purchased from EGEN in June 2014.example, ThermoDox@s being
evaluated in a Phase Il clinical trial in combinatwith RFA for the treatment of primary liver aar, a Phase 1l clinical trial for the treatrr
of recurrent chest wall breast cancer and otheclipieal studies. We plan to initial a Phase | desealation clinical trial of GEN- in
combination with the standard of care in raljgvant ovarian cancer in the second half of 201® delivery technology platforms that
purchased from EGEN are in preclinical stages oklipment. We will continue to conduct additionablses of the data from the HE
study to assess the future strategic value of ToBor® and are performing sudroup analysis of the Chinese cohort of patienthénHEAT
study and other activities for further developmehfT hermoDox®for mainland China, Hong Kong and Macau. To congptae developme
and commercialization of our product candidates,wileneed to raise substantial amounts of addélorapital to fund our operations. (
future capital requirements will depend upon nurasranpredictable factors, including, without liniba, the cost, timing, progress
outcomes of clinical studies and regulatory reviefveur proprietary drug candidates, our effortémplement new collaborations, licenses
strategic transactions, general and administragieenses, capital expenditures and other unforegses of cash. We do not have
committed sources of financing and cannot assuvetlyat alternate funding will be available in adipnmanner, on acceptable terms or a
We may need to pursue dilutive equity financingsghsas the issuance of shares of common stockeciilole debt or other convertible
exercisable securities. Such dilutive equity finags could dilute the percentage ownership of aurent common stockholders and cc
significantly lower the market value of our comms&tock. In addition, a financing could result in iksuance of new securities that may |
rights, preferences or privileges senior to thdseuo existing stockholders.
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If we are unable to obtain additional capital otinaely basis or on acceptable terms, we may beimredjio delay, reduce or terminate
research and development programs and preclinicalies or clinical trials, if any, limit strategiopportunities or undergo corpor
restructuring activities. We also could be requitedseek funds through arrangements with collabosabr others that may require us
relinquish rights to some of our technologies, piciccandidates or potential markets or that cooddase onerous financial or other tet
Furthermore, if we cannot fund our ongoing develephand other operating requirements, particuldryge associated with our obligation
conduct clinical trials under our licensing agreatsewe will be in breach of these licensing agreets and could therefore lose our lice
rights, which could have material adverse effeat®ar business.

Failure to successfully integrate the assets we adged from EGEN in June 2014 into our operations cald adversely affect our ability tc
develop and commercialize product candidates or nagjvely impact our business, results of operationand financial conditions.

On June 20, 2014, we completed the acquisitiorub$tantially all of the assets of EGEN, a privatedyd biopharmaceutical company focu
on the development of nucleic adidsed therapeutics for the treatment of cancerémet difficult to treat diseases. The acquisitiociudec
EGEN’s Phase Ib DNA-based immunotherapy productdicate GEN-1 (formerly known as EGEMNY1) and its therapeutic platfo
technologies, TheraPlas™ for delivery of DNA and M#R and TheraSilence™ for delivery of RNA. The sesg of the EGEN acquisitic
including the realization of anticipated benefitslecost savings, will depend, in part, on our &pito combine successfully the business
acquired from EGEN with the business of Celsiont @tegration of the acquired operations and prbdaadidates requires significant effc
including the coordination of research and develeptnmanufacturing, finance, information technodsgand management and administra
These integration efforts will result in addition@kpenses and require significant time and dedicatiom management, and may dr
management attention and resources. The integraimn be more difficult, costly or time consumingthexpected. It is possible that
integration process could result in the loss of keyployees or the disruption of our ongoing busnaesthat the alignment of standa
controls, procedures and policies may adverselcathe combined comparsyability to maintain relationships with suppliensanufacturer
other vendors or employees or to fully achieveahticipated benefits and cost savings of the titisa

In addition, the EGEN acquisition may result in agsumption of material unknown or unexpected lligds. If we experience difficulties wi
the integration process, the anticipated benefith@transaction may not be realized fully or lat@ may take longer to realize than expe
to materialize. Factors that will affect the suscefthe acquisition include our ability to execote business strategy, results of clinical t
and regulatory approvals related to the acquiredywst candidates and platform technologies, oditabd adequately fund acquired proces
research and development projects and retain kgylogees, as well as our ability to achieve finahaiad operational synergies with

acquired business, such as by achieving cost ssnangd effectively developing product candidatesr failure to successfully manage
coordinate the growth of our newly acquired bussnesuld have a material adverse impact on our basjiresults of operations and finar
condition. In addition, we cannot be certain tha product candidates we acquired will be apprdeednarketing and commercializatic
become profitable or remain so or that we will im@albperational cost savings or other expectedrgjge of the acquisition. If the acquisit
and integration are not successful, we may receleded asset impairment charges in the future.
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We have incurred, and will continue to incur, signficant costs in connection with our acquisition ofsubstantially all of the assets of
EGEN.

We have incurred and expect to continue to incommber of non-recurring costs associated with ptagration of the assets purchased from
EGEN. These costs and expenses include the inogrreh$5.0 million of new indebtedness and apprataly $1.4 million in financial
advisory, legal, accounting, consulting and othavisory fees and expenses, reorganization anduptsting costs, severance/employee
benefit-related expenses, filing fees, printing enges and other related charges. There are alacga humber of processes, policies,
procedures, operations, technologies and systeahsnist be integrated in connection with the adtjoiis There are many factors beyond our
control that could affect the total amount or timing of integration and implementation expensel ae may incur unanticipated expense in
connection with the EGEN acquisition. These costbexpenses could, particularly in the near tesroeed the cost savings that we expect to
achieve from the elimination of duplicative expensad the realization of economies of scale, o#fféiciencies and cost savings, which
benefit may not be achieved in the near term aflat

We may not successfully engage in future strategicansactions, which could adversely affect our ahity to develop and commercializ
product candidates, impact our cash position, incrase our expense and present significant distractisrto our management.

In the future, we may consider strategic alterretivntended to further the development of our kassn which may include acquir
businesses, technologies or products, out- icémsing product candidates or technologies oeramg into a business combination with ana
company. Any strategic transaction may requirecum¢ur non-recurring or other charges, increasenear- and longerm expenditures a
pose significant integration or implementation tdages or disrupt our management or business. Tinassactions would entail numer
operational and financial risks, including expostoainknown liabilities, disruption of our businemsd diversion of our managementime
and attention in order to manage a collaboratiodemelop acquired products, product candidatesariologies, incurrence of substantial
or dilutive issuances of equity securities to pays$action consideration or costs, higher than eepecollaboration, acquisition or integrat
costs, writedowns of assets or goodwill or impairment chargaesreased amortization expenses, difficulty andt éosfacilitating the
collaboration or combining the operations and pamsbof any acquired business, impairment of retfesips with key suppliers, manufactu
or customers of any acquired business due to changmanagement and ownership and the inabiliteetain key employees of any acqu
business. Accordingly, although there can be narasse that we will undertake or successfully catglany transactions of the na
described above, any transactions that we do caenplay be subject to the foregoing or other riskd laave a material adverse effect on
business, results of operations, financial conditamd prospects. Conversely, any failure to entgr strategic transaction that would
beneficial to us could delay the development antmt@l commercialization of our product candidasesl have a negative impact on
competitiveness of any product candidate that remomarket.

Strategic transactions, such as acquisitions, eestiips and collaborations, including the EGEN #itjon, involve numerous risks,
including:

» the failure of markets for the products of siced businesses, technologies or product lineet@lop as expected,;
* uncertainties in identifying and pursuing aisgfion targets;
« the challenges in achieving strategic obje&sj\cost savings and other benefits expected fouisitions;

« the risk that the financial returns on acquisiiowill not support the expenditures incurred tquae such businesses or the capital
expenditures needed to develop such businesses;

« difficulties in assimilating the acquired bossses, technologies or product lines;

« the failure to successfully manage additionaliess locations, including the additional infrastuwe and resources necessary to suppor
and integrate such locations;

* the existence of unknown product defects reltdeatbquired businesses, technologies or produes linat may not be identified due to the
inherent limitations involved in the due diligerm®cess of an acquisition;
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« the diversion of management’s attention fraimeo business concerns;
« risks associated with entering markets or aatidg operations with which we have no or limithrect prior experience;
» risks associated with assuming the legal alitigns of acquired businesses, technologies omgtduhes;

* risks related to the effect that internal confiodcesses of acquired businesses might have ofinamcial reporting and management’s
report on our internal control over financial retoay;

« the potential loss of key employees relateddguired businesses, technologies or product; lares
« the incurrence of significant exit chargepribducts or technologies acquired in business coatioins are unsuccessful.

We may never realize the perceived benefits ofBB&EN acquisition or potential future transactionge cannot assure you that we will
successful in overcoming problems encountered imection with any transactions, and our inabilitydo so could significantly harm ¢
business, results of operations and financial d¢mrdi These transactions could dilute a stockhdtd@vestment in us and cause us to i
debt, contingent liabilities and amortization/inmpaént charges related to intangible assets, aNto€h could materially and adversely af
our business, results of operations and financatiion. In addition, our effective tax rate fartdire periods could be negatively impacte:
the EGEN acquisition or potential future transatsio

Our business depends on license agreements withrthiparties to permit us to use patented technologg&e The loss of any of our right
under these agreements could impair our ability talevelop and market our products.

Our success will depend, in a substantial partpumability to maintain our rights under licenseemments granting us rights to use pate
technologies. For instance, we are party to licaggeements with Duke University, under which wgehaxclusive rights to commercial
medical treatment products and procedures basddudre’s thermosensitive liposome technology. The Duke Univerditgnse agreeme
contains a license fee, royalty and/or researchatiprovisions, testing and regulatory milestoraag] other performance requirements the
must meet by certain deadlines. Additionally, wevéha joint research agreement with Philips Heatthca division of Royal Philij
Electronics, to evaluate the combination of Philipgh intensity focused ultrasound (HIFU) with TheoDox® to determine the potential
this combination to treat a broad range of candewge breach any provisions of the license an@aesh agreements, we may lose our abili
use the subject technology, as well as compenstiarur efforts in developing or exploiting thekmology. Any such loss of rights and ac:
to technology could have a material adverse effaatur business.

Further, we cannot guarantee that any patent cerddgchnology rights licensed to us by others wit be challenged or circumven
successfully by third parties, or that the rightanged will provide adequate protection. We mayréguired to alter any of our poten
products or processes, or enter into a licenseawdicensing fees to a third party or cease aedativities. There can be no assurance thi
can obtain a license to any technology that werdete we need on reasonable terms, if at all, at ¢te could develop or otherwise ob
alternate technology. If a license is not availadslecommercially reasonable terms or at all, owsifmss, results of operations, and fina
condition could be significantly harmed and we nis@yprevented from developing and commercializirgy ghoduct. Litigation, which cou
result in substantial costs, may also be necedsagyforce any patents issued to or licensed bgruse determine the scope and validit
others’ claimed proprietary rights.

If any of our pending patent applications do not isue, or are deemed invalid following issuance, weaw lose valuable intellectual
property protection.

The patent positions of pharmaceutical and bioteldgy companies, such as ours, are uncertain ammdvimn complex legal and factual isst
We own various U.S. and international patents aaktpending U.S. and international patent appboatithat cover various aspects of
technologies. There can be no assurance that pdteait have issued will be held valid and enforteai a court of law through the en
patent term. Even for patents that are held validl enforceable, the legal process associated Withirong such a judgment is time consun
and costly. Additionally, issued patents can bgestiio opposition, interferences or other procegslithat can result in the revocation of
patent or maintenance of the patent in amended fand potentially in a form that renders the pateithout commercially relevant or brc
coverage). Further, our competitors may be ableitcumvent and otherwise design around our patdewen if a patent is issued ¢
enforceable, because development and commerciatizat pharmaceutical products can be subject tstauntial delays, patents may ex
early and provide only a short period of protectidbrany, following the commercialization of prodecencompassed by our patents. We
have to participate in interference proceedingdaded by the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office, Witiould result in a loss of the pal
and/or substantial cost to us.
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We have filed patent applications, and plan to &kiditional patent applications, covering variowpexts of our technologies and
proprietary product candidates. There can be narasse that the patent applications for which welyapould actually issue as patents, o
so with commercially relevant or broad coveragee Thverage claimed in a patent application candrefieantly reduced before the pater
issued. The scope of our claim coverage can bealrib our ability to enter into licensing transans with third parties and our right to rece
royalties from our collaboration partnerships. &ipeiblication of discoveries in scientific or patéterature often lags behind the date of ¢
discoveries, we cannot be certain that we werditsteinventor of inventions covered by our pateotpatent applications. In addition, ther
no guarantee that we will be the first to file aguat application directed to an invention.

An adverse outcome in any judicial proceeding iaig intellectual property, including patents, ab@dubject us to significant liabilities
third parties, require disputed rights to be li@hdrom or to third parties or require us to ceasimg the technology in dispute. In th
instances where we seek an intellectual propergnie from another, we may not be able to obtaritense on a commercially reason
basis, if at all, thereby raising concerns on dailits to freely commercialize our technologiespyoducts.

We rely on trade secret protection and other unpateted proprietary rights for important proprietary t echnologies, and any loss of su
rights could harm our business, results of operatias and financial condition.

We rely on trade secrets and confidential infororathat we seek to protect, in part, by confiddityiagreements with our corporate partn
collaborators, employees and consultants. We caassaire you that these agreements are adequatgtdotpur trade secrets and confide
information or will not be breached or, if breachede will have adequate remedies. Furthermore, retimay independently deve
substantially equivalent confidential and propmgt@mformation or otherwise gain access to ouréradcrets or disclose such technology.

loss of trade secret protection or other unpateptedrietary rights could harm our business, resafltoperations and financial condition.

Our products may infringe patent rights of others,which may require costly litigation and, if we arenot successful, could cause us
pay substantial damages or limit our ability to cormercialize our products.

Our commercial success depends on our ability &raip without infringing the patents and other pedpry rights of third parties. There n
be third party patents that relate to our prodwmtsl technology. We may unintentionally infringe opwalid patent rights of thi
parties. Although we currently are not involvedainy material litigation involving patents, a thipdrty patent holder may assert a clair
patent infringement against us in the future. Alggively, we may initiate litigation against therthparty patent holder to request that a ¢
declare that we are not infringing the third pastypatent and/or that the third pastypatent is invalid or unenforceable. If a clain
infringement is asserted against us and is suadessfd therefore we are found to infringe, we dobk required to pay damages
infringement, including treble damages if it iselatined that we knew or became aware of such afpatel we failed to exercise due car
determining whether or not we infringed the patéhtve have supplied infringing products to thirdrpes or have licensed third partie:
manufacture, use or market infringing productsmay be obligated to indemnify these third part@sdamages they may be required to pi
the patent holder and for any losses they may isusta

We can also be prevented from selling or commeraig any of our products that use the infringieghnology in the future, unless we ob
a license from such third party. A license may lm@tavailable from such third party on commerciafigsonable terms, or may not be avail
at all. Any modification to include a non-infringjriechnology may not be possible or if possible fpaylifficult or timeeonsuming to develo
and require revalidation, which could delay ourigbto commercialize our products. Any infringenteattion asserted against us, even i
are ultimately successful in defending against saction, would likely delay the regulatory approyabcess of our products, harm
competitive position, be expensive and requiretithe and attention of our key management and teahpersonnel.
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We rely on third parties to conduct all of our clinical trials. If these third parties are unable tocarry out their contractual duties in a
manner that is consistent with our expectations, ¢oply with budgets and other financial obligations © meet expected deadlines, v
may not receive certain development milestone paymts or be able to obtain regulatory approval for orcommercialize our produc
candidates in a timely or cost-effective manner.

We rely, and expect to continue to rely, on thiedtp clinical investigators, clinical research argations (CROs), clinical data management
organizations and consultants to design, condupgryise and monitor our clinical trials. Because do not have the ability to conduct our
own clinical trials, we must rely on the effortsahers and have limited control over, and canmetligt accurately, the timing of such trials,
the costs associated with such trials or the pnaeedthat are followed for such trials. We do ngteet to significantly increase our personnel
in the foreseeable future and may continue to oslythird parties to conduct all of our future ofiai trials. If we cannot contract with
acceptable third parties on commercially reasonsdrims or at all, if these third parties are unablearry out their contractual duties or
obligations in a manner that is consistent with exjppectations or meet expected deadlines, if tlepat carry out the trials in accordance
with budgeted amounts, if the quality or accuratthe clinical data they obtain is compromised tlu¢heir failure to adhere to our clinical
protocols or for other reasons, or if they failni@intain compliance with applicable government fatjons and standards, our clinical trials
may be extended, delayed or terminated or may begnificantly more expensive, we may not recalegelopment milestone payments
when expected or at all, and we may not be abidbtain regulatory approval for or successfully coenoralize our product candidates.

In all events, we are responsible for ensuring ¢laah of our clinical trials is conducted in ac@rde with the general investigational plan and
protocols for the trial. The FDA requires clinidals to be conducted in accordance with goodiadinpractices, including for conducting,
recording and reporting the results of clinicadlsito assure that data and reported results edibte and accurate and that the rights, integrity
and confidentiality of clinical trial participantge protected. Our reliance on third parties thatde not control does not relieve us of these
responsibilities and requirements. Any such eventldc have a material adverse effect on our busjnisancial condition, results of
operations and prospects.

Because we rely on third party manufacturing and spply partners, our supply of research and developmd, preclinical and clinical
development materials may become limited or interrpted or may not be of satisfactory quantity or quaity.

We rely on third party supply and manufacturingtpars to supply the materials and components fod, manufacture, our research

development, preclinical and clinical trial drugpplies. We do not own manufacturing facilities apgly sources for such components
materials. There can be no assurance that ourysopptsearch and development, preclinical andadirdevelopment drugs and other mate
will not be limited, interrupted, restricted in t&n geographic regions or of satisfactory quatiticontinue to be available at acceptable pr
Suppliers and manufacturers must meet applicableufaaturing requirements and undergo rigorous ifgcdnd process validation te
required by FDA and foreign regulatory authoriie®rder to comply with regulatory standards, sastcurrent Good Manufacturing Practi
In the event that any of our suppliers or manufaetifails to comply with such requirements or &fprm its obligations to us in relation
quality, timing or otherwise, or if our supply obmponents or other materials becomes limited arinpted for other reasons, we may
forced to manufacture the materials ourselveswiuch we currently do not have the capabilitiesesources, or enter into an agreement
another third party, which we may not be able tmdgeasonable terms, if at all.

Our business is subject to numerous and evolving ae, federal and foreign regulations and we may nobe able to secure th
government approvals needed to develop and marketioproducts.

Our research and development activities, girgical tests and clinical trials, and ultimatéhye manufacturing, marketing and labeling of
products, are all subject to extensive regulatipriie FDA and foreign regulatory agencies. Blieical testing and clinical trial requireme
and the regulatory approval process typically tad@rs and require the expenditure of substantsuees. Additional government regula
may be established that could prevent or delaylaégny approval of our product candidates. Delayggjections in obtaining regulatc
approvals would adversely affect our ability to enercialize any product candidates and our abititgeénerate product revenue or royalties.

The FDA and foreign regulatory agencies require tha safety and efficacy of product candidatesiygported through adequate and wel
controlled clinical trials. If the results of piatclinical trials do not establish the safety a&fificacy of our product candidates to the satigfa
of the FDA and other foreign regulatory agencies, will not receive the approvals necessary to ntaskeh product candidates. Eve
regulatory approval of a product candidate is grdnthe approval may include significant limitasoan the indicated uses for which
product may be marketed.
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We are subject to the periodic inspection of oinic4l trials, facilities, procedures and operasi@amd/or the testing of our products by the |
to determine whether our systems and processéiso®se of our vendors and suppliers, are in compdéiamth FDA regulations. Following su
inspections, the FDA may issue notices on Form &&8 warning letters that could cause us to modifyain activities identified during t
inspection. A Form 483 notice is generally issuetha conclusion of an FDA inspection and listsditons the FDA inspectors believe n
violate FDA regulations. FDA guidelines specify tleawarning letter is issued only for violations “eégulatory significance’for which the
failure to adequately and promptly achieve coroecthay be expected to result in an enforcementracti

Failure to comply with the FDA and other governnaémégulations can result in fines, unanticipatethpliance expenditures, recall or sei:
of products, total or partial suspension of progucend/or distribution, suspension of the FBAéview of product applications, enforcen
actions, injunctions and criminal prosecution. Unckertain circumstances, the FDA also has the aityhio revoke previously granted prod
approvals. Although we have internal compliancegprms, if these programs do not meet regulatorpm@gstandards or if our compliance
deemed deficient in any significant way, it couli/ a material adverse effect on the Company.

We are also subject to recordkeeping and reporiégulations. These regulations require, among dtfiegs, the reporting to the FDA
adverse events alleged to have been associatedhwitise of a product or in connection with cerfaimduct failures.

Labeling and promotional activities also are retpdaby the FDA. We must also comply with recorceiag requirements as well
requirements to report certain adverse events wnwplour products. The FDA can impose other poatketing controls on us as well as
products including, but not limited to, restricttoan sale and use, through the approval procegdatens and otherwise.

Many statesn which we do or may do business, or in which prwducts may be sold, if at all, impose licensilapeling or certificatio
requirements that are in addition to those impdsethe FDA. There can be no assurance that oneooe states will not impose regulation:
requirements that have a material adverse effeouombility to sell our products.

In many of the foreign countries in which we mayldwsiness or in which our products may be soldwillebe subject to regulation by natiol
governments and supranational agencies as well &xchl agencies affecting, among other thingsdpod standards, packaging requirem
labeling requirements, import restrictions, taréfulations, duties and tax requirements. Therebeamo assurance that one or more countri
agencies will not impose regulations or requireraéinat could have a material adverse effect orability to sell our products.

Legislative and regulatory changes affecting the tathcare industry could adversely affect our businss.

Political, economic and regulatory influences anbjecting the healthcare industry to potential fuméntal changes that could substant
affect our results of operations. There have ke@&umber of government and private sector initegtiduring the last few years to limit
growth of healthcare costs, including price redgafat competitive pricing, coverage and payment gied, comparative effectiveness
therapies, technology assessments and maragedarrangements. It is uncertain whether or vemgnlegislative proposals will be adopte:
what actions federal, state, or private payorshialth care treatment and services may take ironsgpto any healthcare reform proposa
legislation. We cannot predict the effect healtbamforms may have on our business and we can mdf@ssurances that any of these refi
will not have a material adverse effect on our bess. These actual and potential changes are gatsimarketplace to put increased empl
on the delivery of more cosffective treatments. In addition, uncertainty remmaegarding proposed significant reforms to th8.Uealth cai
system.

The success of our products may be harmed if the gernment, private health insurers and other thirdparty payers do not provide
sufficient coverage or reimbursement.

Our ability to commercialize our new cancer treattngystems successfully will depend in part ondktent to which reimbursement for
costs of such products and related treatmentsbailavailable from government health administratothorities, private health insurers
other thirdparty payors. The reimbursement status of newlyrama medical products is subject to significantenmainty. We cann
guarantee that adequate thparty insurance coverage will be available foraggtablish and maintain price levels sufficiemtus to realize ¢
appropriate return on our investment in developirgyv therapies. Government, private health insuegrd other thirdparty payors ai
increasingly attempting to contain healthcare cbstdimiting both coverage and the level of reimgmment for new therapeutic prodt
approved for marketing by the FDA. Accordingly, evécoverage and reimbursement are provided bygouent, private health insurers
third-party payors for uses of our products, market decee of these products would be adversely affeiftéte reimbursement availal
proves to be unprofitable for health care providers
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Our products may not achieve sufficient acceptancdey the medical community to sustain our business.

The commercial success of our products will depgreh their acceptance by the medical communitythind-party payors as clinically usef
cost effective and safe. Any or our drug candidataey prove not to be effective in practice. Outitgsand clinical practice may not confi
the safety and efficacy of our product candidatesven if further testing and clinical practice guae positive results, the medical commt
may view these new forms of treatment as effeciive desirable or our efforts to market our new potelmay fail. Market acceptance depe
upon physicians and hospitals obtaining adequatebrtesement rates from thiggarty payors to make our products commercially leialBny
of these factors could have an adverse effect obusiness, financial condition and results of afiens.

The commercial potential of a drug candidate in deslopment is difficult to predict. If the market size for a new drug is significantly
smaller than we anticipate, it could significantlyand negatively impact our revenue, results of opetegns and financial condition.

It is very difficult to predict the commercial pot#al of product candidates due to important facteuch as safety and efficacy compare
other available treatments, including potential ggendrug alternatives with similar efficacy prefil, changing standards of care, third
payor reimbursement standards, patient and physmieferences, the availability of competitive altdives that may emerge either during
long drug development process or after commeraotabduction, and the availability of generic versoof our successful product candid
following approval by government health authoritiesed on the expiration of regulatory exclusieityour inability to prevent generic versit
from coming to market by asserting our patentslué to one or more of these risks the market piaiefior a drug candidate is lower than
anticipated, it could significantly and negativétypact the revenue potential for such drug candidaid would adversely affect our busin
financial condition and results of operations.

We have no internal sales or marketing capabilitylf we are unable to create sales, marketing and digbution capabilities or enter into
alliances with others possessing such capabilitige perform these functions, we will not be able tocommercialize our product:
successfully.

We currently have no sales, marketing or distrimutapabilities. We intend to market our produiétand when such products are approves
commercialization by the FDA and foreign regulatagencies, either directly or through other sthatafliances and distribution arrangem
with third parties. If we decide to market our puoth directly, we will need to commit significamdncial and managerial resources to dev
a marketing and sales force with technical experisd with supporting distribution, administratiamd compliance capabilities. If we rely
third parties with such capabilities to market puwducts, we will need to establish and maintairingaship arrangements, and there can |
assurance that we will be able to enter into tpady marketing or distribution arrangements oreptable terms or at all. To the extent tha
do enter into such arrangements, we will be depande our marketing and distribution partners. ieeing into thirdparty marketing ¢
distribution arrangements, we expect to incur $igant additional expenses and there can be noassel that such third parties will estab
adequate sales and distribution capabilities suseessful in gaining market acceptance for outyxets and services.

Technologies for the treatment of cancer are subjédo rapid change, and the development of treatmenstrategies that are mor
effective than our technologies could render our @hnologies obsolete.

Various methods for treating cancer currently argl in the future are expected to be, the subfeextensive research and development. N
possible treatments that are being researchedicdessfully developed, may not require, or may Eupthe use of our technologies.
successful development and acceptance of any on@ar of these alternative forms of treatment caosliter our technology obsolete
cancer treatment method.
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We may not be able to hire or retain key officers oemployees that we need to implement our businestrategy and develop our produc
candidates and business, including those purchasedthe EGEN acquisition.

Our success depends significantly on the contiragedributions of our executive officers, scientifiad technical personnel and consult:
including those retained in the EGEN acquisitiamd an our ability to attract additional personneinge seek to implement our business stre
and develop our product candidates and busine@aesoperations associated with the EGEN acquisigienlocated in Huntsville, Alaban
Key employees may depart if we fail to successfaiBnage this additional business location or iati@h to any uncertainties or difficulties
integration with Celsion. We cannot guarantee #matvill retain key employees to the same exterttweaand EGEN retained each of our «
employees in the past, which could have a negatinect on our business, results of operations arah€ial condition. Our integration
EGEN and ability to operate in the fields we acgdifrom EGEN may be more difficult if we lose kepm@oyees. Additionally, during o
operating history, we have assigned many essertipbnsibilities to a relatively small number dfiwviduals. However, as our business anc
demands on our key employees expand, we have la@enhwill continue to be, required to recruit aduitl qualified employees. T
competition for such qualified personnel is intenaed the loss of services of certain key persownebur inability to attract additior
personnel to fill critical positions could advesselffect our business. Further, we do not carryy“k&n” insurance on any of our person
Therefore, loss of the services of key personnelldvaoot be ameliorated by the receipt of the prdesdeom such insurance.

Our success will depend in part on our ability to gow and diversify, which in turn will require that we manage and control our growtl
effectively.

Our business strategy contemplates growth and sifieation. Our ability to manage growth effectiyetill require that we continue to expe
funds to improve our operational, financial and agement controls, reporting systems and procedimeaddition, we must effective
expand, train and manage our employees. We willifeble to manage our business effectively if we warable to alleviate the strain
resources caused by growth in a timely and suagessinner. There can be no assurance that we willle to manage our growth ar
failure to do so could have a material adverseceffa our business.

We face intense competition and the failure to congie effectively could adversely affect our abilityo develop and market our products

There are many companies and other institutionaged)in research and development of various teogred for cancer treatment products
seek treatment outcomes similar to those that weparsuing. We believe that the level of intergsbothers in investigating the potential
possible competitive treatments and alternativbertelogies will continue and may increase. Potertahpetitors engaged in all areas of ca
treatment research in the United States and othertdes include, among others, major pharmacdutpacialized technology companies,
universities and other research institutions. Msbur current and potential competitors have safiglly greater financial, technical, hun
and other resources, and may also have far gregperience than do we, both in mi@ical testing and human clinical trials of nevoguct:
and in obtaining FDA and other regulatory approv@ee or more of these companies or institutiondcceucceed in developing product:
other technologies that are more effective thanptfoelucts and technologies that we have been odeareloping, or which would render «
technology and products obsolete and nompetitive. Furthermore, if we are permitted tonooence commercial sales of any of our prod
we will also be competing, with respect to manufdog efficiency and marketing, with companies mavsubstantially greater resources
experience in these areas.

We may be subject to significant product liabilityclaims and litigation.

Our business exposes us to potential product ifighilsks inherent in the testing, manufacturingdamarketing of human therapel
products. We presently have product liability irsce limited to $10 million per incident and $10lion annually. If we were to be subject
a claim in excess of this coverage or to a claimaowered by our insurance and the claim succeesledyould be required to pay the cli
with our own limited resources, which could havseaere adverse effect on our business. Whetheotova are ultimately successful in i
product liability litigation, such litigation woultharm the business by diverting the attention awburces of our management, consul
substantial amounts of our financial resources landlamaging our reputation. Additionally, we mayt he able to maintain our prod
liability insurance at an acceptable cost, if &t al
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Our internal computer systems, or those of our CRO®r other contractors or consultants, may fail or sffer security breaches, whicl
could result in a material disruption of our product development programs.

Despite the implementation of security measuresjrdarnal computer systems and those of our CR@sosher contractors and consultants
vulnerable to damage from computer viruses, unaizdm access, natural disasters, terrorism, war talfetommunication and electri
failures. Such events could cause interruptionsuofoperations. For instance, the loss of prediniata or data from any clinical trial involvi
our product candidates could result in delays indayelopment and regulatory filing efforts andndligantly increase our costs. To the ex
that any disruption or security breach were toltéswa loss of, or damage to, our data, or inappede disclosure of confidential or propriet
information, we could incur liability and the despment of our product candidates could be delayed.

RISKS RELATED TO OUR SECURITIES

The market price of our common stock has been, anthay continue to be volatile and fluctuate significatly, which could result in
substantial losses for investors and subject us &ecurities class action litigation.

The trading price for our common stock has beed, ae expect it to continue to be, volatile. Ouruky 31, 2013 announcement that
HEAT study failed to meet its primary endpoint hasulted in significant volatility and a steep dieelin the price of our common stock, a ¢
of decline that could result in securities litigati Plaintiffs’ securities litigation firms have publicly announcttht they are investigati
potential securities fraud claims that they maytwis make against us. The price at which our comstock trades depends upon a numb
factors, including our historical and anticipatgaemting results, our financial situation, annouments of technological innovations or r
products by us or our competitors, our ability wability to raise the additional capital we may shemd the terms on which we raise it,
general market and economic conditions. Some aktf@ctors are beyond our control. Broad marketdlations may lower the market price
our common stock and affect the volume of tradingour stock, regardless of our financial conditioesults of operations, business
prospect. The closing price of our common stockep®rted on The NASDAQ Capital Market had a higicegpof $4.57 and a low price
$2.30 in the 52veek period ended December 31, 2014 and a higk pfi§3.15 and a low price of $2.20 from Januar2@.5 through Marc
10, 2015. Among the factors that may cause the ehgokice of our common stock to fluctuate are tlsksrdescribed in this “Risk Factors”
section and other factors, including:

° results of preclinical and clinical studies of uoduct candidates or those of our competitors;

° regulatory or legal developments in the U.S. artkiotountries, especially changes in laws and atignls applicable to o
product candidates;

e  actions taken by regulatory agencies with respeout product candidates, clinical studies, martufémy process or sales ¢
marketing terms;

° introductions and announcements of new productsudyor our competitors, and the timing of theseouhtictions c
announcements;

° announcements by us or our competitors of sicguifi acquisitions or other strategic transactioreapital commitments;

° fluctuations in our quarterly operating resultgh® operating results of our competitors;

° variance in our financial performance from theeotations of investors;

° changes in the estimation of the future sizegogvth rate of our markets;

° changes in accounting principles or changesterpmnetations of existing principles, which couféeat our financial results;
° failure of our products to achieve or maintairrkea acceptance or commercial success;

° conditions and trends in the markets we serve;
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° changes in general economic, industry and maxdeditions;

° success of competitive products and services;

° changes in market valuations or earnings of ounpetitors;

° changes in our pricing policies or the pricindigies of our competitors;

° changes in legislation or regulatory policieggpices or actions;

° the commencement or outcome of litigation invedyour company, our general industry or both;

° recruitment or departure of key personnel;

° changes in our capital structure, such as fusistances of securities or the incurrence of autuiti debt;

e actual or anticipated changes in earnings estinmtekanges in stock market analyst recommendategerding our comm
stock, other comparable companies or our industnetally;

° actual or expected sales of our common stockupystwckholders; and
° acquisitions and financings, including the EGENwsition; and
° the trading volume of our common stock.

In addition, the stock markets, in general, The WA® Capital Market and the market for pharmacelitaampanies in particular, m
experience a loss of investor confidence. Such déssvestor confidence may result in extreme peaoe volume fluctuations in our comn
stock that are unrelated or disproportionate todperating performance of our business, finanodaldition or results of operations. Th
broad market and industry factors may materiallyvhthe market price of our common stock and exp@s® securities class action litigati
Such litigation, even if unsuccessful, could betlga® defend and divert managemengttention and resources, which could further redlg
harm our financial condition and results of openasi

Future sales of our common stock in the public mar&t could cause our stock price to fall.

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our comstock in the public market, or the percepticat these sales might occur, could def
the market price of our common stock and could impar ability to raise capital through the saleagiditional equity securities. As of Ma
11, 2015, we had 19,984,703 shares of common siotktanding, all of which shares, other than shaedd by our directors and cert
officers, were eligible for sale in the public merksubject in some cases to compliance with theirements of Rule 144, including the volt
limitations and manner of sale requirements. Initamd all of the shares of common stock issualperuexercise of warrants will be fre
tradable without restriction or further registratiopon issuance.

Our stockholders may experience significant dilutio as a result of future equity offerings or issuanes and exercise of outstandir
options and warrants.

In order to raise additional capital or pursueteg transactions, we may in the future offeryéser sell additional shares of our common ¢
or other securities convertible into or exchangeafor our common stock, including the issuance @fmmon stock in relation to t
achievement, if any, of milestones triggering oayment of earrout consideration in connection with the EGEN astioin. Our stockholde
may experience significant dilution as a resultudéire equity offerings or issuances. Investorscpasing shares or other securities in the fi
could have rights superior to existing stockholdéss of March 10, 2015, we have a significant numbk securities convertible into,
allowing the purchase of, our common stock, inelgd#,169,914 shares of common stock issuable ugercise of warrants outstandi
1,751,773 options to purchase shares of our comstaek and restricted stock awards outstanding, 18882,497 shares of common st
reserved for future issuance under our stock imeemians. Under the Controlled Equity Offerify Sales Agreement entered into with Ca
Fitzgerald & Co. on February 1, 2013, we may oéfad sell, from time to time through “at-the-markefferings, up to an aggregate of !
million of shares of our common stock. We had asdid $6.8 million under the Sales Agreement as afdii 10, 2015.
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We may be unable to maintain compliance with The NABDAQ Marketplace Rules which could cause our commostock to be deliste
from The NASDAQ Capital Market. This could result in the lack of a market for our common stock, causa decrease in the value of ¢
investment in us, and adversely affect our businesBnancial condition and results of operations.

Our common stock is currently listed on The NASDA&@pital Market. To maintain the listing of our commstock on The NASDAQ Capi
Market, we are required to meet certain listingursgments, including, among others, either: (i)inimum closing bid price of $1.00 per shi

a market value of publicly held shares (excludihgres held by our executive officers, directors 28% or more stockholders) of at leas
million and stockholdersequity of at least $2.5 million; or (ii) a minimuohosing bid price of $1.00 per share, a marketeafipublicly heli
shares (excluding shares held by our executivea#i directors and 10% or more stockholders) ¢éast $1 million and a total market ve
of listed securities of at least $35 million. AsMérch 10, 2015, the closing sale price of our camrstock was $2.76, the total market valu
our publicly held shares of our common stock (editlg shares held by our executive officers, dinecegind 10% or more stockholders)
approximately $47.4 million and the total markelueaof our listed securities was approximately 85®illion. There is no assurance that
will continue to meet the minimum closing price uggment and other listing requirements. As of Deler 31, 2014, we had stockholders
equity of $33.1 million.

If the closing bid price of our common stock isdvel$1.00 per share or the total market value ofpalnlicly held shares of common stock is
below $35 million for 30 consecutive business dayescould be subject to delisting from The NASDA@p&al Market. If our common stock
is delisted, trading of the stock will most likelgke place on an over-the-counter market estallighreunlisted securities, such as the Pink
Sheets or the OTC Bulletin Board. An investor kely to find it less convenient to sell, or to dhtaccurate quotations in seeking to buy, our
common stock on an over-the-counter market, andyrivarestors may not buy or sell our common stock tudifficulty in accessing over-
the-counter markets, or due to policies preventtmgm from trading in securities not listed on aioral exchange or other reasons. In
addition, as a delisted security, our common stecldld be subject to SEC rules regarding “pennylkstoghich impose additional disclosure
requirements on broker-dealers. The regulatioraing) to penny stocks, coupled with the typicaligher cost per trade to investors in penny
stocks due to factors such as broker commissionergly representing a higher percentage of theepof a penny stock than of a higher
priced stock, would further limit the ability andlimgness of investors to trade in our common ktdeor these reasons and others, delisting
would adversely affect the liquidity, trading volamand price of our common stock, causing the vafuen investment in us to decrease and
having an adverse effect on our business, finar@atlition and results of operations, including ability to attract and retain qualified
executives and employees and to raise capital.

The adverse capital and credit market conditions aald affect our liquidity.

Adverse capital and credit market conditions cafféct our ability to meet liquidity needs, as wadl our access to capital and cost of ca
The capital and credit markets have experienceeme volatility and disruption in recent years. r@sults of operations, financial conditi
cash flows and capital position could be materiatlyersely affected by continued disruptions indhgital and credit markets.

Our ability to use net operating losses to offsetifure taxable income are subject to certain limitaions.

We currently have significant net operating log$¢SLs) that may be used to offset future taxabtmme. In general, under Section 382 o
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the)Cadeorporation that undergoes an “ownership clargsubject to limitations on

ability to utilize its prechange NOLs to offset future taxable income. Du@0d4, 2013 and 2012 we performed analyses tordeterif thert
were changes in ownership, as defined by Secti@o38he Internal Revenue Code that would limit ability to utilize certain net operati
loss and tax credit carry forwards. We determinedexperienced an ownership change, as defined ttyo8682, in connection with cert:
common stock offerings on July 25, 2011, Februar8.3 and on June 3, 2013. As a result, the atitim of our federal tax net operating |
carry forwards generated prior to the ownershipngea is limited. Future changes in our stock owriprssome of which are outside of

control, could result in an ownership change ur&mtion 382 of the Code, which would significarihgit our ability to utilize NOLs to offse
future taxable income.
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We have never paid cash dividends on our common sfoin the past and do not anticipate paying cash didends on our common stoc
in the foreseeable future.

We have never declared or paid cash dividends oe@muamon stock. We do not anticipate paying arshatividends on our common stocl
the foreseeable future. We currently intend toimetdl available funds and any future earningsuodf the development and growth of
business. As a result, capital appreciation, if, afyour common stock will be the sole source dhdar the foreseeable future for holder:
our common stock.

Anti-takeover provisions in our charter documents ad Delaware law could prevent or delay a change icontrol.

Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws maycdisrage, delay or prevent a merger or acquisitiamh & stockholder may consider favor:
by authorizing the issuance of “blank chegk&ferred stock. This preferred stock may be issdnedur board of directors on such terms
determines, without further stockholder approvdleiefore, our board of directors may issue sucfeped stock on terms unfavorable 1
potential bidder in the event that our board okdliors opposes a merger or acquisition. In additbem classified board of directors n
discourage such transactions by increasing the atrmafutime necessary to obtain majority represémtabn our board of directors. Cert
other provisions of our bylaws and of Delaware taay also discourage, delay or prevent a third gfaotyn acquiring or merging with us, e\
if such action were beneficial to some, or evenagonity, of our stockholders.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.
ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

In 2011, we entered into a lease with Brandywiner@gpng Partnership, L.P. (Brandywine), a Delawenited partnership for a 10,870 squ
foot premises located in Lawrenceville, New JerskeyOctober 2011, we relocated our offices to Leweeville, New Jersey from Columt
Maryland. The lease has a remaining term of 28 th®nAs required by the lease, we provided Brandgwiwith an irrevocable a
unconditional standby letter of credit for $250,0QGhich we secured with an escrow deposit at ourkiog institution of this san
amount. The lease stipulated standby letter afitvéll be reduced by $50,000 on each of the 18itst and 43rd months from the initial te
with the remaining $100,000 amount remaining uh#l term of the lease has expired. In connectidgh o $50,000 reductions of the stan
letter of credit in April 2013 and 2014, we redudkd escrow deposit by $50,000 each time.

In connection with the acquisition of substantiadlly of the assets of EGEN, Inc., an Alabama cafon, in June 2014, we assumed
existing lease with another landlord for an 11,5@0are foot premises located in Huntsville Alabaffitas lease has a remaining term o
months with monthly rent payments of approximat3,200.

We believe our existing facilities are suitable a@quate to conduct our business.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are not currently a party to any material lggakeedings.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not Applicable.
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PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON E QUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Price for Our Common Stock
Our common stock trades on The NASDAQ Capital Madgeler the symbol “CLSN”The following table sets forth the high and lowagpc

closing sale prices for the periods indicated gasteld to reflect the 4.5-tb-reverse stock split of our common stock effec®eober 2¢
2013.

High Low

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 201 4
First Quarter (January 1 — March 31, 2014) $ 457 $ 3.37
Second Quarter (April 1 — June 30, 2014) $ 35 % 3.0¢
Third Quarter (July 1 — September 30, 2014) $ 347 % 2.9:
Fourth Quarter (October 1 — December 31, 2014) $ 29z % 2.3C

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013
First Quarter (January 1 — March 31, 2013) $ 4212 $ 4.3
Second Quarter (April 1 — June 30, 2013) $ 84z $ 3.4
Third Quarter (July 1 — September 30, 2013) $ 6.3¢ $ 4.91
Fourth Quarter (October 1 — December 31, 2013) $ 572 $ 3.5

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2012
First Quarter (January 1 — March 31, 2012) $ 9.9¢ $ 7.3¢
Second Quarter (April 1 — June 30, 2012) $ 14.0¢ $ 7.92
Third Quarter (July 1 — September 30, 2012) $ 2655 $ 12.8:¢
Fourth Quarter (October 1 — December 31, 2012) $ 39.7¢ $ 19.3¢

On March 10, 2015, the last reported sale pricemfmrCommon Stock on the NASDAQ Capital Market Wasr6. As of March 10, 2015, thi
were approximately 16,000 stockholders of recordwf Common Stock. The actual number of stockhsldgrgreater than this numbet
record stockholders and includes stockholders wigobeneficial owners but whose shares are heldreetsname by brokers and ot
nominees. This number of stockholders of record dtses not include stockholders whose shares magldan trust by other entities.
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Performance Graph

This performance graph shall not be deemed “swigitnaterial” or to be “filed'with the Securities and Exchange Commission foppses ¢
Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1834amended (the Exchange Act), or otherwise sutmebe liabilities under that section, :
shall not be deemed to be incorporated by referéroeany filing of Celsion under the SecuritiestAé 1933, as amended, or the Exch
Act.

The following graph compares the percentage chamglee cumulative return to the stockholders of oammon stock during the five yt
period ended December 31, 2014 with the cumulatiern the NASDAQ Composite Index and the NASDAQ@tBchnology Index for tt
same periods.

Comparison of 5 Year Cumulative Total Return
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The graph assumes that $100 was invested on Dec&hp2009 in our common stock or an index, antlalalividends were reinvested. We
have not declared nor paid any dividends on oumaomstock. Stockholder returns over the indicg@iedod should not be considered
indicative of future stockholder returns.

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid any cash dividendsuo common stock. We currently anticipate thatwileretain all of our future earnin
for use in the operation of our business and ta futlure growth and do not anticipate paying armshadividends in the foreseeable future.
future determination to declare cash dividends bélimade at the discretion of our board of diregtsubject to applicable law, and will dep
on our financial condition, results of operationapital requirements, general business conditiosagher factors that our board of direc
may deem relevant.

Securities Authorized For Issuance Under Equity Comensation Plans

See “Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneafi©wners and Management and Related Stockholddteké—Equity Compensation Pl
Information.”

Unregistered Shares Of Equity Securities

All unregistered shares of equity securities hagenbpreviously reported by the Company in its QubrtReports on Form 1Q- or Currer
Reports on Form 8-K.
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Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
None.
ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The selected financial data set forth below ismestessarily indicative of results of future opemasi and should be read together with Ite
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Finan€alndition and Results of Operationgid the financial statements and related |
thereto included in Part Il, Item 8 of this AnnlRéport on Form 1@ to fully understand factors that may affect ttemparability of th
information presented below. All shares and peresidata prior to 2014 have been adjusted to reftext®l.5-to1 reverse split of our comm
stock effected as of October 28, 2013.

Year Ended December 31,
Statement of operations data: 2014 201 3 2012 2011 20 10
(in thousands, except per share data)

Licensing revenue $ 50C $ 50C $ - $ 2,00C $ =
Research and development expense 14,96¢ 9,36¢ 15,77( 19,86 14,71«
General and administrative expense 8,861 6,541 6,377 5,15t 4,92:
Acquisition costs 1,38¢ — - - -
Total operating expense 25,21t 15,91 22,14 25,01¢ 19,63"
Operating loss (24,719 (15,417 (22,149 (23,019 (19,63)
Other (loss) income (779 7,16( (4,426 (204) 81¢
Net loss (25,49 (8,257 (26,569) (23,22) (18,819
Non-cash deemed dividend from beneficial conversic
feature on convertible preferred stock — (4,602 — — -
Net loss attributable to common shareholc $ (25499 $  (1285) $ (26,569 $  (23,22) $ (18,819
Net loss attributable to common shareholders per
common share - basic and diluted $ (139 $ 099 $ (349 $ (5.00 $ (6.89)
Weighted average shares used in computing net Ic
available to common shareholders per common : 18,47: 13,54 7,731 4,64¢ 2,75(

As of December 31
Balance sheet data: 201 4 201 3 2012 2011 20 10
(in thousands)

Cash and cash equivalents $ 12,687 $ 571¢ $ 1499 $ 20,14 $ 1,13¢
Investment securities, available for sale (inclgdin

interest receivable on investments) 24,38: 37,36¢ 8,10¢ 10,40: 39¢
Working capital (deficit) 27,41¢ 39,09: 18,64 25,35¢ (4,769
Total assets 66,69¢ 45,67 25,35¢ 32,64¢ 2,52¢
Common stock warrant liability 27¢ 3 4,28¢ 16€ 24¢
Non-current liabilities 23,77¢ 9,47¢ 8,39: 30:s 30¢&
Total liabilities 33,89¢ 14,147 13,39" 6,45¢€ 7,101
Total stockholders’ equity (deficit) 32,82¢ 31,52« 11,96: 26,19« (4,579
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALY SIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

The following discussions should be read in confiemcwith our financial statements and related adtereto included in this Annual Reg
on Form 10-K. The following discussion containesfard{ooking statements made pursuant to the safe harbeisions of Section 21E of t
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and the Privateuffiies Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These stagnts are based on our beliefs
expectations about future outcomes and are sutgjettks and uncertainties that could cause actsllts to differ materially from anticipal
results. Factors that could cause or contribututth differences include those described underlPigem 1A —Risk Factors appearing in t
Annual Report on Form 1R-and factors described in other cautionary statesjecautionary language and risk factors set fortlothe
documents that we file with the Securities and Exge Commission. We undertake no obligation toligybupdate forwardeoking
statements, whether as a result of new informafidare events or otherwise.

Overview

Celsion is a fullyintegrated oncology drug development company fatusedeveloping a portfolio of innovative canceratiments, includir
directed chemotherapies, immunotherapies and RMANA-based therapies. Our lead program is Thermx@)@ proprietary headctivate
liposomal encapsulation of doxorubicin, currentiyfhase Il clinical trial for the treatment of ppary liver cancer and a Phase Il clinical
for the treatment of recurrent chest wall breastcea Our pipeline also includes GEN-1 (formerlyowm as EGEN-001), a DNAase:
immunotherapy for the localized treatment of ova@ad brain cancers. We have three platform tecigied for the development of treatms
for those suffering with difficult-to-treat formsf @ancer, novel nucleic acid-based immunotherapied other anteancer DNA or RN
therapies, including TheraPlas™ and TheraSilence/¥.are working to develop and commercialize mofcieft, effective and target
oncology therapies based on our technologies, thélgoal to develop novel therapeutics that maxneificacy while minimizing sideffect:
common to cancer treatments.

Significant Events
ThermoDo®

Our lead product ThermoDoxi® being evaluated in a Phase Il clinical trialcombination with a standardized radiofrequendgtain (RFA
protocol, for primary liver cancer (the OPTIMA Stgdand a Phase Il clinical trial for recurrent dhesll breast cancer (the DIGNITY Stud
ThermoDox®is a liposomal encapsulation of doxorubicin, anrappd and frequently used oncology drug for thattreent of a wide range
cancers. Localized heat at mild hyperthermia teatpees (greater than 39.5 degrees Celsius) raléhseencapsulated doxorubicin from
liposome enabling high concentrations of doxorubtoi be deposited preferentially in and arounctdéingeted tumor.

The HEAT Study.On January 31, 2013, we announced that ThermoDiox@mbination with RFA did not meet the primarydgenint o
Progression Free Survival (PFS) for the 701 patidinical trial in patients with primary liver caec (the HEAT Study). Specifically, \
determined, after conferring with the HEAT Studgeépendent Data Monitoring Committee (DMC), that AT Study did not meet the gt
of demonstrating persuasive evidence of clinickdaiveness that could form the basis for regujatgproval. In the trial, ThermoDox®as
well-tolerated with no unexpected serious adverse eveoiowing the announcement of the HEAT Study Itssuve continue to follo
patients for overall survival, the secondary endpof the HEAT Study, on a quarterly basis. We hesrducted a comprehensive analys
the data from the HEAT Study to assess the futtraegic value of ThermoDox®. As part of this arsdy we are also revaluating ot
product pipeline and research and developmentipe®r In April 2013, we announced the deferrale@penses associated with our Pha
study of ThermoDox®n combination with RFA for the treatment of colot@ liver metastases (the ABLATE Study) until sughe as w
finalize our plans for the continuation of its dmnent program with ThermoDox®& primary liver cancer, also known as hepatocal
carcinoma (HCC).

The data from the HEAT Study post-hoc analysis sagthat ThermoDox®nay substantially improve overall survival, whemmgared to th
control group, in patients if their tumors undemimal RFA treatment. Data from six overall sualigweeps have been conducted sinc
top line PFS data from the HEAT Study were annodnioeJanuary 2013. The most recent pgust- analysis data from the HEAT St
announced in February 2015 demonstrate that thenpegubgroup in the ThermoDox&m whose RFA procedure lasted longer tha
minutes (285 patients or 41% of the study patiemtg)erienced a 59% improvement in overall suryiwath a Hazard Ratio of 0.628 (95%
0.420 - 0.939) and a Walue of 0.02. This information should be viewedhwéaution since it is based on a retrospectivdyaisaof a subgrot
that has not reached its median point for the diveuavival analysis. We may choose to end thidyaisi of overall survival once the medial
reached for both arms of the study.
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Data from the HEAT Study pos$iec analysis has been presented at various saiesmifl medical conferences in 2013 and 2014 byHERT
Study investigators and leading liver cancer expdithe presentations include:

World Conference on Interventional Oncology inyVe13

European Conference on Interventional Oncologjuime 2013 and April 2014
International Liver Cancer Association Annual @&ence in September 2013 and 2014
American Society of Clinical Oncology 50 Annuaébting in June 2014

We also completed computational modeling with sepyEntary preclinical animal studies supportingréiationship between heating dura
and clinical outcomes.

The OPTIMA Study.On February 24, 2014, we announced that the U.8d lemd Drug Administration (FDA), after its custam&0 da
review period, accepted without comment, subjeatdmpliance with regulatory standards, clearanceoto pivotal, double-blind, placebo-
controlled Phase Il trial of ThermoDox®, our pragtary heaactivated liposomal encapsulation of doxorubicircmbination with RFA i
primary liver cancer, also known as HCC (the OPTIE#dy). The OPTIMA Study trial design is basedlws comprehensive analysis of ¢
from the HEAT study, which, as described above, aestrated that treatment with ThermoDoxr&ulted in a 59% improvement in ove
survival in a large number of HCC patients thaereed an optimized RFA treatment for longer thanmfifutes. We launched the OPTII
Study in the first half of 2014. The OPTIMA Studydesigned with extensive input from globally retagd HCC researchers and clinici
and after formal written consultation with the FDPhe OPTIMA Study is expected to enroll up to 53fignts globally at up to 100 sites in
United States, Europe, China and elsewhere in #ia Racific region, and will evaluate ThermoDok®combination with optimized RF,
which will be standardized to a minimum of 45 memiacross all investigators and clinical sitestfeating lesions 3 to 7 centimeters, ve
standardized RFA alone. The primary endpoint ferttial is overall survival, and the secondandpoints for the trial are PFS and Safety.
statistical plan calls for two interim efficacy dyses by an independent DMC.

In addition, we met with the China State Food amdgDAdministration (CHINA FDA) in 2014 to discudset OPTIMA Phase Il trial includir
minimum patient enroliment requirements supporthmg registration of ThermoDox@® China. Based on those discussions, we have $igo
an application for accelerated approval of the QPX IStudy in China and we expect to receive CHINAA-Blearance in the first half of 20:
We have filed a request for a Voluntary Harmon@atProcedure (VHP) in Europe, which provides fa #issessment of multinational clin
trial applications across several European cowtireluding Germany, Italy and Spain. Our reqdesta VHP in Europe was approved
October 23, 2014.

Technology Development Agreements

On May 6, 2012, we entered into a lotegm commercial supply agreement with Zhejiang Hiftharmaceutical Co. Ltd. (Hisun) for
production of ThermoDox@n mainland China, Hong Kong and Macau (the Cheratbry). Hisun will be responsible for providiradi of the
technical and regulatory support services for ttenufiacture of ThermoDox@n the China territory and we will repay Hisun thedatec
development costs and fees, which we expect toppeogimately $2.0 million in total, commencing dmetsuccessful completion of th
registrational batches of ThermoDox®&n January 18, 2013, we broadened our relationglhiip Hisun by entering into a technolc
development contract, pursuant to which Hisun pasda norrefundable research and development fee of $5.0omito support ot
development of ThermoDox@&nd we will provide research data and other tearsigpport in relation to a regulatory filing bysdin in Chin
for approval of ThermoDox®Following our announcement of the HEAT study resoh January 31, 2013, we and Hisun have agreétht
technology development contract entered into onidanl8, 2013 will remain in effect while the pagicontinue to collaborate the next ste|
relation to ThermoDox®which include the continued subgroup analysis ef@hinese cohort of patients in the HEAT Studyomary livel
cancer and other activities to further the develepnof ThermoDox® for the China territory.

On July 19, 2013, the Company and Hisun entered anemorandum of Understanding to pursue ongoaliglmorations for the continu
clinical development of ThermoDox® as well as teehinology transfer relating to the commercial maotufre of ThermoDox®&or the Chini
territory. This expanded collaboration includeselepment of the next generation liposomal formolatvith the goal of creating safer, m
efficacious versions of marketed cancer chemotlsertigs.
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The DIGNITY Study.On July 24, 2014, we announced interim data fromamgoing open-label Phase Il trial of ThermoDo#®recurrer
chest wall (RCW) breast cancer (the DIGNITY Stud¥he trial is designed to enroll up to 20 patieatsseveral U.S. clinical sites anc
evaluating ThermoDox@n combination with mild hyperthermia. Of the 14tipats enrolled and treated, ten were eligible dealuation ¢
efficacy. Based on data available to date, 60 pe¢rmiepatients experienced a stabilization of tighly refractory disease with a local respc
rate of 50 percent observed in the ten evaluablienga, notably three complete responses, two gadisponses and one patient with si
disease.

These data are consistent with the combined clirdata from two Phase | trials, our Phase | DIGNIBYudy and the Duke Univers
sponsored Phase | trial of ThermoDog®is hyperthermia in RCW breast cancer in Decerib&B. The two similarly designed Phase | stt
enrolled patients with highly resistant tumors fdum the chest wall and who had progressed on gueviherapy including chemothere
radiation therapy and hormone therapy. There w@nea®ients treated in the two trials (eleven pasiém our DIGNITY Study and 18 patients
the study sponsored by Duke). Of the 29 patiepttéd, 23 were eligible for evaluation of efficadylocal response rate of over 60 percent
reported in 14 of the 23 evaluable patients witle iomplete responses and nine partial responses.

Breast Cancer Clinical Phase Il Clinical Trial - The Euro-DIGNITY Study

The Company anticipates a Phase Il study of Radicady (RT), HyperThermia (HT) and ThermoD®x to tneatients with locategiona
recurrent chest wall breast cancer will be initialy six to eight physicians and institutions lechin Italy, Israel, the Netherlands, Poland
the Czech Republic (the Euro-DIGNITY Study). Ther&DIGNITY Study will be Phase Il study enrolling up 100 patients affected
recurrent breast adenocarcinoma on the chest vithlwithout nodes over a period of two years.

The primary objectives of the Euro-DIGNITY Studyiitie (i) to evaluate efficacy in patients aftecy&les of ThermoDo® plus Hyperthermi
measuring tumor diameter as a response to therapyiia to evaluate locaegional breast tumor control in patients who ugdefhermobDo
® /hyperthermia/radiotherapy as measured by targeinetinical response rate combining a RECIST datevith digital photography to gau
response.

Secondary objectives of the EUBGNITY Study will be (i) to evaluate the safety ofthe combination «
ThermoDox/Hyperthermia/Radiotherapy among patieitis LRR breast cancer, (ii) to evaluate the dwraif local control complete respo
(CR), partial response (PR) and stable disease {@Dying treatment with ThermoDox/Hyperthermiatiatherapy up to 24 months amc
patients with LRR breast cancer and (iii) to as$&sent Reported Quality of Life using the FAGTand Brief Pain Inventory (BPI) followit
treatment with ThermoDox/Hyperthermia/Radiotherapyong patients with LRR breast cancer.

Early Access Program for ThermoDox for the Treatmenm of Patients with RCW Breast Cancer

On January 13, 2015, we entered into an Early Acéggeement with Impatients N.V., a Netherlands pany (Impatients), pursuant to wh
Impatients will develop and execute through itsndranyTomorrows an early access program for Thermx@Dia all countries of the Europe
Union territory, Iceland, Liechtenstein, Norway a@ditzerland (the Territory) for the treatment attipnts with RCW breast cancer. Undet
early access program, Impatients will engage iiviliess to secure authorization, exemption or waivem regulatory authorities for patient |
of ThermoDox® that may otherwise be subject to apals from such regulatory authorities before thle and distribution of ThermoDoxi®
the relevant territories. We will be responsible tlee manufacture and supply of quantities of TheEPox® to Impatients for use in the ec
access program and Impatients will distribute aidlhermoDox® pursuant to such authorization, eggoms or waivers.

Under the Early Access Agreement, we granted taatmpts, specifically for the treatment of RCW Istezancer in the Territory, an exclus
royalty-free right to perform the early access programviies, reference regulatory documentation and eyads that we own, and use

trademarks relating to ThermoD8&Xx In.addition, we granted to Impatients an optiomégotiate an exclusive license to distribute Thédmo
® in the Territory after ThermoDdX  receives regulgtapproval in a country within the Territory.

In consideration for Impatientservices to implement the early access programiratide event we receive regulatory authorizatiorsed
distribute or market ThermoDox® in the Territowe will be obligated to pay Impatients, subjecatmaximum cap, a low singtégit royalty
of net sales of ThermoDox#® the countries where such regulatory authoriratias been obtained. The Early Access Agreemerd bersn o
five years, with automatic renewals for consecutive-year periods, unless earlier terminated by eittegtypwith notice or in the event
material breach, bankruptcy, or insolvency withootice.
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As a result of the risks and uncertainties disalissehis Annual Report on Form ¥)-among others, we are unable to estimate thetida
and completion costs of our research and developprejects or when, if ever, and to what extent witk receive cash inflows from ti
commercialization and sale of a product. Our inghib complete any of our research and developraetivities, preclinical studies or clinic
trials in a timely manner or our failure to entetoi collaborative agreements when appropriate caiddificantly increase our capi
requirements and could adversely impact our liguidiVhile our estimated future capital requiremeats uncertain and could increas:
decrease as a result of many factors, includingxbent to which we choose to advance our resedssfelopment activities, preclinical stuc
and clinical trials, or if we are in a positiongarsue manufacturing or commercialization actigitiee will need significant additional capita
develop our product candidates through developraedt clinical trials, obtain regulatory approvalsdamanufacture and commerciali:
approved products, if any. We do not know whetherwill be able to access additional capital wheadeel or on terms favorable to us or
stockholders. Our inability to raise additional italp or to do so on terms reasonably acceptabiestovould jeopardize the future success o
business.

As a clinical stage biopharmaceutical company,baginess and our ability to execute our strateggctueve our corporate goals are subje
numerous risks and uncertainties. Material riskd @mcertainties relating to our business and adustry are described in "Part I, Item 1A. F
Factors" in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Acquisition of EGEN

On June 20, 2014, we completed the acquisitiomb$tantially all of the assets of EGEN, Inc., aal®¥ma Corporation (EGEN) pursuant t
Asset Purchase Agreement (EGEN Purchase Agreen@®N Laboratories, Inc., a Delaware corporatiod arwholly-owned subsidiary
the Company (CLSN Laboratories), acquired all of B3 right, title and interest in and to substantiallyof the assets of EGEN, includ
cash and cash equivalents, patents, trademarkothed intellectual property rights, clinical datgrtain contracts, licenses and perr
equipment, furniture, office equipment, furnishingsipplies and other tangible personal propertyaddition, CLSN Laboratories assur
certain specified liabilities of EGEN, includingethiabilities arising out of the acquired contraatsl other assets relating to periods afte
closing date.

The total purchase price for the acquisition istoi$44.4 million, which includes potential futurare-out payments of up to $30.4 milli
contingent upon achievement of certain milestoredsfarth in the EGEN Purchase Agreement. At thesiokp, we paid approximately $:
million in cash after the expense adjustment asded 2,712,188 shares of its common stock to EQHEN.shares of our common stock v
issued in a private transaction exempt from regfistn under the Securities Act of 1933, as amerftledSecurities Act), pursuant to Section
(2) thereof. In addition, 670,070 shares of comratmtk were held back by us at the closing and ssgable to EGEN on or after Augus
2016 pending certain potential adjustments for agpe or in relation to EGEB/’indemnification obligations under the EGEN Puse
Agreement.

The EarnOut Payments of up to $30.4 million will become allg, in cash, shares of Celsion common stock comabination thereof,
Celsion’s option, as follows:

® (Certain specified development milestones relatinGEN-1 to treat ovarian cancer patients ($12.Ganj;
e Certain specified development milestones relatinGEN-1 to treat GBM cancer patients ($12.0 wril)i and
e A self-liquidating payment of 50% of all fees eded from the licensing of TherSilence (up to $®ilion).
Our obligations to make the Earn-Out Paymentsteithinate on the seventh anniversary of the clodatg.
On June 9, 2014, we borrowed an additional $5.0anipursuant to a certain Loan and Security Agreetndated as of November 25, 2013, by

and between Hercules Technology Growth Capital,dnd us. We used the loan proceeds to pay thienigfash payment to EGEN at closing
and certain transaction costs incurred in conneatith the acquisition.
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In the acquisition, we purchased GEN-1, a DN#sed immunotherapy for the localized treatmentwarian and brain cancers, and tl
platform technologies for the development of trezits for those suffering with difficult-to-treatrfos of cancer, novel nucleic adidse!
immunotherapies and other anti-cancer DNA or RNérdbies, including TheraPlas™ and TheraSilence ™ -GEs currently in an early sta
of clinical development for the treatment of ovarieancer, and the delivery technology platformg tha purchased from EGEN are
preclinical stages of development. In February 2@i& announced that the FDA has accepted, withouineent, the Phase | dossealatio
clinical trial of GEN-1 in combination with the stdard of care in neadjuvant ovarian cancer. The clinical trial wilkiatify a safe, tolerab
and potentially therapeutically active dose of GEMhile maximizing an immune response. The trialésigned to enroll three to six patie
per dose level and will evaluate safety and efficacd attempt to define an optimal dose to carrwéod into a Phase |l trial. We expec
initiate enrollment for the trial in the secondfha 2015 at five to six U.S. clinical centers.

On October 28, 2014, we presented preclinical odtded to TheraSilence™ at the miRNA World ConfieeeWorkshop on miRNA Delivel
Preclinical data indicate that in a mouse lung tumodel, intravenous (IV) delivery of RNA inhibiginVEGFR2, a tumor angiogenesis fac
via the TheraSilence™ delivery system resultedigmiicant knockdown of VEGFR* transcript in lungs, reduction in tumor blood s&
density and inhibition of tumor growth. Preclinictilidies also demonstrated the ability of anti-miRiktlivered via the TheraSilence®livery
system to inhibit miRNAL45, which is associated with the pathogenesisuthpnary arterial hypertension. Systemically adstigried RN/
complexes using the TheraSilence™ delivery systemahstrated a good tolerability profile. We do empect to realize any revenue fr
product sales in the next several years, if atoditler than minimal revenue from the sale of reagemducts we acquired from EGEN. Furtl
there can be no assurance that we will be ableweldp and maintain a broad range of product caeid

To the extent that we are dependent on the suofes® or a few product candidates, results sudh@se announced in relation to the HE
Study on January 31, 2013 will have a more sigaifimpact on our financial prospects, financialdiion and market value. As demonstr:
by the HEAT Study results in January 2013, drug@aesh and development is an inherently uncertaingss and there is a high risk of fai
at every stage prior to approval. The timing areldhtcome of clinical results is extremely diffictd predict. Clinical development succe:
and failures can have a disproportionate positiveegative impact on our scientific and medicalsperts, financial prospects, result:
operations, financial condition and market value.

The acquisition of EGEN was accounted for underattguisition method of accounting which requireel @ompany to perform an allocatior
the purchase price to the assets acquired anditlebiassumed. The fair value of the consideratimnsferred for the acquisition
approximately $27.6 million.

Under the acquisition method of accounting, thaltptirchase price is allocated to EGENiet tangible and intangible assets and liakd
based on their estimated fair values as of theisitipm date. The table below summarizes the prielimy estimated fair values of EGENhe
tangible and intangible assets and liabilitieslmndcquisition date. The purchase price allocatwagreliminary and subject to change as |
detailed analyses are completed and additionalrrimdiion with respect to the fair values of the &ssnd liabilities acquired becon
available.

Property and equipment, net 35,00(
In-process research and development 25,802,00
Goodwill 1,976,001
Total assets: 27,813,00
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (235,00()
Net assets acquire $ 27,578,00

The purchase price exceeds the estimated fair \ltlge net assets acquired by approximately $2lllomwhich was recorded as goodw
Transaction costs associated with the asset atiqnisire included in Acquisition Costs in the Cditaied Statement of Operations and tot
$ $1,385,263 from the date of acquisition on Juhe2P14 through December 31, 2014.

Acquired In-Process Research and Development (IPR&D)

Acquired IPR&D consists of EGEN's drug technologwatiorms: TheraPlas™ and TheraSilence™. The faluevaof the IPR&D dru
technology platforms was estimated to be $25.8ianilks of the acquisition date using the M&lériod Excess Earnings Method (MPEE
which is a form of the income approach. Under theB¥M, the fair value of an intangible asset is ¢godahe present value of the asset’
incremental aftetax cash flows (excess earnings) remaining aftdudéng the market rates of return on the estimasdde of contributor
assets (contributory charge) over its remainindulidiée.
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To calculate fair value ahe IPR&D programs under the MPEEM, we used projected castsfldiscounted at a rate considered approj
given the significant inherent risks associatechwidtug development by developmestikge companies. Cash flows were calculated bal
estimated projections of revenues and expensetededia the IPR&D programs and then reduced by ariborory charge on requisite ast
employed. Contributory assets included debé working capital, net fixed assets and asseinbterkforce. Rates of return on the contribu
assets were based on rates used for comparabletparticipants. Cash flows were assumed to extamtigh a sevegear market exclusivi
period. The resultant cash flows were then disclind present value using a weightagtrage cost of equity capital for companies

profiles substantially similar to that of Celsiamhich we believe represents the rate that markeicpgzants would use to value the assets.
projected cash flows were based on significantrapsions, including the indication in which we wilirsue development of IPR&D progra
the time and resources needed to complete theajeueht and regulatory approval of IPR&D progranstineates of revenue and opera
profit related to the program considering its stafalevelopment, the life of the potential commalized product, market penetration

competition, and risks associated with achievinguercialization, including delay or failure to ointaegulatory approvals to conduct clini
studies, failure of clinical studies, delay or aé to obtain required market clearances, andéctelal property litigation.

As of the closing of the acquisition, the IPR&D densidered indefinite lived intangible assets arilll ot be amortized. IPR&D will
reviewed for possible impairment on an annual baisisore frequently if there appears to be an atiho of impairment.

Funding Overview

Reverse Stock Sp

On October 28, 2013, we affected a reverse stolika§pur common stock at an exchange ratio oftéA and set the number of authori
shares of common stock outstanding immediately #fie split at 75 million shares. As a result of teverse stock split, every four and a
shares of common stock outstanding immediatelyr poidhe effectiveness of the reverse stock spitaxcombined and converted into one s
of common stock immediately thereafter without ahginge in the per share par value. Our common stacted to trade on the pagthit basi:
at the commencement of trading on October 29, 20&kr a new CUSIP number 15117N404 with the sackertisymbol, CLSN. Unle
otherwise expressly stated, the share and per dataean this section and elsewhere in this AniReport on Form 16 have been adjusted
reflect the reverse stock split.

Equity and Debt Financinc

During 2014 and 2013, we issued a total of 8.0iomlkhares of common stock, including shares ofmomstock issued upon conversiol
the 15,000.00422 shares of Series A 0% convengitdéerred stock, in the following equity transansalescribed below for an aggregate $
million in gross proceeds. On October 28, 2013 gffiected a 4.5-td- reverse split of our common stock. Unless othesveixpressly stated,
share and per share data in this section and edseviinthis Annual Report on Form 10-K have begnsadd to reflect the reverse stock split.

e On February 1, 2013, we entered into a Contrdigdity OfferingSM Sales Agreement (ATM) with Cantor Fitzgerald & Cas, sale
agent, pursuant to which we may offer and sellfriime to time through “at-the-marketfferings, shares of our common st
having an aggregate offering price of up to $25ilion. From February 1, 2013 through February 26813, we sold and issued
aggregate of 1,195,923 shares of common stock wgudragreement for approximately $6.8 millionggegate gross proceeds.

e On February 22, 2013, we entered into a Secuitigshase Agreement with certain institutional inwes pursuant to which the
sold, in a registered direct offering, an aggregdite5,000.00422 shares of our Series A 0% corhlerpreferred stock and warrant:
purchase up to 1,341,382 shares of common stoclkanf@aggregate purchase price of approximatelyOsdbllion in gross proceec
All of the shares of Series A 0% convertible preddrstock have been converted into 2,682,764 slofismmon stock.
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e On May 30, 2013, we entered into a Securities RagelAgreement with certain institutional investgaisuant to which we sold, i
registered direct offering, an aggregate of 1,392 dhares of our common stock for an aggregatenpaecprice of approximately $
million in gross proceeds.

e On January 15, 2014, the Company entered into arfies Purchase Agreement with certain institudldnvestors, pursuant to wh
the Company sold, in a registered offering, an eggie of 3,603,604 shares of its common stock,vplre $0.01 per share, ¢
warrants to purchase up to 1,801,802 shares of Gon8tock, for an aggregate purchase price of appairly $15 million.

During 2013, we received gross proceeds of appratdéim $0.4 million from the exercise of warrantslaommon stock options to purch
30,499 shares of common stock.

On June 20, 2014, we completed the acquisitioub$tantially all of the assets of EGEN. At the zigswe paid approximately $3.0 million
cash and issued 2,712,188 shares of its commok &idEGEN. In addition, 670,070 shares of our comratock were held back by us at
closing and are issuable to EGEN on or after Augus2016 pending certain potential adjustmentseigenses or in relation to EGEN’
indemnification obligations under the EGEN Purchagesement

In addition, we entered into a loan agreement ometer 25, 2013 with Hercules Technology Growthi@apinc. (Hercules), pursuant
which we may borrow a secured term loan of up @ $2lion in multiple tranches (the Hercules Crefigreement). The loan bears interest
floating per annum rate equal to the greater ofL{i)25 percent and (ii) the sum of 11.25 perceus gghe prime rate minus 3.25 perc
Payments under the loan agreement are interestfantiie first twelve months after loan closinglidared by a 30month amortization peric
of principal and interest through the scheduledumigtdate. We drew the first tranche of $5 million November 25, 2013 and may reqt
subject to Herculeonsent in its sole discretion, an additional $ifion in up to three advances with each advanca minimum amount «
$5 million before June 30, 2014 unless extended upercules’consent. We used approximately $4 million of thstftranche to repay t
outstanding obligations under a loan agreement @itford Finance LLC and Horizon Technology Fina@mrporation. On June 9, 2014,
drew down an additional $5 million and used thenlpeoceeds to pay the upfront cash payment to E&Eilbsing of the asset acquisition.

We believe that our cash and investment resourt&31 million on hand at December 31, 2014, cuipléth our access to the ATM,
sufficient to fund operations through 2016. Howeweur future capital requirements will depend upmmmerous unpredictable fact
including, without limitation, the cost, timing, ggress and outcomes of clinical studies and reglateviews of our proprietary dr
candidates, our efforts to implement new collabores, licenses and strategic transactions, gersrdl administrative expenses, ca|
expenditures and other unforeseen uses of caskoplete the development and commercializationwfproducts, we will need to ra
substantial amounts of additional capital to fuld operations. We do not have any committed sowté&sancing and cannot give assure
that alternate funding will be available in a timehanner, on acceptable terms or at all. We mag te@ursue dilutive equity financings, s
as the issuance of shares of common stock, prdfstoek, convertible debt or other convertible rereisable securities, which financil
could dilute the percentage ownership of our curcemmon stockholders and could significantly lower market value of our common stock.

Please refer to Item IA, Risk Factors, includingt hot limited to, “We will need to raise substantial additional captia fund our planne
future operations, and we may be unable to secucé sapital without dilutive financing transactiori§ we are not able to raise additiol
capital, we may not be able to complete the devedop, testing and commercialization of our prodctanididates”

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our financial statements, which appear at Item Thts Annual Report on Form 10; have been prepared in accordance with accot
principles generally accepted in the United Statdsch require that we make certain assumptionseatidhates and, in connection therev
adopt certain accounting policies. Our significantounting policies are set forth in Note 1 to fimancial statements. Of those policies,
believe that the policies discussed below may wea higher degree of judgment and may be morialrito an accurate reflection of «
financial condition and results of operations.
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Stock-Based Compensation

We follow the provisions of ASC topic 718 “Competiga”’ which requires the expense recognition over a semeriod for the fair value
share based compensation awards, such as stockgptestricted stock and performance based shatgs.standard allows us to estak
modeling assumptions as to expected stock pricatiliyl, option terms, forfeiture and dividend ratevhich directly impact estimated fair va
as determined. Our practice is to utilize reastnand supportable assumptions which are reviewitd our board of directors and
appropriate committee.

Common Stock Offering

Prior to the closing of the Common Stock Offering June 3, 2013, there were an insufficient numlexuthorized shares to complete
transaction. The investors in the Common Stocle@ffj also held warrants to purchase common stétheoCompany which were issuec
connection with previous offerings. Concurrent vtttle closing of the Common Stock Offering, theitnsibnal investors agreed to waive tt
rights to exercise these warrants to purchase 838&hares of common stock of the Company (thev®daWarrants) until the Company |
obtained stockholdersipproval to increase the number of its authorizedes of common stock in conjunction with the pemgabreverse sto
split of its outstanding shares of common stockth&t Company’s 2013 Annual Meeting of Stockholdekl on July 19, 2013, the Compasy’
stockholders voted to approve the proposal to gieeretionary authority to the Board of Directtwsamend the Certificate of Incorporatior
the Company, as amended, to effect, at any timerqamior to the date of the 2014 Annual MeetingStdckholders, a reverse stock split &
exchange ratio within the specified range and totls® number of authorized shares effective imnietlisafter the reverse stock split at
million shares. On October 28, 2013, the Compafecedd a 4.5-t0-1 reverse stock split of its comratmek.

The warrants described above were originally reetrds equity at the fair value on the date of issea In accordance with ASC 848-
Derivative Instruments and Hedgir- Contracts in Entity’s Own Equitythe Waived Warrants were required to be liabilitgssifiec
immediately after the closing of the Common Stodkefing on June 3, 2013 because there were anficigmt nhumber of common sha
authorized to permit the full exercise of the watsa Therefore on June 3, 2013, the Company &l the fair value of the Waiv
Warrants totaling approximately $9.1 million fromguity to a liability. The Waived Warrants were végd to be recorded at fair value at €
balance sheet date with changes in fair value decbin earnings until such time as there were ficgerft number of common shares author
to permit the full exercise of the warrants. tmnection with the Reverse Stock Split, these wasravere valued as of October 28, 2013,
the Company reclassified the fair value of the WdiWarrants totaling approximately $5.3 millionrfra liability to equity.

Goodwill and In-P rocess Research and Development

During 2014, the Company acquired certain asseEGHEN, Inc. As more fully described in Note 5 ta @onsolidated Financial Stateme
the acquisition was accounted for under the adipmisimethod of accounting which required the Conypam perform an allocation of t
purchase price to the assets acquired and liasilassumed. Under the acquisition method of accmyrihe total purchase price is allocate
net tangible and intangible assets and liabilib@sed on their estimated fair values as of theisitipm date.

We review our financial reporting and disclosuraqtices and accounting policies on an ongoing liasisisure that our financial reporting
disclosure system provides accurate and transparfarmation relative to the current economic andgibess environment. As part of
process, the Company reviews the selection, apjgitaand communication of critical accounting p@i and financial disclosures. 1
preparation of our financial statements in conféymwith accounting principles generally acceptedthe United States requires that
management make estimates and assumptions thet @iféereported amounts of assets and liabilities$ @isclosure of contingent assets
liabilities at the date of the financial statemeautsl the reported amounts of revenues and expensieg the reporting period. We review
estimates and the methods by which they are datedron an ongoing basis. However, actual resultklatiffer from our estimates.
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Results of Operations
Comparison of Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 20hd &iscal Year Ended December 31, 2013.

Licensing Revent

In January 2013, we entered into a technology dgweént contract with Hisun, pursuant to which Higpad us a nomefundable technolog
transfer fee of $5.0 million to support our devefmmt of ThermoDox® in the China territory. The $&fllion received as a norefundabls
payment from Hisun in the first quarter 2013 hasrbeecorded to deferred revenue and will be anwsftiaver the ten year term of
agreement; therefore we recognized revenue of §800n each of the years 2014 and 2013.

Research and Development Exper

Research and development expenses increased byn#ibo® from $9.4 million in 2013 to $15.0 milliom 2014. Costs associated with
HEAT Study decreased to $0.6 million in 2014 cornepato $3.7 million in 2013 primarily due to the veed costs associated with the HE
Study as we follow patients for overall survivaleWicurred costs of $4.8 million related to thdi@tion of the OPTIMA Study in 2014. Co
associated with our RCW breast cancer clinical taenained relatively unchanged at $0.4 millior2Bi4 and 2013. Other clinical costs w
$1.8 million in 2014 compared to $1.2 million in1A) The increase is mostly attributable to an iaseein personnel costs and profess
fees. Other research and development costs reflatpceclinical operations and regulatory operaticermained relatively unchanged at §
million in 2014 compared to $1.3 million in 2018.0sts associated with the production of ThermoDda®upport the OPTIMA Stut
increased to $3.8 million in 2014 compared to $&ilion incurred in 2013. During the second half 2014, the Company comple
integration of the operations of the business aeduirom EGEN, Inc. into our wholly owned subsigia€LSN Laboratories. Costs associi
with CLSN Laboratories were $2.3 million for therjpel from the date of acquisition on June 20, 2@tdugh December 31, 2014.

As we continue to evaluate ThermoDox® in the OPTIBi#dy and the DIGNITY Study and plan to initiate fPhase | dosescalation clinic:
trial of GEN-1 in the second half of 2015, we exjpaar research and development costs to increa2@lib compared to 2014.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses increased by réiflion to $8.9 million in 2014 compared to $6idllion in 2013. This increase
primarily the result of increases in insurance €adt $0.7 million, increases in personnel costs$bO million and increases in legal i
professional fees. The increased personnel cdigstra $0.7 million increase in non-cash stock pemsation expense.

Acquisition Costs

Acquisition costs were $1.4 million for 2014. Thartsactiorrelated expenses consisted of legal and profedsiees related to the June
2014 acquisition of substantially all of the ass#tEGEN.

Change in Common Stock Warrant Liability

A warrant liability was incurred as a result of vearts we issued in a public offering in Septembl@® The liability associated with the
warrants is calculated at its fair market valuengsihe Black-Scholes optigoricing model and is adjusted at the end of eaddrtqu Ir
addition, in connection with a common stock offgrin the second quarter of 2013, the investorsiéndffering agreed to waive their right:
exercise the warrants to purchase 1,398,816 sliiresmmon stock of the Company until the Comparfecéd a reverse stock split
increased the number of its authorized shares mihon stock. During the second quarter of 2013 Gbmpany reclassified the fair value
these warrants totaling $9.1 million from equityatdiability on the date of the closing of the offg on June 3, 2013. Prior to the offering
warrants described above were originally recordeequity at the fair value on the date of theiudgse. In accordance with ASC 846-
Derivative Instruments and HedgingGentracts in Entity’s Own Equitythese warrants were required to be classifidehbgities immediatel
after the closing of the common stock offering ane) 3, 2013 because there was an insufficient nuoflmmmon shares authorized to pe
the full exercise of the warrants if they were eiged. Therefore, these warrants are required tededed at fair value at each balance ¢
date with changes in fair value recorded in eamitig connection with the reverse stock split ttwnPany affected on October 28, 2013, tl
warrants were valued as of October 28, 2013, aadCttmpany reclassified the fair value of these avas totaling approximately $5.3 milli
from a liability to equity. Furthermore, in conniect with the warrants we issued for 97,493 sharffethe Companys common stock
connection with the Hercules Credit Agreement irvétober 2013 and then with the warrant for the #mtuil 97,493 shares of the Company’
common stock which became available and exercisathilee time of the second $5.0 million tranchdume 2014, we recorded an additit
warrant liability of $0.5 million in 2014.

46






Collectively these warrant liabilities are requitedbe recorded at fair value at each balance stetetwith changes in fair value recorde
earnings. At December 30, 2014, the fair valuellbbfathese liabilities was $0.3 million and we oeded a norcash benefit of $0.2 millic
based on the change in the fair value of the wisrainDecember 31, 2014. During 2013, the decri@abe fair value of this liability resulted
the Company recording a non-cash benefit of $8lllomibased on the change in the fair value ofvtlagrants at December 31, 2013.

Change in EarrO ut MilestoneLiability

The total aggregate purchase price for the acoprisdf assets from EGEN Acquisition included poignfuture earmsut payments continge
upon achievement of certain milestones. The diffeeebetween the aggregate $30.4 million in futam-eut payments and the $13.9 mill
included in the fair value of the acquisition calesation at June 20, 2014 was based on the Congpeasi'adjusted assessment of €
milestone and utilizing a discount rate based enetstimated time to achieve the milestone. Thetstane payments will be fair valued at
end of each quarter and any change in their vailleba recognized in the financial statement. AsDafcember 31, 2014, the Company
valued these milestones at $13.7 million and reizegha gain of $213,949 as a result of the chandbe fair value of these milestones fi
June 30, 2014.

Investment income and interest expe

In connection with its debt facilities the Compangurred $1.3 million and $0.9 million in interestpense in 2014 and 2013, respectively.

Other (expense) income

Other (expense) income for 2014 and 2013 was gatfigant.
Comparison of Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2008 &iscal Year Ended December 31, 2012.

Licensing RevenL

On January 18, 2013, we entered into a technoleggldpment contract with Hisun, pursuant to whidbud paid us a norefundable resear
and development fee of $5 million to support ouvedepment of ThermoDox® in the China territory. TH&.0 million received as a non-
refundable payment from Hisun in the first qua6d3 has been recorded to deferred revenue andantinue to be amortized over the
year term of the agreement. Therefore we recorééetetd revenue of $500,000 in 2013. We had nadicey revenue in 201

Research and Development Exper

Research and development (R&D) expenses decreyséf.4 million from $15.8 million in 2012 to $9.4ilfion in 2013. Costs associal
with the HEAT Study decreased to $3.7 million inL30compared to $7.7 million in 2012 primarily dweréduced costs associated with
HEAT Study after the data results were announcedamary 31, 2013. Costs associated with our mecuchest wall breast cancer clin
trial (the DIGNITY Study) remained relatively unctged at $0.4 million in 2013 compared to 2012. Aesult of our decision to delay «
colorectal liver metastases trial (the ABLATE Studgllowing the announcement of the HEAT Study tesuthe related costs we
insignificant in 2013 compared to $0.2 million iA12. Other R&D costs related to preclinical operst and regulatory operations decrei
to $1.0 million in 2013 compared to $2.0 million2012. Costs associated with the production ofrfle®ox® decreased to $2.8 million
2013 compared to $4.0 million the same period df20

In April 2013, the Company implemented a restruogiprogram to lower its operating costs to conserapital to ensure that our costs

adequately aligned with our resources and busis&sdéegy. The program included elimination of axmately one-third of Celsior’
workforce and the deferral of expenses associatirtiae ABLATE Study.
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General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses increasedtlgligh$6.5 million in 2013 compared to $6.4 milion 2012. This increase is largely
result of an increase in professional fees in 283 severance costs ($0.2 million in 2013) relabethe April 2013 restructuring program
discussed above compared to the same period of 2012

Change in Common Stock Warrant Liability

A warrant liability was incurred as a result of wearts we issued in a public offering in Septemt@® The liability associated with the
warrants is calculated at its fair market valuengghe Black-Scholes optiquricing model and is adjusted at the end of eaertqu For 201:
we recorded a non-cash benefit of $4.3 million Hase the change in the fair value of the warramisgared to a nonash charge of $4
million in the same period of 2012.

In connection with the Common Stock Offering in tsecond quarter of 2013, the investors in the wifeagreed to waive their rights
exercise the warrants to purchase 1,398,816 sbms common stock until the Company had affectadverse stock split and increasec
number of its authorized shares of common stockinguhe second quarter of 2013, we reclassifiedfttir value of these warrants total
$9.1 million from equity to a liability on the datd# the closing of the offering on June 3, 2013oPto the offering the warrants descril
above were originally recorded as equity at thevialue on the date of their issuance. In accardamvith ASC 815-40Derivative Instrumen
and Hedging - Contracts in Entity’'s Own Equitigese warrants were required to be classifiedadmlities immediately after the closing of
common stock offering on June 3, 2013 because there an insufficient number of common shares aizéd to permit the full exercise
the warrants if they were exercised. Thereforeseéhwarrants are required to be recorded at fhievat each balance sheet date with chang
fair value recorded in earnings. In connection wita reverse stock split we affected on October22d3, these warrants were valued ¢
October 28, 2013, and we reclassified the fair ealfithe Waived Warrants totaling approximately3d&illion from a liability to equity. Th
change in the fair value of the warrants which weeéved from the time they were liability classdi¢o the time they were equity reclassi
resulted in a non-cash benefit of $3.8 million 01.3.

Collectively, we recorded a non-cash benefit tataf$8.1 million in 2013 compared to recording aseash charge of $4.1 million in 2012.

Investment income and interest expe

Interest expense in 2013 was $0.9 million comp#&oe®D.4 million in 2012. We entered into a $5 moifliloan facility in June 2012. We rep
this loan facility in full on November 25, 2013 liging proceeds from the first tranche of $5 millisa withdrew under the Hercules Crt
Agreement entered into on November 25, 2013. Imvest income was not significant in 2013 and 2012.

Other (expense) income

Other (expense) income for 2013 and 2012 was gaotfigant.
Financial Condition, Liquidity and Capital Resources

Since inception, excluding the net aggregate paysneteived from Boston Scientific of $43 millionrdugh the divestiture of our medi
device business in 2007 (which we received in Imsents of $13 million in 2007 and $15 million iaeh of 2008 and 2009), we have incu
significant losses and negative cash flows fronragiens. We have financed our operations primahhpugh the net proceeds we receive
this divesture, subsequent sales of equity, cfeditities and amounts received under our prodiseinking agreement with Yakult and
technology development agreement with Hisun. Thecgss of developing and commercializing ThermoDo&&N-1 and other produ
candidates and technologies requires significasgareh and development work and clinical trial tsidas well as significant manufactul
and process development efforts. We expect theBeities, together with our general and admini$ie expenses to result in signific
operating losses for the foreseeable future. Qpemses have significantly and regularly exceededrevenue, and we had an accumul
deficit of $195 million at December 31, 2014.

At December 31, 2014, we had total current asse$38.5 million (including cash, cash equivalentsl &hort term investments and rel
interest receivable on short term investments @t B3nillion) and current liabilities of $10.1 mdln, resulting in net working capital of $2
million. At December 31, 2013 we had total currassets of $43.8 million (including cash, cash egjents and short term investments
related interest receivable on short term investmeh$43.1 million) and current liabilities of $4million, resulting in net working capital
$39.1 million.
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Net cash used in operating activities for 2014 §2k.4 million. Our 2014 net loss included $2.6limil in nor-cash stocksased compensati
expense, a $0.2 million in non-cash benefit basgethe change in the common stock warrant liabdityg a $0.2 million in nogash benel
based on the change in the earn-out milestonditiabi

The $21.4 million net cash used in operating atisiwas mostly funded from cash and short terrastments. At December 31, 2014, we
cash, cash equivalents and short term investmedtsedated interest receivable on short term imaests of $37.1 million.

Net cash provided by financing activities was $18i8ion during the 2014, $13.8 million of whichgelted from net proceeds from sale of
common stock in January 2014 and $5.0 million idig@hal proceeds received from the Hercules Cradieement in June 2014.

In February 2013, we entered into a Controlled ByQffering SM Sales Agreement (ATM) with Cantor Fitzgerald & Cas sales age
(Cantor), pursuant to which we may offer and $edin time to time, through Cantor, shares of ounown stock having an aggregate offe
price of up to $25.0 million (the ATM Shares) puaatito our previously filed and effective RegistratStatement on Form &-Under th
ATM Agreement, Cantor may sell ATM Shares by anythnd deemed to be an “at-the-markeffering as defined in Rule 415 promulge
under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, dmtusales made directly on The NASDAQ Capital Marlon any other existing tradi
market for the our common stock or to or througmarket maker. We will pay Cantor a commissiontoéé percent of the aggregate g
proceeds from each sale of ATM Shares. We haveasuldssued an aggregate of 1,195,927 shares thed&TM Agreement so far, receivi
approximately $6.8 million in net proceeds.

We believe that our cash and investment resourt&8%1 million on hand at December 31, 2014, cedpkith our access to the ATM,
sufficient to fund operations through 2016. Howeweur future capital requirements will depend upmmmerous unpredictable fact
including, without limitation, the cost, timing, gmress and outcomes of clinical studies and regylateviews of our proprietary dr
candidates, our efforts to implement new collabiorst licenses and strategic transactions, geradl administrative expenses, ca|
expenditures and other unforeseen uses of cash.

We may seek additional capital through further pubk private equity offerings, debt financing, &duhal strategic alliance and licens
arrangements, collaborative arrangements, or sambioation of these financing alternatives. If vaese additional funds through the issus
of equity securities, the percentage ownershipuofstockholders could be significantly diluted ahd newly issued equity securities may |
rights, preferences, or privileges senior to thokthe holders of our common stock. If we raised&ithrough the issuance of debt secur
those securities may have rights, preferences pandeges senior to those of our common stockwéf seek strategic alliances, license:
other alternative arrangements, such as arrangemgtit collaborative partners or others, we maydnierelinquish rights to certain of ¢
existing or future technologies, product candidategproducts we would otherwise seek to developomnmercialize on our own, or to licel
the rights to our technologies, product candidateproducts on terms that are not favorable to Uife overall status of the economic clin
could also result in the terms of any equity offgridebt financing, or alliance, license, or otagangement being even less favorable to u
our stockholders than if the overall economic ctienavere stronger. We also will continue to loak fjovernment sponsored rese:
collaborations and grants to help offset futurécpated losses from operations and, to a lesgengxnterest income.

If adequate funds are not available through eithercapital markets, strategic alliances, or coltators, we may be required to delay or, re
the scope of, or terminate our research, develognmainical programs, manufacturing, or commeraation efforts, or effect additior
changes to our facilities or personnel, or obtaimdts through other arrangements that may requite tedinquish some of our assets or righ
certain of our existing or future technologies,dqurct candidates, or products on terms not favoriables.

Contractual Obligations

In 2011, we entered into a lease with Brandywinem@png Partnership, L.P. (Brandywine), a Delawanéed partnership for a 10,870 squ
foot premises located in Lawrenceville, New JerskyOctober 2011, we relocated our offices to Leweeville, New Jersey from Columt
Maryland. The lease has a remaining term of 28 th®nAs required by the lease, we provided Brandgwwith an irrevocable a
unconditional standby letter of credit for $250,0@thich we secured with an escrow deposit at ourkisg institution of this san
amount. The lease stipulated standby letter aficvell be reduced by $50,000 on each of the 18itst and 43rd months from the initial te
with the remaining $100,000 amount remaining uh#l term of the lease has expired. In connectidh twio $50,000 reductions of the stan
letter of credit in April 2013 and 2014, we redudke escrow deposit by $50,000 each time.
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In connection with the acquisition of substantiadlly of the assets of EGEN, Inc., an Alabama cafon, in June 2014, we assumed
existing lease with another landlord for a 11,560ase foot premises located in Huntsville Alabaflais lease has a remaining term o
months with monthly rent payments of approximat23,200.

Following is a summary of the future minimum paytserequired under leases that have initial or raeingilease terms of one year or mor
of December 31, 2014:

Operating
For the year ending December 31: Leases
2015 $ 570,07¢
2016 575,51
2017 378,04.
2018 23,20(
2019 and beyond —
Total minimum lease payments $ 1,546,83
Following is a schedule of future principle paynsebéfore debt discount due on the Hercules Creglieéédment:
Principle
For the year ending December 31: Payments
2015 $ 3,654,23
2016 4,091,59
2017 2,254,17.
2018 and thereafter -
Total $ 10,000,00

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We do not utilize off-balance sheet financing agements as a source of liquidity or financing.
ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISC LOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

The primary objective of our cash investment atiigiis to preserve principal while at the sameetmmaximizing the income we receive fr
our investments without significantly increasingkti Some of the securities that we invest in maguigect to market risk. This means th
change in prevailing interest rates may cause timeipal amount of the investment to fluctuate. Eeample, if we hold a security that \
issued with a fixed interest rate at the tipeevailing rate and the interest rate later risies,principal amount of our investment will probg
decline. A hypothetical 50 basis point increasmiarest rates reduces the fair value of our alibalor-sale securities at December 31, 201
an immaterial amount. To minimize this risk in faéure, we intend to maintain our portfolio of casfuivalents and marketable securities
variety of securities, including commercial papgoyernment and nogevernment debt securities and/or money marketsfuhdt invest i
such securities. We have no holdings of derivafivancial or commodity instruments. As of DecemBg&y 2014, our investments consiste
investments in corporate notes and obligationsnomoney market accounts and checking funds witlhalikr market rates of interest. '
believe our credit risk is immaterial.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEME NTARY DATA

The financial statements, supplementary data gomattref independent registered public accounting fire filed as part of this report on pe
F-1 through F-34 and incorporated herein by refezen

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE

None.
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ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
@) Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We have conducted an evaluation of the effectiveiséghe design and operation of our disclosurerotsmand procedures (as such ter
defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 158(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934msnded (the Exchange Act)) under the superv
and with the participation, of our management,tdaig our principal executive officer and princifiiancial officer. Based on that evaluati
our principal executive officer and principal fir@al officer concluded that as of December 31, 2@llfich is the end of the period coverec
this Annual Report on Form 10-K, our disclosuretoals and procedures are effective.

(b) Management's Report on Internal Coln@ver Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaititaining adequate internal control over finahmorting as defined in Rules 13&({f)
and 15d15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934ur fdternal control over financial reporting is eopess designed by, or under
supervision of, our chief executive officer andefhiinancial officer, or persons performing simifamctions, and effected by our boarc
directors, management and other personnel, to ggaw@asonable assurance regarding the reliabfliipancial reporting and the preparatior
financial statements for external purposes in a@muce with accounting principles generally acceptedhe United States of Ameri
(GAAP). Our internal control over financial repag includes those policies and procedures thppd(itain to the maintenance of records
in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reftbet transactions and disposition of the assetieoCompany; (ii) provide reasonable assur
that transactions are recorded as necessary toitpgreparation of financial statements in accorégamith GAAP and that receipts ¢
expenditures of the Company are being made onpceordance with authorization of management anecttirs of the Company; and (
provide reasonable assurance regarding preventiimely detection of unauthorized acquisition, ,usedisposition of the Compars/asse
that could have a material effect on the finansiatements.

Management assessed the effectiveness of the Cghsparternal control over financial reporting as ofd@mber 31, 2014. In making 1
assessment, management used the criteria setbiprtihe Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of Theadway Commission in the 2(
Internal Contro-Integrated FrameworKCOSO 2013 Framework). Based on its evaluatiomagament has concluded that the Company
internal control over financial reporting is effeet as of December 31, 2014.

This Annual Report on Form 10-K includes an attésmtareport of the Company’independent registered public accounting firnegBtan &
Company, regarding internal control over financegorting.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtwver financial reporting may not prevent or détmisstatements. Also, projections of
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods atgiext to the risk that controls may become inadegjbecause of changes in conditions ol
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdures may deteriorate. A control system, no mattev well designed and operated
provide only reasonable, but not absolute, assartrat the control systembbjectives will be met. The design of a consydtem must refle
the fact that there are resource constraints, lrmtdénefits of controls must be considered reldatuéeir cost.

(c) Changes in Internal Control Over Iricial Reporting

There have been no changes in our internal coowe financial reporting in the fiscal quarter edd@ecember 31, 2014, which were identi
in connection with our management’s evaluation ireguby paragraph (d) of rules 13a-15 and 15dunder the Exchange Act, that h
materially affected, or are reasonably likely tatenally affect, our internal control over finantiaporting.

(d) Inherent Limitations on the Effectness of Controls

Our management, including the chief executive effiand chief financial officer, does not expect thar disclosure controls and proced:
and our internal control over financial reportingllvprevent all error and all fraud. A control sget, no matter how well conceived
operated, can provide only reasonable, not absohgeurance that the objectives of the controlesysare met. Because of the inhe
limitations in all control systems, no evaluatidncontrols can provide absolute assurance thataaitrol issues and instances of fraud, if
within the company have been detected. These inhéngitations include the realities that judgmeimtglecision making can be faulty and -
breakdowns can occur because of simple error dak@sAdditionally, controls can be circumventedthg individual acts of some persons
collusion of two or more people or by managemerdroge of the control. The design of any systentaftrols also is based in part y
certain assumptions about the likelihood of futewents, and there can be no assurance that amndesiisucceed in achieving its stated g
under all potential future conditions. Over timentrols may become inadequate because of changesditions, or the degree of complia
with the policies or procedures may deterioratecaBee of the inherent limitations in a ceffiective control system, misstatements due tor
or fraud may occur and not be detected.

This Annual Report on Form 10-K includes an attgstareport of the Compang’independent registered public accounting firreg8tan an



Company, regarding internal control over financeorting.
ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.
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PART III
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The information required by this Item 10 is herigicorporated by reference to the definitive Proxgt&ment to be filed with the Securities
Exchange Commission (SEC) pursuant to Regulatioh Within 120 days after the end of the fiscal yeawered by this Annual Report
Form 10-K.
ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this Item 11 is herigicorporated by reference to the definitive Proxgt&ment to be filed with the SEC purst
to Regulation 14A within 120 days after the endhef fiscal year covered by this Annual Report omi@0-K.

ITEM 12, SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this Item 12 is hergicorporated by reference to the definitive Proxgt&@ment to be filed with the SEC purst
to Regulation 14A within 120 days after the endhef fiscal year covered by this Annual Report omi@0-K.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATE D TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this Item 13 is herigicorporated by reference to the definitive Proxgt&ment to be filed with the SEC purst
to Regulation 14A within 120 days after the endhef fiscal year covered by this Annual Report omi@0-K.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this Item 14 is hergicorporated by reference to the definitive Proxgt&@ment to be filed with the SEC purst
to Regulation 14A within 120 days after the endhef fiscal year covered by this Annual Report omi@0-K.
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ITEM 15.
1. FINANCIAL

The following is

PART IV
EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMEN T SCHEDULES
STATEMENTS

a list of the financial statemetsCelsion Corporation filed with this Annual Repon Form 10K, together with the repol

of our independent registered public accountands\d@nagement’s Report on Internal Control over fai@ Reporting.

Page
REPORTS
Report of Independent Registered Public Accourfging F-1
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Balance Sheets F-2
Statements of Operations F-4
Statements of Comprehensive Loss F-5
Statements of Cash Flows F-6
Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity F-7
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS F-10
2. FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

All financial stat

3. EXHIBITS

ement schedules are omitted beedhe information is inapplicable or presenteth@notes to the financial statements.

The following documents are included as exhibitthts report:

EXHIBIT NO.
2.1*

3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

3.5

4.1

DESCRIPTION
Asset Purchase Agreement dated as of June 6, B@hd between Celsion Corporation and EGEN, mmriporated here
by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Quarterly Remort~orm 10-Q of the Company for the quarter entieg: 30, 2014.

Certificate of Incorporation of Celsion, as amendadorporated herein by reference to Exhibit & 1hie Quarterly Report «
Form 10-Q of the Company for the quarter ended 30n2004.

Certificate of Ownership and Merger of Celsion QGogtion (a Maryland Corporation) into Celsion (Deae) Corporatio
(inter alia, changing the Company’s name to “Cels@orporation” from Celsion (Delaware) Corporation), incorpore
herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1.3 to the AnnBaport on Form 16 of the Company for the year ended Septembe
2000.

Certificate of Amendment of the Certificate of Imporation effective and filed on February 27, 20@6prporated therein |
reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Current Report om#8-K of the Company filed on March 1, 2006.

Certificate of Amendment to Certificate of Incorption of Celsion Corporation, incorporated hergjnréference to Exhik
3.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K of the Conypéited on October 29, 2013.

By-laws of the Company, as amended and restataatporated herein by reference to Exhibit 8.1thie Current Report on
Form ¢-K of the Company, filed on December 1, 20

Form of Common Stock Certificate, par valued$Qincorporated herein by reference to Exhibittd.the Annual Report on
Form 1(-K of the Company for the year ended September 300
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4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6

4.7

4.8

4.9

4.10

411

412

4.13

4.14

4.15

4.16

4.17

4.18

Form of Common Stock Warrant, incorporateceimeby reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Current Repm Form 8K of the
Company filed on September 28, 2009.

Registration Rights Agreement, dated June 17, 2B¢&nd between Celsion Corporation and Small CapeBh Value, Ltd
incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.1th® Current Report on Form 8-K of the Company filedJune 18, 2010.

Form of Common Stock Warrant, incorporateceimeby reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Current Repm Form 8K of the
Company filed on January 18, 2011.

Form of Common Stock Warrant incorporated ineby reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Current Répmr Form 8K of the
Company filed on June 2, 2011.

Registration Rights Agreement, dated May 26, 20#1and among Celsion Corporation and the purchasansed therei
incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.thCurrent Report on Form 8-K of the Companydfibe June 2, 2011.

Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant, ingatpd herein by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to ther€uir Report on Form B-of
the Company filed on July 6, 2011.

Registration Rights Agreement, dated July 25, 201 and between Celsion Corporation and the pusthasamed there
incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.8h®Current Report on Form 8-K of the Companydfibe July 25, 2011.

Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant, inaatpd herein by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to ther€uir Report on Form B-of
the Company filed on July 25, 2011.

Form of Warrant to Purchase Common Stoclgrparated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.2 toGherent Report on Form 8-
of the Company filed on July 25, 2011.

Form Warrant to Purchase Common Stock Purchaserpacated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Gherent Report ¢
Form 8-K filed on December 6, 2011.

Registration Rights Agreement, dated December 11208y and between Celsion Corporation and thehas®rs named there
incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.8h® Current Report on Form 8-K of the Companydfia December 6, 2011.

Warrant to Purchase Stock, dated June 27, 201antybetween Celsion Corporation and Oxford FinantihC, incorporate
herein by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Quart&gport on Form 10-Q of the Company for the quagteted June 30, 2012.

Warrant to Purchase Stock, dated June 27, 2012anoly between Celsion Corporation and Horizon TedugylFinanc
Corporation, incorporated herein by reference thilik4.2 to the Quarterly Report on Form Q0sf the Company for the quar
ended June 30, 2012.

Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant, irmmatpd herein by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to ther€ut Report on Form 8- of
the Company filed on February 26, 2013.

Form of Series A Common Stock Purchase Warrangrparated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Gherent Report ¢
Form 8-K of the Company filed on January 21, 2014.

Form of Series B Common Stock Purchase Warrangriozated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to €herent Report ¢
Form 8-K of the Company filed on January 21, 2014.

Warrant Agreement to Purchase Shares of the Com#took dated as of November 25, 2013, by and betwaesior

Corporation and Hercules Technology Growth Capltat,, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibi to the Registratic
Statement on Form S-3 (File No.: 333-193936) fded-ebruary 13, 2014.
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4.19

4.20

10.1%+*

10.2%**

10.3***

10.4%**

10.5%+*

10.6%**

10.7***

10.8%**+

10.9%**

10.10*

10.11*

10.12*

10.13*

Registration Agreement dated as of November 2532b% and between Celsion Corporation and Herclehnology Growt
Capital, Inc., incorporated herein by referenc&xibit 4.3 to the Registration Statement on For® &ile No.: 333193936
filed on February 13, 2014.

Registration Rights Agreement dated as of Jun@@04, by and between Celsion Corporation and Bgen,incorporated here
by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Quarterly Remort~orm 10-Q of the Company for the quarter entlew: 30, 2014.

Celsion Corporation 2004 Stock Incentive Plan, ipocated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 toGuarterly Report on For
10-Q of the Company for the quarter ended Jun@QD4.

Celsion Corporation 2007 Stock Incentive Plan, mereded, incorporated herein by reference to ExHiBill to the Curre
Report on Form 8-K of the Company filed on JuneZtB,4.

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement for Celsion @oagion 2004 Stock Incentive Plan, incorporatedelmeby reference
Exhibit 10.1 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10f@h@ Company for the quarter ended September@5.2

Form of Stock Option Grant Agreement for Celsiorrgi@wation 2004 Stock Incentive Plan, incorporatecen by reference
Exhibit 10.2 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10f@he@ Company for the quarter ended September@15.2

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement for Celsion @oagion 2007 Stock Incentive Plan, incorporatedelmeby reference
Exhibit 10.1.5 to the Annual Report on Form 10-Kiloé Company for the year ended December 31, 2007.

Form of Stock Option Grant Agreement for Celsiorrg@oation 2007 Stock Incentive Plan, incorporatedem by reference
Exhibit 10.1.6 to the Annual Report on Form 10-Ktoé Company for the year ended December 31, 2007.

Stock Option Agreement effective January 3, 20@fwben Celsion Corporation and Michael H. Tardugncgrporated here
by reference Exhibit 10.1 to the Current ReporfFomm 8-K of the Company filed on January 3, 2007.

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, effe@ecember 5, 2014, between Celsion CorporationMmdvichael H
Tardugno.

Employment Offer Letter, entered into on June XB.Q between the Company and Jeffrey W. Churclorporated herein t
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current ReporfFormm 8-K of the Company filed on June 18, 2010.

Patent License Agreement between the Company are Dlniversity dated November 10, 1999, incorporatedein b
reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the Annual Report onnfr 10-K of the Company for the year ended Septeidde1999.

License Agreement dated July 18, 2003, betweeiCtmpany and Duke University, incorporated hereindfgrence to Exhik
10.1 to the Registration Statement of the Compé&ilg No. 333-108318) filed on August 28, 2003.

Settlement and License Agreement dated Februa?®d7, by and among Celsion Corporation, Americardibtd Systems ar
AMS Research Corporation, incorporated herein bgremce to Exhibit 10.1 to the Quarterly Report eorm 10Q of the
Company for the quarter ended March 31, 2007.

Development, Product Supply and Commercializatigne&ment, effective December 5, 2008, by and betwse Company ai

Yakult Honsha Co., Ltd., incorporated herein byerefice to Exhibit 10.15 to the Annual Report onnfrd0K of the Compan
for the year ended December 31, 2008.
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10.14*

10.15

10.16%**

10.17%*

10.18***

10.19%+*

10.20*

10.21

10.22

10.23

10.24*

10.25+

10.26

10.27%%*+

21.1+

23.1+

31.1+

The 2nd Amendment To The Development, Product Suppdd Commercialization Agreement, effective Jaguar 2011, b
and between the Company and Yakult Honsha Co.,ihtdrporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.thie Current Report |
Form 8-K of the Company filed on January 18, 2011.

Lease Agreement, executed July 21, 2011, by andeleet Celsion Corporation and Brandywine Operatiagrership, L.P
incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.the Current Report on Form 8-K of the Companydfibm July 25, 2011.

Change in control severance agreement, dated Nare2®, 2011, by and between Celsion Corporation ichael H
Tardugno, incorporated herein by reference to Ekhib.38 to the Annual Report on Form KOA of the Company for the ye
ended December 31, 2011.

Change in control severance agreement, dated Naxefth 2011, by and between Celsion Corporation Mictiolas Borys
M.D., incorporated herein by reference to Exhilfit4D to the Annual Report on Form KQA of the Company for the year enc
December 31, 2011.

Change in control severance agreement, dated Naxed® 2011, by and between Celsion CorporationJafidley W. Churcl
incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.dlhe Annual Report on Form A of the Company for the year enc
December 31, 2011.

Change in control severance agreement, dated Nare@fh 2011, by and between Celsion Corporation Roidert A. Ree:
incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.d2he Annual Report on Form ¥JA of the Company for the year enc
December 31, 2011.

Technology Development Agreement effective as ofyMa 2012, by and between Celsion Corporation ahdjiang Hisu
Pharmaceutical Co. Ltd., incorporated herein bgrexfce to Exhibit 10.2 to the Quarterly Report omnfr 10Q of the Compar
for the quarter ended June 30, 2012.

Loan and Security Agreement, dated June 27, 204and among Celsion Corporation, Oxford Finance La€collateral agel
and the lenders named therein, incorporated hédrgireference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Quarterly Reépor Form 10Q of the
Company for the quarter ended June 30, 2012.

Controlled Equity OfferingM Sales Agreement, dated February 1, 2013, by andebet Celsion Corporation and Cau
Fitzgerald & Co., incorporated herein by referetwcthe Current Report on Form 8-K of the Compatedfion February 1, 2013.

Securities Purchase Agreement, dated February@®3, by and among Celsion Corporation and the @msets named there
incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.the Current Report on Form 8-K of the Companydfibem February 26, 2013.

Technology Development Contract dated as of Jan@8ry2013, by and between Celsion Corporation ahéjizng Hisu
Pharmaceutical Co. Ltd., incorporated herein bgrexfce to Exhibit 10.1 to the Quarterly Report omnfr 10Q of the Compar
for the quarter ended March 31, 2013.

Loan and Security Agreement dated as of NovembeR@53, by and between Celsion Corporation and idescTechnolog
Growth Capital, Inc., incorporated herein by refeeto Exhibit 10.28 to the Annual Report on FordaKLof the Company fc
the year ended December 31, 2014.

Securities Purchase Agreement dated as of Jan&arg0ll4, by and between Celsion Corporation andptirehasers nam
therein, incorporated herein by reference to ExHiBil to the Current Report on FornK&f the Company filed on January

2014.

Employment Offer Letter effective as &fine 20, 2014, between the Company and KhursheegrAn
Subsidiaries of Celsion Corporati

Consent of Stegman & Company, independgistezed public accounting firm for the Company.

Certification of Chief Executive Officer mpurant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley AcD622

56




31.2+
32.17

32.2"

101**

**

*kk

Certification of Chief Financial Officer mwant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley AcD622
Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuantdiioBe906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pwant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursu&@ection 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002.

The following materials from the Company’'snAual Report on Form 1R-for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2
formatted in XBRL (Extensible Business Reportingngaage): (i) the audited Consolidated Balance Shég}f the audite
Consolidated Statements of Operations, (iii) theited Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive,L{gp the audite
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, (v) theteddConsolidated Statements of Changes in Stoc&rsllEquity and (vi
Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateme

Portions of this exhibit have been omitted parsuto a request for confidential treatment undeleR24b2 of the Securitie
Exchange Act of 1934, amended, and the omitted mahthas been separately filed with the Securitesl Exchang
Commission.

Filed herewith.

Furnished herewith.

XBRL information is filed herewith.

Management contract or compensatory plan caagement.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&8{dhe Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registhas duly caused its annual repol
Form 10-K to be signed on its behalf by the undgsil thereunto duly authorized.

CELSION CORPORATION
Registrant

March 12, 2015 By: /s/ MICHAEL H. TARDUGN(
Michael H. Tardugno
Chairman of the Board, President and
Chief Executive Officer

March 12, 2015 By: /s/ JEFFREY W. CHURC
Jeffrey W. Church
Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

Pursuant to the requirement of the Securities ExghaAct of 1934, this report has been signed byfdthewing persons on behalf of t
Registrant and in the capacities and on the dathsated:

Name Position Date
/s/ MICHAEL H. TARDUGN( Chairman of the Board, President and Chief ExeeutivMarch 12, 2015
(Michael H. Tardugno) Officer (Principal Executive Officer)
/sl JEFFREY W. CHURC Senior Vice President and Chief Financial March 12, 2015
(Jeffrey W. Church) Officer (Principal FinaatDfficer)
/s TIMOTHY J. TUMMINELLC( Controller and Chief Accounting Officer March 12, 2015

(Timothy J. Tumminello)

/s/ AUGUSTINE CHOV Director March 12, 2015
(Augustine Chow, PhD.)

/s FREDERICK J. FRIT. Director March 12, 2015
(Frederick J. Fritz)

/sl ROBERT W. HOOPE Director March 12, 2015
(Robert W. Hooper)

/s/ ALBERTO R. MARTINE Director March 12, 2015
(Alberto Martinez, MD)
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Celsion Corporation
Lawrenceville, New Jersey

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balaheets of Celsion Corporation (the “Compamags)of December 31, 2014 and 2(
and the related statements of operations, statsnoécomprehensive loss, changes in stockhol@eysity, and cash flows for each of the y
in the three year period ended December 31, 20BlaMb have audited the Companiiternal control over financial reporting as afd@mbe
31, 2014, based on criteria established in 20#8rnal Control—Integrated Framewoiksued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organiza
of the Treadway Commission (2013 COSO). The Comgamanagement is responsible for these financitdrstents, for maintaining effecti
internal control over financial reporting, and fts assessment of the effectiveness of internairebaver financial reporting, included in 1
accompanying ManagemestReport on Internal Control Over Financial RepaytiOur responsibility is to express an opiniortteese financi:
statements and an opinion on the Company'’s intearatrol over financial reporting based on our &udi

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstaits of the Public Company Accounting OversighamBioUnited States). Those stand.
require that we plan and perform the audits to inbtaasonable assurance about whether the finastaééments are free of mate
misstatement and whether effective internal cordr@r financial reporting was maintained in all erél respects. Our audits of the finan
statements included examining, on a test basisleage supporting the amounts and disclosures irfitlaacial statements, assessing
accounting principles used and significant estisiateade by management, and evaluating the ovemnalhdial statement presentation. Our &
of internal control over financial reporting inckdl obtaining an understanding of internal contk@rdinancial reporting, assessing the risk
a material weakness exists, and testing and ewuadutite design and operating effectiveness of iralecontrol based on the assessed risk
audits also included performing such other proceslas we considered necessary in the circumstavwedelieve that our audits provid
reasonable basis for our opinions.

A companys internal control over financial reporting is @@ess designed to provide reasonable assuranaeliregthe reliability of financie
reporting and the preparation of financial statetmdor external purposes in accordance with gelyemicepted accounting principles
companys internal control over financial reporting inclediose policies and procedures that (1) pertatheéanaintenance of records tha
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleet tlransactions and dispositions of the assetseotdmpany; (2) provide reasonable assui
that transactions are recorded as necessary toitpgraparation of financial statements in accorédamdth generally accepted accoun
principles, and that receipts and expenditureshef dompany are being made only in accordance withoaizations of management
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanalssurance regarding prevention or timely deteatiounauthorized acquisition, use
disposition of the company’s assets that could lzanweterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢taisstatements. Also, projections of
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods atgect to the risk that controls may become inadégjbecause of changes in conditions, o
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdoces may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the financial statements referredlbove present fairly, in all material respedts, financial position of Celsion Corporatior
of December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the results ofpierations and its cash flows for each of thes/@ the three year period ended Dece
31, 2014 in conformity with accounting principlesngrally accepted in the United States of Amerdso in our opinion, Celsion Corporati
maintained, in all material respects, effectiveeinal control over financial reporting as of DecemB1, 2014, based on criteria establishe
2013 Internal Control—Integrated Framewoiissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatioihnthe Treadway Commission (2(
COSO0).

/sl Stegman & Compat

Baltimore, Maryland
March 12, 2015
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CELSION CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,

201 4 201 3
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 12,686,888 $ 5,718,50.
Investment securities — available for sale, at\alue 24,173,40 37,156,38
Accrued interest receivable on investment secasritie 210,03( 212,04t
Advances and deposits on clinical programs 200,82: 111,63!
Other current assets 235,13 563,55:
37,506,27 43,762,11
Property and equipment(at cost, less accumulated depreciation and aratidiz of $1,633,517
and $1,264,190, respectively) 1,170,49 832,88t
Other assets:
In-process research and development 25,801,72 -
Goodwill 1,976,10. -
Security deposit on letter of credit 150,00( 200,00t
Deferred financing fees 68,04¢ 844,24
Other assets 21,88¢ 31,31¢
28,017,76 1,075,56
Total assets $ 66,694,53 $ 45,670,57

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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CELSION CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(Continued)

December 31,

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable- trade $
Other accrued liabilities
Notes payable - current portion
Deferred revenue — current portion

Total current liabilities

Earn-Out milestone liability

Common stock warrant liability

Note payable — non-current portion
Deferred revenue — non-current portion
Other liabilities — noncurrent

Total liabilities

Commitments and contingencies

Stockholders’ equity:

Preferred Stock -Gk01 par value (100,000 shares authorized and areslissued or outstandi
at December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively)

Common stock - $0.01 par value (75,000,000 sharé®ezed; 20,097,603 and 13,737,970
shares issued at December 31, 2014 and 2013 a@841203 and 13,604,975 shares
outstanding at December 31, 2014 and 2013, respbgti

Additional paid-in capital

Accumulated other comprehensive loss

Accumulated deficit

Treasury stock, at cost (113,400 and 132,995 slieecember 31, 2014 and 2013,
respectively)

Total stockholders’ equity

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $

201 4 201 3
3,480,22! 1,452,43
2,456,36! 2,707,65:
3,654,23 10,89:

500,00 500,00
10,090,82 4,670,98!
13,663,71 -

275,00 3,02¢

6,053,06! 5,000,001
3,500,001 4,000,001

286,59: 472,73
33,869,19 14,146,73

200,97 137,38

229,778,70 203,139,14

(16,032) (44,166)

(195,073,70) (169,287,15)
34,889,094 33,945,19
(2,064,60) (2,421,36)
32,825,33 31,523,83
66,69453 $ 4567057

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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CELSION CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Year ended December 31,

201 4 2013 201 2
Licensing revenue $ 500,000 $ 500,00( —
Operating expenses:
Research and development 14,969,38 9,364,22 15,770,16
General and administrative 8,860,54! 6,547,25 6,372,55.
Acquisition costs 1,385,26. - -
Total operating expenses 25,215,19 15,911,48 22,142,71
Loss from operations (24,715,19) (15,411,48) (22,142,71)
Other income (expense):
Gain (loss) from valuation of common stock warrzadility 204,27¢ 8,090,633 (4,117,53)
Gain from valuation of earn-out milestone liability 213,94¢ = =
Investment income (loss), net 77,19« (12,744 52,32:
Interest expense (1,326,43) (915,23) (359,41)
Other income (expense) 51,931 (2,530 (1,040
Total other (expense) income (779,079 7,160,12 (4,425,66)
Net loss (25,494,27) (8,251,35)) (26,568,38)
Non-cash deemed dividend from beneficial conversiotufeaon convertibl
preferred stock = (4,601,41)) -
Net loss attributable to common shareholders $  (2549427) $  (12,852,76) (26,568,38)
Net loss per common share — basic and diluted $ (139 $ (0.99) (349
18,472,39 13,540,56 7,730,90.

Weighted average common shares outstanding — basind diluted

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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CELSION CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

December 31,

2014 201 3 201 2
Net loss $ (25,494,27) $ (8,251,35) $ (26,568,38)
Changes in:
Realized loss on investment securities recogniaéaviestment income, ne 24,72° 92,36¢ 7,58(
Unrealized (loss) gain on investment securities 3,40: (9,929 142,51
Other comprehensive income 28,13¢ 82,44: 150,09:
Comprehensive loss $ (25,466,13) $ (8,168,91) $ (26,418,28)

See accompanying notes to the financial statements
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CELSION CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year ended December 31,

2014 201 3 201 2
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss $ (25,494,27) $ (8,251,35) $ (26,568,38)
Non-cash items included in net loss:
Depreciation and amortization 369,32 339,22¢ 281,48
Change in fair value of common stock warrant liapil (204,279 (8,090,63)) 4,117,53
Change in fair value of earn-out milestone liabilit (213,949 - -
Cash received for non-refundable research and deveint fee — 5,000,001 -
Deferred revenue (500,00() (500,000 -
Stock based compensation 2,585,13 1,235,43 1,143,76.
Shares issued out of treasury 64,48: 98,04¢ 107,04¢
Amortization of deferred finance charges and déttalint associated w
note payable 437,99: 336,38° 43,21¢
Amortization of patent license fee 7,50( 7,50( 7,50(
Change in deferred rent liability (24,379 (18,940 55,25¢
Loss realized on sale of investment securities 24,72° 92,36¢ 7,58(
Net changes in:
Interest receivable on investments 2,01¢ (146,12) 177,82(
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 77,46¢ (121,23) 585,59!
Deposits and other assets 1,93: (116,18) 18,72:
Accounts payable 1,764,56: (887,33)) (1,344,37)
Other accrued liabilities (251,289 1,497,561 (776,95
Net cash used in operating activities (21,353,02) (9,525,27i) (22,144,19)
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of investment securities (29,825,91) (66,323,05) (16,394,35)
Proceeds from sale and maturity of investment $@esir 42,812,30 37,194,37 18,478,59
Cash used in acquisition of EGEN, Inc., net of casieived (2,820,64) - -
Refund on security for letter of credit 50,00( 50,00( =
Purchases of property and equipment (672,250 (57,499 (613,390
Net cash provided by (used in) by investing activiis 9,543,47 (29,136,17) 1,470,84.
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from sale of preferred stock, net of issei@osts — 13,616,43 -
Proceeds from sale of common stock equity, nesafance costs 13,788,81 15,622,95 -
Proceeds from exercise of common stock warrants - 261,94 10,106,55
Proceeds from exercise of common stock options - 184,04° 697,22(
Proceeds from note payable 5,000,001 4,763,80: 4,825,49.
Principal payments on note payable (10,89 (5,060,71) (110,28)
Net cash provided by financing activities 18,777,92 29,388,471 15,518,98
Increase (d ecrease) in cash and cash equivalents 6,968,37 (9,272,98) (5,154,361
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 5,718,50. 14,991,48 20,145,85
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 12,686,888 $ 5,718,50. $ 14,991,48
Cash paid for:
Interest $ 892,60( $ 637,18. $ 359,41.
Income taxes $ - $ - 9 -

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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CELSION CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2014, 2013 AND 2012

Common Stock

Outstanding Treasury Stock Accum.
Additional Other
Paid in Compr.  Accumulated
Shares Amount Capital Shares Amount Income Deficit Total
Balance at January 1, 201
2 7,374,73° $ 75,33: $158,887,40 158,38: $(2,884,12) $ (267,700 $(129,608,34) $ 26,193,56
Net loss - - - - - - (26,568,38) (26,568,38)

Unrealized gain on

investments available fo

sale - - - - - 150,09: - 150,09:
Valuation of common stoc

warrants in connection

with notes payable - - 73,65¢ - - - - 73,65¢
Conversion of common

stock warrants 845,52¢ 8,45k 10,156,43 - - - - 10,164,89
Stock-based compensatio

expense - - 1,143,76. - - - - 1,143,76.
Issuance of restricted stoc !

and option exercise 58,61¢ 58¢€ 696,64 - - - - 697,22(
Issuance of common stocl

out of treasury 10,62+ - - (10,629 193,61« - (86,56%) 107,04¢
Balance at December 31,
2012 8,28950 $ 84,37! $170,957,89 147,76( $(2,690,51) $ (126,60) $(156,263,28) $ 11,961,85

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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Balance at
January 1,
2013

Net loss
Preferred
stock offering
Non-cash
dividend on
beneficial
conversion
feature
associated
with the
preferred
stock offering
Conversion
of preferred
stock
Registered
Direct and
ATM
common
stock
offerings
Classificatior
of warrants
to/from
common
stock warran
liability, net
Conversion
of common
stock
warrants
Valuation of
common
stock
warrants in
connection
with notes
payable
Unrealized
gain on
investments
available for
sale

Stock-based
compensatio

CELSION CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (continued)

Preferred Stock
Outstanding

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2014, 2013 AND 2012

Shares Amount

Common Stock Accum.
Outstanding Additional Treasury Stock Other
Paid in Compr. Accumulated
Shares  Amount Capital Shares  Amount Income Deficit Total

15,00:

(15,007

15C

(150)

8,289,50 $ 84,37 $170,957,89 147,76( $(2,690,51) $(126,607) $(156,263,28) $11,961,85
(8,251,35) (8,251,35)

- - 18,217,70 - - - - 18,217,85

; - ; - - - (4,601,41) (4,601,41)
2,682,750 26,82 (26,67 - - - - -
2,588,03 2588( 15,598,67 - - - - 15,624,55
- - (3,809,73) 1 - - - (3,809,73)

18,02 18C 261,76 - - - - 261,94«

- - 521,76: 1 - - - 521,76

- - - - - 82,44 - 82,44



expense
Issuance of
restricted
stock and
option
exercise
Issuance of
common
stock out of
treasury
Fractional
share
payment
Balance at
December
31, 2013

- - 1,235,43 - - - - 1,235,43

12,87: 12¢ 183,91¢ - - - - 184,04
14,76 - - (14,76%) 269,14 - (171,10) 98,04¢
(981) (10) (1,595) - - - - (1,605)

13,604,97 $137,38( $203,139,14 132,99! $(2,421,36) $ (44,166 $(169,287,15) $31,523,83

See accompanying notes to the financial statements
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CELSION CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (continued)

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2014, 2013 AND 2012

Common Stock Accum.
Outstanding Additional Treasury Stock Other
Paid in Compr.  Accumulated
Shares Amount Capital Shares Amount Income Deficit Total

Balance at January 1, 201
4 13,604,97 $ 137,38( $203,139,14 132,99 $(2,421,36) $ (44,16¢) $(169,287,15) $ 31,523,83
Net loss - - - - - - (25,494,27) (25,494,27)
Registered Direct commor

stock offering 3,603,60: 36,03¢ 13,752,77 - - - - 13,788,81
Common stock issued in

connection with the

acquisition of EGEN, Inc

assets 2,712,18 27,12: 10,823,85 - - - - 10,850,97
Valuation of common stoc

warrants issued in

connection with the

November 2013 Hercule

Loan - - (521,769 - - - - (521,76))
Unrealized gain on

investments available fo

sale - - - - - 28,13 - 28,13«
Stock-based compensatio

expense - - 2,513,04, - - - - 2,513,04.
Issuance of restricted stoc 43,84: 43¢ 71,65: - - - - 72,09(
Issuance of common stocl

out of treasury 19,59¢ - - (19,599 356,75" - (292,27)) 64,48:
Balance at December 31,
2014 19,984,20 $ 200,97t $229,778,70 113,400 $(2,064,60) $ (16,037 $(195,073,70) $ 32,825,33

See accompanying notes to the financial statements
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CELSION CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2014, 2013 AND 2@

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Description of Busines

Celsion Corporation, a Delaware corporation baseddawrenceville, New Jersey, and its wholly ownetdssdiary, CLSN Laboratories, In
also a Delaware corporation, referred to hereitf\Gadsion”, “we”, or “the Company,” as the contexquires, is a fullyintegrated oncolog
drug development company focused on developing #fotio of innovative cancer treatments, includirdirected chemotherapi
immunotherapies and RNA- or DNA-based therapies.|€ad program is ThermoDox®, a proprietary hacetivated liposomal encapsulat
of doxorubicin, currently in Phase Il developmémtthe treatment of primary liver cancer. Our pipe also includes GEN-(formerly knowi
as EGEN-001), a DNAased immunotherapy for the localized treatmemivaiian and brain cancers. We have three platfeahriologies fc
the development of treatments for those sufferiitt difficult-to-treat forms of cancer, novel nueacidbased immunotherapies and o
anti-<cancer DNA or RNA therapies, including TheraPlasi¥ @heraSilence™. We are working to develop andmeruialize more efficier
effective and targeted oncology therapies baseduortechnologies, with the goal to develop novelrapeutics that maximize efficacy wi
minimizing side-effects common to cancer treatments

Basis of Presentatio

The accompanying consolidated financial statemeh@elsion have been prepared in accordance witlkergdly accepted accounting princi
(“GAAP”) in the United States and include the accounts ef @mpany and CLSN Laboratories, Inc. All interpamy balances a
transactions have been eliminated. The preparafidimancial statements in conformity with GAAP téges management to make judgme
estimates, and assumptions that affect the amepotted in the Companyfinancial statements and accompanying notesualcgsults coul
differ materially from these estimates.

Events and conditions arising subsequent to the megent balance sheet date have been evaluatedeiorpossible impact on the finan:
statements and accompanying notes. No eventc@mditions would give rise to any information thafjuired accounting recognition
disclosure in the financial statements other thwsé arising in the ordinary course of businese Sote 18 for a summary of subseq
events.

Certain items in the prior period financial statesehave been reclassified to conform to the ctiperiod presentation.

Revenue Recognitic

At the inception of each collaborative agreemerdt timcludes milestone payments, the Company ewduathether each milestone
substantive on the basis of the contingent natfiteeomilestone, specifically reviewing factors ks the scientific and other risks that mu:
overcome to achieve the milestone, as well aseel bf effort and investment required. Milestottest are not considered substantive anc
do not meet the separation criteria are accourdead license payments and recognized on a stiighbasis over the remaining perioc
performance. Payments received or reasonably abkatter performance obligations are met complededyrecognized as earned.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hantheestments purchased with an original maturityhmée months or less. A portion of th
funds are not covered by FDIC insurance.

Fair Value of Financial Instrumen

The carrying values of financial instruments apprate their respective fair values.
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Short Term Investments

The Company classifies its investments in marketaglcurities with readily determinable fair valwes investments available-feale ir
accordance with Accounting Standards Codificatid8C) 320,Investments - Debt and Equity Securitiésvailable-forsale securities cons
of debt and equity securities not classified aditig securities or as securities to be held to nitgtuThe Company has classified all of
investments as available-for-sale. Unrealized mgidgains and losses on available-dafe securities are reported as a net amot
accumulated other comprehensive gain or loss itketdders’ equity until realized. Gains and lossaghe sale of available-faale securitie
are determined using the specific identificationtime. The Companyg’ short term investments consist of corporate b@mik governme
agency bonds.

Property and Equipmel

Property and equipment is stated at cost less adetea depreciation. Depreciation is provided aber estimated useful lives of the rele
assets, ranging from three to seven years, usigtthightine method. Major renewals and improvements apétalized at cost and ordine
repairs and maintenance are charged against apgetpenses as incurred. Depreciation expense pyaexamately $369,000, $339,000
$281,500 for years ended December 31, 2014, 204 2@12, respectively.

The Company reviews property and equipment for impent whenever events or changes in circumstaincésate that the carrying amoun
an asset may not be recoverable. An asset is @yesidmpaired if its carrying amount exceeds thiar&inet undiscounted cash flows that
asset is expected to generate. If such asset &dsoad to be impaired, the impairment recognizetthié amount by which the carrying amc
of the asset, if any, exceeds its fair value deit@thusing a discounted cash flow model.

Deposits

Deposits include real property security deposits aher deposits which are contractually requined af a long-term nature.

Goodwill and In-P rocess Research and Development

During 2014, the Company acquired certain asseG#EN, Inc. As more fully described in Note 5, #Hugjuisition was accounted for under
acquisition method of accounting which required@mmpany to perform an allocation of the purchasgefo the assets acquired and liabil
assumed. Under the acquisition method of accounthegtotal purchase price is allocated to netitdagand intangible assets and liabili
based on their estimated fair values as of theisitiqun date.

Patent License

The Company has purchased several licenses fasrighpatented technologies. Patent license cdski63)125 have been capitalized anc
amortized on a straighine basis over the estimated life of the relatatept. As of December 31, 2014, the total accuradlamortizatio
expense is $41,500. The weighted-average amodizagriod for these assets is 10 years.

Comprehensive Income (Loss)

ASC 220,Comprehensive Incomeestablishes standards for the reporting and alispf comprehensive income and its components &
Companys consolidated financial statements. The objeaifv&SC 220 is to report a measure (comprehensigenie (loss)) of all changes
equity of an enterprise that result from transaxtiand other economic events in a period otherttiaasactions with owners.

Research and Developme

Research and development costs are expensed aethcaquipment and facilities acquired for reskand development activities that h
alternative future uses are capitalized and chatgespense over their estimated useful lives.

F-11




Net Loss Per Common She

Basic and diluted net income/(loss) per commoneshas computed by dividing net income/(loss) fer ylear by the weighted average nur
of shares of Common Stock outstanding, both basét diluted, during each period. The impact of Comn&iock equivalents has bt
excluded from the computation of diluted weightegrage common shares outstanding in periods where is a net loss, as their effec
anti-dilutive.

For the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 arig] B0fstanding equity awards of 1,751,773, 863&6® 729,825 shares, respectively,
warrants outstanding to purchase 5,069,815, 3,200a8d 1,747,478 shares, respectively, were corsldmtidilutive and therefore were r
included in the calculation of diluted shares.

Income Taxe

Income taxes are accounted for under the assdtadnility method. Under this method, deferred tasets and liabilities are recognized for
future tax consequences attributable to differerstareen the financial statement carrying amouhexisting assets and liabilities and tl
respective tax bases and operating loss and tait aary forwards. Deferred tax assets and liediare measured using enacted tax
expected to apply to taxable income in the yeanghiich those temporary differences are expecteoetoecovered or settled. The effec
deferred tax asset and liabilities of a changeainrates is recognized in results of operationthénperiod that the tax rate change oci
Valuation allowances are established, when necgstsareduce deferred tax assets to the amountceeghéo be realized. In accordance
ASC 740,Income Taxesa tax position is recognized as a benefit onlyt isi“more likely than notthat the tax position taken would
sustained in a tax examination, presuming thak @xamination will occur. The Company recognizdsriast and/or penalties related to inc
tax matters in the income tax expense category dtmpany remains subject to examination for inctemeeturns for the years ending &
2010.

Stock-Based Compensation

Compensation costs for all stobksed awards is measured at fair value on thedatee grant and recognized over the service pefdc
awards expected to vest. Such value is recogrigezkpense over the service period. The estimafistockbased awards that will ultimat:
vest requires judgment, and to the extent actiwllt®or updated estimates differ from the curestimates, such amounts will be recorde
cumulative adjustment in the period estimates evesed. We consider many factors when estimatimected forfeitures, including types
awards, employee class, and historical experience.

Recent Accounting Pronounceme

From time to time, new accounting pronouncemengsissued by FASB and are adopted by us as of teeifgul effective date. Unle
otherwise discussed, we believe that the impactad#ntly issued accounting pronouncements will@et a material impact on the Company’
consolidated financial position, results of operasi, and cash flows, or do not apply to our openati

In May 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standargddte No. 2014-0®evenue from Contracts with Custom@rspic 606). This guidan:
is intended to improve and converge with internalistandards the financial reporting requiremémtsevenue from contracts with custom
It will be effective for our first quarter of 201ahd early adoption is not permitted.

2. FINANCIAL CONDITION

Since inception, the Company has incurred substampierating losses, principally from expenses @asad with the Compang’research ai
development programs, clinical trials conducteddnnection with the Comparg/product candidates, and applications and subonisso th
Food and Drug Administration. The Company beliehese expenditures are essential for the commizatiain of its technologies. As a res
of these expenditures, as well as general and aslnaitive expenses, the Company has an accumutiédit of $195 million as ¢
December 31, 2014.

The Company expects its operating losses to comtiouthe foreseeable future as it continues itglpet development efforts, and whe
undertakes marketing and sales activities. The @moiyip ability to achieve profitability is dependent npiés ability to obtain governmen
approvals, produce, and market and sell its newymocandidates. There can be no assurance th@otin@any will be able to commercial
its technology successfully or that profitabilitylivever be achieved. The operating results of Gleenpany have fluctuated significantly in
past. The Company expects that its operating esult fluctuate significantly in the future and lWilepend on a number of factors, man
which are outside the Company’s control.
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The Company will need substantial additional fugdin order to complete the development, testing emmimercialization of its oncolo
product candidates and we have made a significamindtment to hea&ctivated liposome research and development peogeatl it is oL
intention at least to maintain, and possibly inseggdhe pace and scope of these activities. Thenéioment to these new projects will reqt
additional external funding, at least until the Gxamy is able to generate sufficient cash flow fisate of one or more of its products to sug
its continued operations.

If adequate funding is not available, the Compaiay ilme required to delay, scale back or terminaticeaspects of its operations or attem
obtain funds through unfavorable arrangements wétners or others that may force it to relinquigihts to certain of its technologi
products or potential markets or that could imposerous financial or other terms. Furthermoreh& Company cannot fund its ongc
development and other operating requirements, qudatily those associated with its obligations tadwrct clinical trials under its licensi
agreements, it will be in breach of these licensiggeements and could therefore lose its licenggs;i which could have material adve
effects on its business. Management is continumefforts to obtain additional funds so that th@pany can meet its obligations and su:
operations.

3. SHORT TERM INVESTMENTS AVAILABLE FOR SALE

Short term investments available for sale of $23,406 and $37,156,381 as of December 31, 2014 @h8, 2espectively, consist of mor
market funds, commercial paper, corporate debtrggsy and government agency debt securities. Enewalued at estimated fair value, \
unrealized gains and losses reported as a segaraponent of stockholders’ equity in Accumulateti@tComprehensive Income.

Securities available for sale are evaluated perallyi to determine whether a decline in their val@ther than temporary. The termitlie
than temporaryis not intended to indicate a permanent declinealne. Rather, it means that the prospects for teem recovery of value ¢
not necessarily favorable, or that there is a latlkevidence to support fair values equal to, oratge than, the carrying value of
security. Management reviews criteria such asntiagnitude and duration of the decline, as wellhesreasons for the decline, to pre
whether the loss in value is other than tempor@wce a decline in value is determined to be att@n temporary, the value of the securi
reduced and a corresponding charge to earningsdgnized.

A summary of the cost, fair value and maturitiesha Company’s short-term investments is as follows

Short-term investments
Certificate of deposit

Bonds- corporate issuances
Total short-term investments

Short-term investment maturities
Within 3 months

Between 3-12 months

Total
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December 31, 201 4

December 31, 201 3

Cost Fair Value

Cosi Fair Value

$ 5,000,000 $ 4,996,56
19,189,43 19,176,83

$ 3,840,000 $ 3,835,08:
33,360,57 33,321,29

$ 24,189,43 $ 24,173,40

$ 37,200,57 $ 37,156,38

December 31, 201 4

December 31, 201 3

Cost Fair Value

Cost Fair Value

$ 16,881,49 $ 16,872,15
7,307,94 7,301,24:

$ 7,799,03 $ 7,797,68!
29,401,54 29,358,69.

$ 24,189,43 $ 24,173,40

$ 37,200,57 $ 37,156,38




Investment income, which includes net realizeddesm sales of available for sale securities angsiment income interest and dividends, is
summarized as follows:

2014 2013 2012

Interest and dividends accrued and paid $ 1,015,18. $ 748,94 $ 712,94
Accretion of investment premium (913,26) (669,34, (652,96()
Losses on investment maturity and sales, net (24,72)) (92,34¢) (7,580)
$ 77,19¢  $ (12,749 $ 52,32:

In 2009, the Company recorded an equity investméapproximately $108,000 for stock received aflesaent of a transition agreement
Company previously entered into. The $108,000 asdet reflected the estimated net realizable vafu@03,112 shares of Medifocus Inc
the time of settlement. As of December 31, 2011k, émtire amount had been reduced to $0 and wageatas an unrealized loss in o
comprehensive loss. During the fourth quarter df2Ghe Company sold this stock for approximatel@&000, thereby recording a reali
gain of approximately $30,000 in investment incaane reversing the cumulative unrealized loss oBJI@ in other comprehensive loss.

The following table shows the Compagsyhvestment securities gross unrealized losse$a@ndalue by investment category and length o
that individual securities have been in a contiruonrealized loss position at December 31, 2014 20%8. The Company has reviey
individual securities to determine whether a dexlmfair value below the amortizable cost basitliger than temporary.

December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013

Unrealized Unrealized

Holding Holding

Gains Gains

Description of Securities Fair Value (Losses, Fair Value (Losses
Available for Sale (all unrealized holding gaingldosses are le

than 12 months at date of measurement)

Short-term investments with unrealized gains - - $ 6,650,09 $ 1,907

Short-term investments with unrealized losses 24,173,40 (16,03)) 30,506,28 (46,079)

Total $ 2417340 $ (16,039) $ 37,156,38 $ (44,166

4. FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

FASB Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) Sett®20,Fair Value Measurements and Disclosurestablishes a three tier level hiera
for fair value measurements which requires anemdtmaximize the use of observable inputs and mmizé the use of unobservable ing
when measuring fair value. The standard descrhireg tevels of inputs that may be used to measiredlue:

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) or identicaless or liabilities in active markets that the ®nhias the ability to access as of
measurement date.

Level 2: Significant other observable inputs ottian Level 1 prices such as quoted prices for aimaigsets or liabilities; quoted pri
in markets that are not active; or other inputs #ma observable or can be corroborated by obskervasrket data.

Level 3: Significant unobservable inputs that reffle reporting entityg own assumptions that market participants wouddingricing
an asset or liability.

The fair values of securities available for sale determined by obtaining quoted prices on natipmatognized exchanges (Level 1 inputs

matrix pricing, which is a mathematical techniquiglely used in the industry to value debt securitigdout relying exclusively on quot
prices for the specific securities but rather Hying on the securities’ relationship to other bemark quoted securities (Level 2 inputs).
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Cash and cash equivalents, other current assetsjats payable and other accrued liabilities afleated in the balance sheet at their estirr
fair values primarily due to their shagrm nature. There were no transfers of assetalufifies between Level 1 and Level 2 and no tfars
in or out of Level 3 during 2014 except for the mha in the fair market value of the warrant liailind the change in the easnt mileston
liability were included in earnings.

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value arermarized below:

Quoted
Prices
In Active
Markets
Total Fair For Significant
Value on Identical Other Significant
the Assets Observable Unobservable
Balance /Liabilities Inputs Inputs
Sheet (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Assets:
Recurring items as of December 31, 2014
Short-term investments available for sale $ 24,173,40 $ 24,173,40 — =
Non-recurring items as of December 31, 2014
In-process research and development (Note 5) $ 25,801,72 — — $ 25,801,72
Goodwill (Note 5) $ 1,976,10. - — $ 1,976,10
Recurring items as of December 31, 2013
Short-term investments available for sale $ 37,156,38 $ 37,156,38 - =
Liabilities:
Recurring items as of December 31, 2014
Common stock warrant liability (Note 13) $ 275,00¢ — - $ 275,00t
Earn-out milestone liability (Note 12) $ 13,663,71 — — $ 13,663,71
As of December 31, 2013
Common stock warrant liability (Note 13) $ 3,02¢ — - $ 3,02¢

5. ACQUISITION OF EGEN, INC .

On June 20, 2014, Celsion completed the acquisitfosubstantially all of the assets of EGEN, Iram, Alabama Corporation (EGEN)
pursuant to an Asset Purchase Agreement (EGEN BsecAgreement). CLSN Laboratories, Inc., a Delaveargoration and a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Celsion (CLSN Laboratoriesjjuaed all of EGEN'’s right, title and interest indato substantially all of the assets of
EGEN, including cash and cash equivalents, patdrademarks and other intellectual property riglisical data, certain contracts,
licenses and permits, equipment, furniture, offiggiipment, furnishings, supplies and other tangieiesonal property. In addition, CLSN
Laboratories assumed certain specified liabilitdeEGEN, including the liabilities arising out dfe acquired contracts and other assets
relating to periods after the closing date.

The total aggregate purchase price for the acpnsis up to $44.4 million, which includes potehtiature payments of up to $30.4 milli
contingent upon achievement of certain milestormdarth in the EGEN Purchase Agreement (Eaui-Payments). At the closing, Cels
paid approximately $3.0 million in cash after expermdjustment and issued 2,712,188 shares of ntsnoo stock to EGEN. The shares
Celsions common stock were issued in a private transaai@mpt from registration under the Securities 8&£t1933, as amended (
Securities Act), pursuant to Section 4(2) theréofaddition, 670,070 shares of Celsion common stoekissuable to EGEN on or after Aug
2, 2016 pending satisfactory resolution of any jmbssing adjustments of expenses and EGENdemnification obligations under the EG
Purchase Agreement (Holdback Shares). A Registrdiiatement (File No. 33B98786) was filed on September 16, 2014 and del
effective on September 30, 2014 for the resalehef shares of common stock issued and issuable ®©NE@der the EGEN Purch:
Agreement.
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The EarnOut Payments of up to $30.4 million will become ghlg, in cash, shares of Celsion common stock asrabination thereof,
Celsion’s option, as follows:

® Certain specified development milestones relatinGEN-1 to treat ovarian cancer patients ($12.Ganj;
e Certain specified development milestones relaiinGEN-1 to treat GBM cancer patients ($12.0 wil); and
e A self-liquidating payment of 50% of all fees eded from the licensing of TherSilence (up to $®iion).

On June 9, 2014, Celsion borrowed an additionahfton pursuant to a certain Loan and Security égment dated as of November 25, 2
by and between Celsion and Hercules Technology @r&@mpital, Inc. (see Note 10). Celsion usedidla@® proceeds to pay the upfront ¢
payment at closing and certain transaction costsriad by Celsion in connection with the acquisitio

The EGEN Purchase Agreement contains customareseptations and warranties regarding EGEN and &@glsiovenants regarding
conduct of EGENs business prior to the consummation of the adiprisiindemnification provisions, termination anther provision
customary for transactions of this nature.

The acquisition of EGEN was accounted for undetattguisition method of accounting which requireel @ompany to perform an allocatior
the purchase price to the assets acquired anditlebiassumed. The fair value of the consideratiansferred for the acquisition

approximately $27.6 million determined as follows:

Consideration Paid at Closing

Cash, net of cash acquired $ 2,821,001
Celsion common stock (2,712,188 shares valued.4B$8hich was the last closing price of our commo
stock at the time of closing the transaction oreJ2®, 2014) 9,438,001

Future Consideration
Holdback Shares (670,070 shares of Celsion comtaah svhich were discounted by 38% to reflect th

cost of the restriction) 1,441,001
Earn-Out Payments (at fair value*) 13,878,00
Total fair value of consideration $ 27,578,00

* The total aggregate purchase price for the Egequisition included potential future Earn-Out Ragnts contingent
upon achievement of certain milestones. The diffeeebetween the aggregate $30.4 million in futueenEDut
Payments and the $13.9 million included in the Yaiue of the acquisition consideration at June2®14 was based
on the Company's risk-adjusted assessment of edestome and utilizing a discount rate based orettanated time
to achieve the milestone. These milestone paymwititbe fair valued at the end of each quarter angl change in
their value will be recognized in the financialtstaent. As of December 31, 2014, the Company fawad these
milestones at $13.7 million and recognized a gdi$281,949 as a result of the change in the faluev@f these
milestones from June 30, 2014.

Under the acquisition method of accounting, thaltptirchase price is allocated to EGENiet tangible and intangible assets and liakd
based on their estimated fair values as of theiaitipm date. The table below summarizes the piielimy estimated fair values of EGENhe
tangible and intangible assets and liabilitieslmndcquisition date. The purchase price allocatwagreliminary and subject to change as |
detailed analyses are completed and additionatritdtion with respect to the fair values of the &saed liabilities acquired becomes availa
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Property and equipment, net 35,00(

In-process research and development 25,802,00
Goodwill 1,976,001
Total assets: 27,813,00
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (235,001
Net assets acquire $ 27,578,00

The preliminary purchase price exceeds the estohfaie value of the net assets acquired by appratetg $2.0 million which was recorded
goodwill. Transaction costs associated with theuaition of assets from EGEN are included in Acdiga Costs in the Condens
Consolidated Statement of Operations and totale@B8$1263 from the date of acquisition on June Bad42hrough December 31, 2014.

Acquired In-Process Research and Development (IPR&D)

Acquired IPR&D consists of EGEN's drug technolodgtiorms: TheraPlas” and TheraSilente. The fair value of the IPR&D dr
technology platforms was estimated to be $25.8ionilas of the acquisition date using the M&é&riod Excess Earnings Method (MPEE
which is a form of the income approach. Under theB#M, the fair value of an intangible asset is éqoidhe present value of the asset’
incremental aftetax cash flows (excess earnings) remaining afteudéng the market rates of return on the estimaidde of contributor
assets (contributory charge) over its remainindulidiée.

To calculate fair value ahe IPR&D programs under the MPEEM, we used projected castsfldiscounted at a rate considered approj
given the significant inherent risks associatechwidtug development by developmestikge companies. Cash flows were calculated bai
estimated projections of revenues and expensetededia the IPR&D programs and then reduced by ariborory charge on requisite ast
employed. Contributory assets included debé working capital, net fixed assets and assednbvterkforce. Rates of return on the contribu
assets were based on rates used for comparabletparticipants. Cash flows were assumed to extamtigh a sevegear market exclusivi
period. The resultant cash flows were then diselind present value using a weightagtrage cost of equity capital for companies

profiles substantially similar to that of Celsiamhich we believe represents the rate that markeicpgzants would use to value the assets.
projected cash flows were based on significantrapsions, including the indication in which we wilirsue development of IPR&D progra
the time and resources needed to complete theajeueht and regulatory approval of IPR&D progranstineates of revenue and opera
profit related to the program considering its stafalevelopment, the life of the potential commalized product, market penetration

competition, and risks associated with achievingueercialization, including delay or failure to ointaegulatory approvals to conduct clini
studies, failure of clinical studies, delay or aé to obtain required market clearances, andéctelal property litigation.

As of the closing of the acquisition, the IPR&D densidered indefinite lived intangible assets arilll mot be amortized. IPR&D will
reviewed for possible impairment on an annual bagisach year end or more frequently if eventsradizative of impairment.

Pro Forma Information

The following unaudited pro forma information preteour condensed results of operations as if togisition of EGEN had occurred
January 1, 2013:

Year ended
December 31,
201¢ 2013
Revenues $ 500,00( $ 627,62
Loss from operations (24,898,72) (18,247,33)
Net loss applicable to common shareholc (25,662,57) (15,952,83)

The above unaudited pro forma condensed consalidatancial information is presented for illustkegipurposes only. It is not necess:
indicative of what the results of operations adyualould have been had the acquisition been coraglen the date indicated. In additiot
does not purport to project the future operatirsylts of the combined entity.
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The operations of EGEN are included with our openatfrom the period of closing of the acquisitimm June 20, 2014 to the end of 2014.
Company$ Statement of Operations included $2,297,000 efaimg expenses related to the operations ofdfeieed business for the per
from the date of acquisition (June 20, 2014) thtoDgcember 31, 2014.

6. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT:

December 31

December 31

2014 2013
Machinery and equipment (5-7 year life) $ 2,298,511 $ 1,674,201
Furniture and fixtures (3-5 year life) 235,67¢ 153,05:
Leasehold improvements (5-7 year life) 269,81¢ 269,81¢
2,804,01 2,097,071
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (1,633,51) (1,264,19))
Total $ 1,17049 $ 832,88t
7. OTHER ACCRUED LIABILITIES
Other accrued liabilities at December 31, 20142018 include the following:
December 31 December 31
2014 2013
Amounts due to Contract Research Organizations#ret contractual agreements $ 857,73( $ 1,711,93
Accrued payroll and related benefits 961,44( 900,43«
Accrued professional fees 502,30( 63,50(
Accrued interest on notes payable 96,87: -
Other 38,02( 31,78¢
Total $ 2,456,36' $ 2,707,65.

8 . NOTES PAYABLE
Hercules Credit Agreemer

In November 2013, the Company entered into a l@gaeanent with Hercules Technology Growth Capitat, Hercules) which permits up
to $20 million in capital to be distributed in mple tranches (the Hercules Credit Agreement). Tooepany drew the first tranche of $5
million upon closing of the Hercules Credit Agreamé November 2013 and used approximately $4 omllof the proceeds to repay the
outstanding obligations under its loan agreemettt ®ixford Finance LLC and Horizon Technology Finai@orporation as discussed further
below. On June 10, 2014, the Company closed thengle®5 million tranche under the Hercules Creditefsgnent. The proceeds were used to
fund the $3.0 million upfront cash payment asseciaiith Celsion's acquisition of EGEN, as well he Company’s transaction costs
associated with the EGEN acquisition. Upon thaialp of this second tranche, the Company has ddomm a total of $10 million under the
Hercules Credit Agreement.

The obligations under the Hercules Credit Agreenseatin the form of secured indebtedness bearitegest at a calculated prime-based
variable rate (11.25% per annum since inceptioaynients under the loan agreement are interestfonte first twelve months after loan
closing, followed by a 30-month amortization perafcprincipal and interest through the scheduledunity date.

In connection with the Hercules Credit Agreemehg Company incurred cash expenses of $122,378 whék recorded as deferred
financing fees. These deferred financing feesbaiag amortized as interest expense using thetefeimterest method over the life of the
loan. Also in connection with the Hercules Crdehicility, the Company paid loan origination fees$@0,000 which has been classified as
debt discount. This amount is being amortized t@st expense using the effective interest metived the life of the loan.

As a fee in connection with the Hercules Credit éagnent, the Company issued Hercules a warrant fotah of 97,493 shares of the
Company’s common stock (the Hercules Warrant) aea share exercise price of $3.59, exercisablecé&sh or by net exercise from
November 25, 2013. Upon the closing of the seceoamthe on June 10, 2014, this warrant became eabteifor an additional 97,493 sha

of the Company’s common stock. The Hercules Warvalhtexpire November 25, 2018. Hercules has cartajhts to register the common
stock underlying the Hercules Warrant pursuant tRegistration Rights Agreement with the Companyedatovember 25, 2013. The
registration rights expire on the date when suobkstmay be sold under Rule 144 without restricborupon the first year anniversary of the
registration statement for such stock, whicheveyaidier. The common stock issuable pursuant tdHgreules Warrant was filed pursuant to
Rule 415 under the Securities Act of 1933 on thespectus for Registration Statement No. 333-193936 was declared effective on
September 30, 2014.
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The Company valued the Hercules Warrant issuetieairiception of the loan using the Black-Scholesooppricing model and recorded
$521,763 in 2013 as deferred financing fees. loutating the value of the warrants, the Comparsuased a volatility rate of 102%, risk free
interest rate of 1.37%, an expected life of 5 yearstock price of $3.55 (closing price on datehaf Hercules Warrant) and no expected
forfeitures nor dividends. In the second quarfe2@i4, the Company reassessed the classificafittireavarrants and concluded the original
amount should be reclassified from deferred finagdees and equity. Therefore, other assets antiadd paid in capital were both reduced
by the $521,763. The Company then valued the wafoaithe initial 97,493 shares of the Company’mowon stock as of the inception of the
loan and recorded $260,928 as a debt discount &oruetized as interest expense using the effeaitegest method over the life of the loan
and recognized a warrant liability for this amoulmt.connection with the closing of the second $3liom tranche on June 9, 2014, the
Company then valued the warrant for the additi@7adi93 shares of the Company’s common stock whedlaime available and exercisable as
of the date and recorded $215,333 as a debt distmixe amortized as interest expense using tleetefé interest method over the life of the
loan and recognized a warrant liability for thisamt. In calculating the value of the warrant foe tadditional shares of the Company’s
common stock on June 10, 2014, the Company assamelgdtility rate of 104%, risk free interest ratel.69%, an expected remaining life of
4.5 years, a stock price of $3.07 (closing priceel@, 2014) and no expected forfeitures nor divdderiThe warrant liability will be fair
valued at the end of each quarter and the resudtiagge in fair value will be recognized in netomz.

Also in connection with each of the $5.0 millioarnches, the Company will be required to pay anadrtdrm charge equal to 3.5% of each
original loan amount at time of maturity. Therefotkese amounts totaling $350,000 are being aneortas interest expense using the
effective interest method over the life of the loan

For the year ended December 31, 2014, the Compenyred $892,188 in interest expense and amor$2&83,839 as interest expense for
deferred fees, debt discount and end of term ckdrgeonnection with the Hercules Credit Agreement.

The Hercules Credit Agreement contains customawgmrants, including covenants that limit or resttice Company’s ability to grant liens,
incur indebtedness, make certain restricted paysnemgrge or consolidate and make dispositionss#tasUpon the occurrence of an event of
default under the Hercules Credit Agreement, thnelées may cease making loans, terminate the Herd@itedit Agreement, declare all
amounts outstanding to be immediately due and peyaihd foreclose on or liquidate the Company’s tastieat comprise the lenders’
collateral. The Hercules Credit Agreement specifiesumber of events of default (some of which argjext to applicable grace or cure
periods), including, among other things, non-payinaefaults, covenant defaults, a material adveffeeteon the Company or its assets, cross-
defaults to other material indebtedness, bankruptay insolvency defaults and material judgment wlesfa The Company has maintained
compliance with these covenants.

Following is a schedule of future principle paynsebéfore debt discount due on the Hercules Creglieédment:
Fortheyeare

nding
December 31,

2015 $ 3,654,23.
2016 4,091,59!
2017 2,254,17.
2018 and thereafter -

Total $ 10,000,00

Oxford & Horizon Credit Agreement

In June 2012, the Company entered into a Loan acdry Agreement (the Oxford & Horizon Credit Agreent) with Oxford Finance LLC
(Oxford) and Horizon Technology Finance Corporatfibiorizon). The Oxford & Horizon Credit Agreemenbpided for a secured term loan
of up to $10 million, with 50% of any loans to henfled by Oxford and 50% to be funded by Horizore @bgregate loan amount could have
been advanced in two tranches of $5 million eadte first tranche (the Term A Loan) was made avldlab the Company on June 27, 2012
and the second tranche was to be made availalalealf, during the period beginning on the datg the Company achieved positive data in
its Phase 11l clinical trial of RFA and ThermoDox@&e HEAT Study) and ending on March 31, 2013. January 31, 2013, the Company
announced it did not meet the primary endpoinhefHHEAT Study.
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The Term A Loan was originally scheduled to matmeOctober 15, 2015. As a result of the Herculed€ Agreement discussed above, the
Company terminated the Oxford & Horizon Credit Agmeent and repaid the outstanding principle, accingatest and termination fees
totaling approximately $4.1 million.

The proceeds of the Oxford & Horizon Credit Agreamwere used to fund the Company’s working capatadl general corporate
purposes. The obligations under the Oxford & Harifredit Agreement were secured by substantiallpasdets of the Company other
than its intellectual property and certain otheneag-upon exclusions.

As a fee in connection with the Oxford & Horizone@it Agreement, the Company issued warrants tozdorand Oxford (the Oxford &
Horizon Warrants) to purchase the number of shaféhe Company’s common stock equal to 3% of eaelm lamount divided by the
exercise price of $13.14 per share, which was tatled as the average NASDAQ closing price of thenffany’s common stock for the
three days prior to the funding of the loan amourttis resulted in 11,415 warrant shares issuewimection with the Term A Loan. The
Oxford & Horizon Warrants issued in connection witle Term A Loan are exercisable for cash or byemetcise and will expire seven
years after their issuance, which is June 27, 20h8. Company valued the Oxford & Horizon Warrardégg the Blac-Scholes option
pricing model and recorded $73,654 as deferredhéimg fees. In calculating the value of the watsathe Company assumed a volatility
rate of 74.3%, risk free interest rate of 1.10%eapected life of 3.5 years, a stock price of $Q2uhich was the closing price on date of
issuing the Oxford & Horizon Warrant) and no expgecforfeitures nor dividends. In connection witte tOxford & Horizon Credit
Agreement, the Company incurred cash expenses 16f, 25 which were recorded as deferred financieg fa 2012. These deferred
financing fees were amortized as interest expense the life of the loan. During the first threeonths of 2013, the Company paid
$146,874 in interest expense and amortized $31¢5@leferred financing fees as interest expense. Tiren A Loan bore interest at a
fixed rate of 11.75%.

Capital Lease

In November 2011, the Company financed $144,448abfequipment through a capital lease. This leatdegation had thirty month
payments of $5,651 through February 2014. Durio@42 the Company made principal and interest paysntataling $11,303 to satisfy 1
remaining obligation under this capital lease.

9. INCOME TAXES

A reconciliation of the Company’s statutory taxeréd the effective rate for the years ended Dece®be2014, 2013 and 2012 is as follows:

2014 2013 2012
Federal statutory rate 34.(% 34.(% 34.(%
State taxes, net of federal tax benefit 5.5 5.¢ 5.6
Recapture of alternative minimum tax - - -
Valuation allowance (39.5) (39.9 (39.9)
Effective tax rate % % -%

The components of the Company’s deferred tax assef December 31, 2014 and 2013 are as follows:

December 31,

In thousand: 2014 2013

Net operating loss carry forwar $ 61,53¢ $ 53,42
Compensation expense related to employee stocrspti 4,23¢ 3,31(
Subtotal 65,77: 56,73:
Valuation allowance (65,779 (56,739
Total deferred tax asset $ - $ -
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The evaluation of the realizability of such defértax assets in future periods is made based upaniety of factors that affect the Company’
ability to generate future taxable income, sucent and ability to sell assets and historical projected operating performance. At this ti
the Company has established a valuation resenalfof its deferred tax assets. Such tax assetailable to be recognized and benefit ft
periods.

Following is a schedule of net operating loss céorwards and their year of expiration:

Approximate Amount o f Unusec

Operating Loss Carry Forwards Expiration During
(in $000s Year Ended
$ 5,00z 202z
2,29: 202:
15,65¢ 202¢
8,17¢ 202t
7,361 202¢
10,71¢ 202¢
14,30( 202¢
18,04! 203(
21,38t 2031
20,55¢ 203z
10,31¢ 203:
21,89¢ 203¢
$ 155,71:

During 2014, 2013 and 2012 the Company performediaas to determine if there were changes in ovaigras defined by Section 382 of
Internal Revenue Code that would limit its ability utilize certain net operating loss and tax drediry forwards. The Company determi
that it experienced an ownership change, as defiiye@ection 382, in connection with certain comnsbock offerings on July 25, 20:
February 5, 2013 and on June 3, 2013. As a rahelt,tilization of the Company's federal tax neg¢rgping loss carry forwards generated
to the ownership changes are limited. As of Decer8the2013, the Company has net operating losy tanwvards for U.S. federal and state
purposes of approximately $156 million, before exlahg net operating losses that have been limitead gesult of Section 382 limitations. ~
annual limitation due to Section 382 for net oparptoss carry forward utilization is approximaté&.9 million per year for approximately §
million in net operating loss carry forwards existiat the ownership change occurring on July 2%128pproximately $1.4 million per year
approximately $34 million of additional net openafilosses occurring from July 2011 to the ownerstiange that occurred on Februar
2013 and approximately $1.5 million per year foprgximately $34 million of additional net operatitagses occurring from February 5, 2
to the ownership change that occurred on June B33.2Zhhe utilization of these net operating lossycéorwards may be further limited if t
Company experiences future ownership changes aseddah Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code.

10. STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

In August 2012, the Company filed with the Secastand Exchange Commission a $75 million shelfstegion statement on Form3Stha
allowed the Company to issue any combination of mom stock, preferred stock or warrants to purcham®@mon stock or preferr
stock. This shelf registration was declared efflecbn September 14, 2012.

During 2013, we received approximately $0.4 milliof gross proceeds from the exercise of warrantd stock options to purche
approximately 30,893 shares of the Compargommon stock. During 2012, we received approx@ige$10.8 million of gross proceeds fr
the exercise of warrants and stock options to msehapproximately 904,144 shares of the Comgaoyinmon stock. We did not have
warrant nor option exercises in 2014.

F-21




January 2014 Common Stock Offer

On January 15, 2014, the Company entered into arifies Purchase Agreement with certain institugioimvestors, pursuant to which
Company sold, in a registered offering, an agge@sdt3,603,604 shares of its common stock, parev&@.01 per share, and warrant
purchase up to 1,801,802 shares of Common Stoclanfaggregate purchase price of approximatelyrillion (the January 2014 Comm
Stock Offering). The shares of common stock andavas were sold in units, with each unit consistiigne share of common stock, a Se
A warrant to purchase 0.25 share of common stockaaBeries B warrant to purchase 0.25 share of @mstock. Each unit was sold ¢
purchase price of $4.1625. Each Series A warraihbeiexercisable at any time on or after its ismgadate and until the fiwgear anniversa
of the issuance date. Each Series B warrant wiXecisable at any time on or after its issuarate dnd until the ongear anniversary of tl
issuance date. Each warrant has an exercise gr#e 10 per share. Under the purchase agreemen€dmpany was prohibited, for a perio
nine months after the closing, from effecting otegimg into an agreement to issue common stockngragher securities that are at any t
convertible into, or exercisable or exchangeabtedpotherwise entitle the holder thereof to reeecommon stock to the extent such issu
or sale involves certain variable conversion, eiser@r exchange prices or such agreement proviolesale of securities at a price to
determined in the future.

Shares issued in acquisition of EGEN, Inc.

As more fully discussed in Note 5, the Companyess, 712,188 shares of its common stock to theeboéders of EGEN, Inc. to acqu
certain assets of EGEN. The shares of Celsieommon stock were issued in a private transaetiempt from registration under the Secur
Act of 1933, as amended (the Securities Act), pursto Section 4(2) thereof. In addition, 670,0f@res of Celsion common stock are isst
to EGEN shareholders on or after August 2, 201&ijmgnsatisfactory resolution of any post-closinguatiments of expenses and EGEN’
indemnification obligations under the EGEN Purchagesement (Holdback Shares). The common stocledssind issuable to EGEN purst
to the Asset Purchase Agreement were filed purdoaRule 415 under the Securities Act of 1933 anPhospectus for Registration Stater
No. 333198786 and was declared effective on Septembe2(B01.

Controlled Equity Offering

On February 1, 2013, the Company entered into atrGlted Equity OfferingSM Sales Agreement (the “ATMgreement”)with Canto
Fitzgerald & Co., as sales agent (“Cantogirsuant to which Celsion may offer and sell, frime to time, through Cantor, shares of
common stock having an aggregate offering pricapfo $25.0 million (the “ATM Shares”) pursuantttee Companys previously filed an
effective Registration Statement on Form S-3. UriderATM Agreement, Cantor may sell ATM Shares by anethod deemed to be an “at
the-market”offering as defined in Rule 415 promulgated undier $ecurities Act of 1933, as amended, includingssaade directly on T
NASDAQ Capital Market, on any other existing traglimarket for the our common stock or to or throagmarket maker. From Februan
2013 through February 25, 2013, the Company saidissued an aggregate of 1,195,927 shares of comnsitnok under the ATM Agreeme
receiving approximately $6.8 million in net proceed

The Company is not obligated to sell any ATM Shaneder the ATM Agreement. Subject to the terms @tlitions of the ATM Agreeme
Cantor will use commercially reasonable effortgysistent with its normal trading and sales prastied applicable state and federal law, |
and regulations and the rules of The NASDAQ Capitatket, to sell ATM Shares from time to time basgn the Compang’instructions
including any price, time or size limits or otherstomary parameters or conditions the Company mapse. In addition, pursuant to the te
and conditions of the ATM Agreement and subjectht® instructions of the Company, Cantor may selMABhares by any other mett
permitted by law, including in privately negotiatednsactions.

The ATM Agreement will terminate upon the earlidr() the sale of ATM Shares under the ATM Agreembaving an aggregate offer
price of $25 million and (ii) the termination ofdbATM Agreement by Cantor or the Company. The ATirédement may be terminated
Cantor or the Company at any time upon 10 daystexdb the other party, or by Cantor at any timeéntain circumstances, including
occurrence of a material adverse change in the @oympThe Company pays Cantor a commission of 20%e aggregate gross proce
from each sale of ATM Shares and has agreed taged@antor with customary indemnification and ciimttion rights. The Company al
reimbursed Cantor for legal fees and disbursemein$50,000 in connection with entering into the ATAgreement. In connection with 1
February 2013 Preferred Stock Offering discussddwhethe Company agreed to not sell any ATM Shdogsa period of one year frc
February 26, 2013. In connection with the CommartisOffering below, the Company agreed to not eyl ATM Shares until June 3, 20
In connection with the January 2014 securitiesroftediscussed in Note 15 below, the Company agteewt sell any ATM Shares until Ji
22, 2014. The Company currently has approximat#8/ illion remaining under the ATM Agreement.
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February 2013 Preferred Stock Offeri

On February 22, 2013, the Company entered intocaries Purchase Agreement with certain institgicinvestors, pursuant to which
Company sold, in a registered offering, an aggregétl5,000.00422 shares of its Series A 0% coitkerpreferred stock and the warrant
purchase shares of its common stock, for an agtgguarchase price of approximately $15.0 milliohe(tFebruary 2013 Preferred St
Offering). The closing of the February 2013 Prefdr Stock Offering occurred on February 26, 20I8which the Company receiv
approximately $15.0 million in gross proceeds. j8cibto certain ownership limitations, shares ofi&eA 0% convertible preferred stock
convertible, at the option of the holder therenfpian aggregate of up to 2,682,764 shares of canstozk, and the warrants are exercisat
purchase an aggregate of up to 1,341,382 shamsrohon stock. Each warrant has an exercise pri§8.8fL per share, equal to the closing
price of common stock on February 21, 2013. Theavas are immediately exercisable and expire fe@ry after the date of issuance.

Upon issuance, we estimated the fair value of theramts issued in the February 2013 Preferred S@fééring to be approximately $t
million using the Black-Scholes pricing model. @|sipon issuance, we recognized approximately $dlln as a one-time, nooash deeme
dividend related to the beneficial conversion feattonnected to the preferred stock in the PraeleBteck Offering.

Assumptions used in the valuation of the warrasgaed in the February 2013 Preferred Stock Offexiege as follows:

Risk-free interest rate 0.7¢%
Expected volatility 102.2%
Expected life (in years) 5.C

Expected forfeiture rate 0.C%
Expected dividend yield 0.C%

As of September 30, 2013, all 2,682,764 sharesmincon stock in the aggregate were issued upon csioneof all 15,000.00422 shares of
Series A 0% convertible preferred stock.

May 2013 Common Stock Offeri

On May 30, 2013, the Company entered into a SeesirPurchase Agreement with certain institutiomalestors, pursuant to which
Company sold, in a registered offering, an aggeeghtl,392,109 shares of its common stock for ajreggate purchase price of approxime
$9.8 million (the “Common Stock Offering”Y.he closing of the Common Stock Offering occurredJane 3, 2013. The issuance of com
stock in the Common Stock Offering was made purstathe Company’s previously filed and effectivedistration Statement on Form3S-
(File No. 333183286), the base prospectus dated September 12, fl8d as part of such Registration Statement #Hre prospect
supplement filed with the Securities and Exchangem@ission on June 3, 2013. The Securities Purchageement also contain
representations, warranties, indemnification at@ioprovisions customary for transactions of thatire.

Prior to the closing of the Common Stock Offeritiggre were an insufficient number of authorizedretdo complete the transaction.
investors in the Common Stock Offering also heldramts to purchase common stock of the Companyhwhviere issued in connection w
previous offerings. Concurrent with the closingled Common Stock Offering, the institutional inwstagreed to waive their rights to exer
these warrants to purchase 1,398,816 shares of oanstock of the Company (the “Waived Warrantstjtil the Company has obtair
stockholdersapproval to increase the number of its authorizetes of common stock in conjunction with the psgabreverse stock split
its outstanding shares of common stock. At the Gamgjs 2013 Annual Meeting of Stockholders held oty 119, 2013, the Compary/’
stockholders voted to approve the proposal to gieeretionary authority to the Board of Directtwsamend the Certificate of Incorporatior
the Company, as amended, to effect, at any timeraqmior to the date of the 2014 Annual MeetingStdckholders, a reverse stock split &
exchange ratio within the specified range and totls® number of authorized shares effective imnietlisafter the reverse stock split at
million shares. On October 28, 2013, the Compampoanced that it affected a 1-fdr5 reverse stock split of its common stock. SeecRe
Stock Split below for further information.
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Prior to the closing of the Common Stock Offerititg warrants described above were originally reedras equity at the fair value on the
of issuance. In accordance with ASC 815-B6@rivative Instruments and Hedging - Contracts imtily's Own Equity the Waived Warran
were required to be liability classified immedistelfter the closing of the Common Stock Offering ame 3, 2013 because there wer
insufficient number of common shares authorizecoéomit the full exercise of the warrants. Therefan June 3, 2013, the Comp
reclassified the fair value of the Waived Warratoisling approximately $9.1 million from equity #liability. The Waived Warrants we
required to be recorded at fair value at each loalaeet date with changes in fair value recordezhrnings until such time as there we
sufficient number of common shares authorized tonfighe full exercise of the warrants (see Notg 11n connection with the Reverse St
Split as more fully described below, these warramse valued as of October 28, 2013, and the Coynperiassified the fair value of t
Waived Warrants totaling approximately $5.3 millivam a liability to equity.

Following is a summary list of the Waived Warrants:

Shares of common stoc Per Share Per Share
associated with th Expiration Date of Strike Fair Value Fair Value on
Waived Warrants Waived Warrants Price on June 3, 201: October 28, 201:
1,323,49 2/26/201¢ $ 531 $ 6.6C $ 3.8¢

31,24 7/25/201¢ $ 18.9¢ $ 441 $ 2.1C

12,62¢ 7/6/201¢ $ 14.0¢ $ 481 $ 2.4C

31,44¢ 11/25/201° $ 1247 $ 55¢ $ 3.1¢€

Assumptions used in the valuation of the Waived Nfats associated with the June 3, 2013 Common Rffeking were as follows:

October 28,
June 3, 2013 2013
Risk-free interest rate 05C - 1.03% 0.5¢ - 1.31%
Expected volatility 102.¢ - 110.9% 105.1 - 111.&%
Expected life (in years) 31 - 47 % 27 - 43 %
Expected forfeiture rate 0.0 % 0.0 %
Expected dividend yield 0.00 % 0.00 %

Reverse Stock Sp

On October 28, 2013, the Company affected a Kfbrreverse stock split of its common stock whidswnade effective for trading purpc
as of the commencement of trading on October 29328s of that date, each 9 shares of issued atstiamaling common stock and equivali
were consolidated into 2 shares of common stocladitition, at the market open on October 29, 2€68,Companys common stock start
trading under a new CUSIP number 15117N404 althdhglCompany’s ticker symbol, CLSN, remained ungeahn

The reverse stock split was previously approvedhigyCompanys stockholders at the 2013 Annual Meeting held Wy 19, 2013, and t
Company subsequently filed a Certificate of Amendite its Certificate of Incorporation to effecetetock consolidation. The primary reas
for the reverse stock split and the amendment are:

e To increase the market price of the Compargommon stock making it more attractive to a bevadnge of institutional and otl
investors,

e To provide the Company with additional capital iases and flexibility sufficient to execute its mess plans including t
establishment of strategic relationships with ott@mpanies and to ensure its ability to raise amthi capital as necessary, and

e As previously announced, to facilitate expandimg Company’s business or product lines througkni@l acquisitions.

Immediately prior to the reverse stock split, then(pany had 61,226,873 shares of common stock adist which consolidated in
13,604,975 shares of the Compangommon stock. No fractional shares were issuezbimection with the reverse stock split. Holdef
fractional shares have been paid out in cash ferfitactional portion with the Comparsybverall exposure for such payouts consisting
nominal amount. The number of outstanding optiond @warrants were adjusted accordingly, with outdita; options being reduced fr(
approximately 3.9 million to approximately 0.9 rgh and outstanding warrants being reduced fromraydmately 13.8 million t
approximately 3.1 million.
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11. STOCK BASED COMPENSATION

Employee Stock Options

The Company has longrm compensation plans that permit the grantinip@éntive awards in the form of stock options. &aliy, the term
of these plans require that the exercise priceé@bptions may not be less than the fair marketevaf Celsiors Common Stock on the date
options are granted. Options generally vest oveipua time frames or upon milestone accomplishme®tsne vest immediately. Others
over a period between one and five years. The opti@nerally expire ten years from the date ofjthaat.

2001 Stock Option Plan

In 2001, the Board of Directors adopted a stock ta directors, officers and employees (the “2B04n”) under which 148,148 shares w
reserved for future issuance. The purpose of thE Z¥an was to promote lorigrm growth and profitability of Celsion by providj key
people with incentives to improve stockholder vadimel contribute to the growth and financial sucadsselsion, and to enable the compar
attract, retain and reward the best available peréar positions of substantial responsibility.

2004 Stock Incentive Plan

In 2004, the Board of Directors adopted a stock e directors, officers and employees (the “2@04n”) under which 148,148 shares w
reserved for future issuance. The plan providestfock instruments to be issued enabling the hdlteneof to acquire Common stock of
Company at prices determined by the Company’'s Bo&idirectors. The purpose of the 2004 Plan wagrtonote the londgerm growth an
financial success of the Company and enable thep@oynto attract, retain and reward the best availpbrsons for positions of substar
responsibility. The 2004 Plan permitted the graptiri awards in the form of incentive stock optiorsstricted stock, restricted stock ur
stock appreciation rights, phantom stock, and perémce awards, or in any combination of the fonegorhe 2004 Plan terminated in 2014
years from the date of the P’s adoption by the Company’s stockholders.

Any options forfeited or terminated under the 2804n and 2004 Plan are rolled into the 2007 Stockntive Plan for future issuance.
2007 Stock Incentive Plan

In 2007, the Company adopted the Celsion Corpara&@)7 Stock Incentive Plan (the 2007 Plan) undachw222,222 shares were author
for issuance. The purpose of the 2007 Plan is ¢onpte the longerm growth and profitability of the Company by widing incentives t
improve stockholder value and enable the Compangttiact, retain and reward the best available gperdor positions of substani
responsibility. The 2007 Plan permits the granthgquity awards in the form of incentive stockiops, nonqualified stock options, restric
stock, restricted stock units, stock appreciatights, phantom stock, and performance awards, anyjncombination of the foregoing. At
Annual Meetings of Stockholders of Celsion heldJone 25, 2010, June 7, 2012 and June 20, 2014tdbkholders approved amendmen
the Plan. The only material difference betweendatiginal Plan and the amended Plan was the nuoftgrares of common stock available
issuance under the amended Plan which was incrégse?i?,222 to a total of 444,444 shares in 20$®00,000 to a total of 944,444 share
2012 and by 2,500,000 to a total of 3,444,444 shiar@014.

The Company has issued stock awards to employ&estats and vendors out of the stock option pl@stions and are generally grante
market value on the date of the grant.

Incentive stock options may be granted to purctsmees of Common Stock at a price not less thafo1l60the fair market value of t
underlying shares on the date of grant, providedlttie exercise price of any incentive option gzdrib an eligible employee owning more 1
10% of the outstanding stock must be at least 180%e such fair market value on the date of gr@mtly officers and key employees n
receive incentive stock options; all other quatifigarticipants may receive non-qualified stock ami
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Option awards vest upon terms determined by thedBoBDirectors. Restricted stock awards, perforogastock awards and stock options
subject to accelerated vesting in the event ofamgh of control. The Company issues new shareatitfysits obligations from the exercise
options.

During the year ended December 31, 2014, 2013 amnd,21,040,950, 187,888 and 148,553 equity awaedpectively, were granted under
2007 Plan. During 2014, 2013 and 2012, a total3df,850, 41,379 and 66,019 equity awards, respégtivere canceled or expired under
plans collectively. During 2014, 2013 and 2012321, 12,873 and 56,710 shares of the Comgacymmon stock were issued collectivel
a result of either options being exercised or igsnl stock awards vesting.

In 2007 an option to purchase 95,555 shares oftimpany's common stock was issued to the Comp@&mjes Executive Officer. This optic
vested in equal installments over four years and separately registered with the Securities anch&@xge Commission (the "SEC") and '
not issued under any of the Employee Stock Incerihans.

Collectively, for all the stock option plans as@&cember 31, 2014, there were a total of 3,674st@bes reserved, which were compr
of 1,751,773 equity awards granted and 1,922 48ityegwards available for future issuance.

Total compensation cost charged related to emplesyeek options and novested restricted stock awards amounted to $2.Bomil$1.z
million and $1.1 million for the years ended Decem®l, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively. No casgion cost related to shavase:
payments arrangements was capitalized as pareafdbt of any asset at these same periods. Ascgrbleer 31, 2014, there was $1.3 mil
of total unrecognized compensation cost relatedoio-vested shareased compensation arrangements. That cost is texpgcbe recogniz
over a weighted-average period of 1.6 years. Thighted average gramlate fair values of the equity awards granted dutire years end
December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 were $3.18, $2d(7.28, respectively.

Equity Awards Issued to Consultants for Services

The Company periodically issues equity awards twsatiants in exchange for services provided. Threvdue of options granted is meast
in accordance with ASC 718ompensation — Stock Compensatigsing the Blackscholes option pricing model and recorded as apresil
the period in which such services are received.e@ly, the terms of these plans require that fterase price of such awards may not be
than the fair market value of the Compa€ommon Stock on the date the equity awards amgtep. Consultant equity awards generally
over various time frames or upon milestone accahplients. Some vest immediately upon issuance. qilieyeawards generally expire witt
10 years from the date of grant. There were 5&%55,387 awards issued to consultants duringehesyended December 31, 2013 and ?
respectively. No awards were granted to consulduntig the year ended December 31, 2014.
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A summary of stock option awards as of DecembefB14 and changes during the three years endedibece1, 2014, is presented below:

Weighted
Average
Weighted Remaining
Average Contractual Aggregate
Number Exercise Term Intrinsic

Stock Options Outstanding Price (in years) Value
Outstanding at January 1, 2012 691,80¢ $ 16.8¢

Granted 145,61: 10.0¢

Exercised (47,57Y) 14.67

Canceled or expired (64,316 29.4:
Outstanding at December 31, 2012 725,52¢ $ 14.6:

Granted 187,77 4.3¢

Exercised (12,429 14.67

Canceled or expired (38,97) 16.7¢
Outstanding at December 31, 2013 861,90 $ 12.2¢

Granted 1,014,701 3.5¢

Exercised - -

Canceled or expired (131,85() 19.0¢
Outstanding at December 31, 2014 1,744,75! 7.2C 75 $ '
Exercisable at December 31, 2014 990,93t ¢ 9.71 6.1 $ -

A summary of the status of the Company’s non-veststticted stock awards as of December 31, 20@4hanges during the three years
ended December 31, 2014, is presented below:

Weighted

Average

Number Exercise

Restricted Stock Outstanding Price

Non-vested stock awards outstanding at January 1, 2012 12,19 $ 14.2:
Granted 2,94; 16.45
Vested and issued (9,139 15.1%
Forfeited (1,709 12.5¢
Non-vested stock awards outstanding at December 3P, 20 4,297 $ 14.6%
Granted 111 5.3¢€
Vested and issued (444) 8.4(C
Forfeited (1,855 15.6¢
Non-vested stock awards outstanding at December 3B 20 2,10¢ $ 14.1:
Granted 26,25( 3.4¢
Vested and issued (21,34) 471
Forfeited - -
Non-vested stock awards outstanding at December 3% 20 7,018 ¢ 3.32
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A summary of stock options outstanding at Decentie2014 by price range is as follows:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Weighted Weighted

Average Average
Remaining Weighted Remaining Weighted
Contractual Average Contractual Average
Range o Term Exercise Term Exercise
Exercise Price: Number (in years) Price Number (in years) Price

$2.00 -$3.99 956,70( 94 $ 3.5¢ 293,26t 94 $ 3.5¢%
$4.00 -$8.99 185,77¢ 7€ $ 4.4¢ 131,04 72 % 4.41]
$9.00 -$13.49 434,44! 4¢ % 11.1% 401,46: 47 % 11.2¢
$ 13.5(-$31.49 165,87( 34 % 20.81 163,20: 33 % 20.8(
Above $31.50 1,96- 0t $ 38.01 1,96 05 $ 38.0¢
1,744,75! 990,93t

The fair values of stock options granted were et at the date of grant using the Black-Schofg®io pricing model. The Blackchole
model was originally developed for use in estin@tthe fair value of traded options, which have aiht characteristics from Celsien’
nonqualified stock options. The model is also gemsito changes in assumptions, which can matgrafect the fair value estimate. 1
Company used the following assumptions for deteimgithe fair value of options granted under thecBi&choles option pricing model:

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Risk-free interest rate 2.31t02.75 % 0.85t01.19% 1.0¢t02.97 %
Expected volatility 94.5 -100.% 83.£ -97.9% 80.t -82.3%
Expected life (in years) 10 5.2£t06.00 5.00 t0 6.25
Expected forfeiture rate 10 % 5.(to75 % 7.5 %
Expected dividend yield 0.C % 0.C % 0.C %

Expected volatilities utilized in the model are &don historical volatility of the Comparsystock price. The risk free interest rate is dm
from values assigned to U.S. Treasury strips adighda in the Wall Street Journal in effect at timee of grant. The model incorpora
exercise, pre-vesting and pa&sting forfeiture assumptions based on analystgstbrical data. The expected life of the fisc@l2, 2013 an
2012 grants was generated using the simplified ote#fs allowed under Securities and Exchange Coriani&taff Accounting Bulletin N
107.

12. EARN-OUT MILESTONE LIABILIITY

The total aggregate purchase price for the Egeniaitopn included potential future Eafut Payments contingent upon achievement of ct
milestones. The difference between the aggregd@et$8illion in future Earr@ut Payments and the $13.9 million included inféievalue o
the acquisition consideration at June 20, 2014 based on the Company's riakjusted assessment of each milestone (10% to @ng
utilizing a discount rate based on the estimatat tio achieve the milestone (1.5 to 7.0 years). 8dr@out milestone liability will be fa
valued at the end of each quarter and any changfeeinvalue will be recognized in the financiahtsiments. As of December 31, 2014,
Company fair valued the eaout milestone liability at $13.7 million and recdzed a gain of $231,949 as a result of the changles fair valu
of earn-out milestone liability from June 30, 20T4e fair value of the earodt milestone liability at December 31, 2014 wasdahon th
Company's riskadjusted assessment of each milestone (10% to @igbtilizing a discount rate based on the estichéitee to achieve tl
milestone (1.2 to 6.5 years).

The following is a summary of the changes in the-@at milestone liability for 2014:

Balance at January 1, 2014 -

Fair value of Earn-Out Payments at date of EGENtIrase Agreement (Note 5)
Gain from the adjustment for the change in faiueahcluded in net income
Balance at December 31, 2014
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13. WARRANTS

As more fully described in Note 10, the Company plated a series of equity financing transaction®i4 and 2013 that included

issuance of warrants to purchase 1,801,802 andl,B32 shares, respectively, of the Compangdmmon stock. In connection with

Hercules Credit Agreement and the Horizon & Oxf@mdit Agreement the Company entered into in Novem#913 and June 2012 as n
fully described in Note 8, the Company issued wasdo purchase 194,986 and 11,415 shares, regpgctf the Compang common stoc
During 2013 and 2012, the Company received grosseeds of approximately $0.3 million and $10.1 ol respectively, from the exercise
warrants to purchase 15,833 and 847,715 sharemwhon stock, respectively. No warrants were exedcaéuring 2014.

Following is a summary of all warrant activity fibre three years ended December 31, 2014:

Weighted
Number of Average
Warrants Exercise
Warrants Issued Price
Warrants outstanding at January 1, 2012 2,583,770 $ 14,1¢
Warrants issued in connection with the Oxford & idon Credit Agreement as more fully
described in Note 8 11,41¢ 13.14
Warrants exercised for common stock in 2012 (847,71Y 12.11
Warrants outstanding at December 31, 2012 1,747,470 $ 15.17
Warrants issued in connection with 2013 equitydeations 1,341,38: 5.31
Warrants issued in connection with the Herculeslitisgreement (November 2013 tranche)
more fully described in Note 8 97,49 3.5¢
Warrants exercised for common stock in 2013 (15,83 14.6°
Warrants outstanding at December 31, 2013 3,170,521 $ 10.6¢
Warrants issued in connection with the January 2@jidty transaction 1,801,80: 4.1C
Warrants issued in connection with the Herculesli€#&greement (June 2014 tranche) as m
fully described in Note 8 97,49: 3.5¢
Warrants outstanding at December 31, 2014 5,069,81' ¢ 8.1¢

Aggregate intrinsic value of outstanding warrant®acember 31, 2014 -

Weighted average remaining contractual terms (Years 2.4

Common Stock Warrant Liability

In September 2009, the Company closed a registéiredt offering with a select group of institutidriavestors that raised gross proceec
$7.1 million and net proceeds of $6.3 million. lanaection with this registered direct offering, tBempany issued 484,478 shares ¢
common stock and warrants to purchase 224,239 slireommon stock. The warrants have an exerciee pf $23.58 per share and
exercisable at any time on or after the six momthiversary of the date of issuance and on or gdd®6 months after the date of issua
Under the terms of the warrants, upon certain &etiens, including a merger, tender offer or sdlalbor substantially all of the assets of
Company, each warrant holder may elect to receieash payment in exchange for the warrant, in anuamtndetermined by application of
Black-Scholes option valuation model. Accordinglyrsuant to ASC 815.4Merivative Instruments and Hedging - Contracts imtify’'s Owr
Equity, the warrants are recorded as a liability and timanked to market each period through the Statewfe@perations in other income
expense. At the end of each subsequent quarteCdhgany will revalue the fair value of the warsaand the change in fair value will
recorded as a change to the warrant liability dweddifference will be recorded through the Statamé&@perations in other income or expense
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As more fully described in Note 10, concurrent wille closing of the Common Stock Offering, the stees in this offering agreed
waive their rights to exercise the Waived Warraotpurchase 1,398,816 shares of common stock ofCtimapany until the Company
obtained stockholdersipproval of increasing the number of its authorighdres of common stock in conjunction with theppsed rever:
stock split of its outstanding shares of commortlstdn accordance with ASC 815-4Degrivative Instruments and HedgingContracts i
Entity's Own Equity,the Waived Warrants were required to be classifiediabilities immediately after the closing of t@®mmon Stoc
Offering on June 3, 2013 because there were aiffitisnt number of common shares authorized to fiethe full exercise of the Waivi
Warrants if they were exercised. Therefore, then@any had reclassified the fair value of the WaiVedrrants totaling approximately $'
million from equity to a liability as of June 3, 2B. The Waived Warrants were required to be rezmbat fair value at each balance sheet
with changes in fair value recorded in earningsl goich time as there are a sufficient number ohitmn shares authorized to permit the
exercise of the warrants. In connection with Reverse Stock Split, these warrants were valuedf &ctober 28, 2013 and the Comp
reclassified the fair value of the Waived Warrantaling approximately $5.3 million from a liabilito equity.

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company decoa common stock warrant liability of $275,008 &3,026 million respectively. T
fair value of the warrants associated with the &aper 2009 registered direct offering and the wasrassociated with the Hercules loa
more fully described in Note 8 at December 31, 2@013 and 2012 was calculated using the Black{8shoptionpricing model with th
following assumptions:

December 31,

2014 201 3 2012
Risk-free interest rate 0.04- 1.6% 0.12% 0.7%%
Expected volatility 40.¢- 98.3%% 64.7% 92.02%
Expected life (in years) 0.25-3.¢ 1.2¢ 1.15
Expected forfeiture rate 0.C% 0.C% 0.C%
Expected dividend yield 0.0(% 0.0(% 0.0(%

See Note 10 for the assumptions used at June 3 &0d October 28, 2013 for the Black-Scholes oppiocing model calculation for tl
Waived Warrants associated with the Common Stodkridf on the dates they were waived and when theoame a sufficient number
common shares authorized to permit their full eiserc

As a result of this change in the warrant liabilitly2014, the Company recorded a raash benefit of $204,279 in 2014. As a result &
change in the warrant liability in 2013, which inded the change in the warrant liability associatéti the Waived Warrants as discus
above, the Company recorded a non-cash benefB.afrfillion during 2013. The change in the warngtility during 2012 resulted in a non-
cash loss of $4.1 million in 2012. The followingasummary of the changes in the common stock wiliedility for 2014, 2013 and 2012:

Balance at January 1, 2012 $ 166,39¢
Benefit from the adjustment for the change in Yailue included in net loss for 2011 4,117,53)
Balance at December 31, 2012 4,283,93.
Fair value of warrants classified as liability ($¢ete 10) 9,110,30:
Fair value of warrants classified as equity (se&eN®) (5,300,57))
Gain from the adjustment for the change in faiueahcluded in net loss (8,090,63i)
Ending balance, December 31, 2013 $ 3,02¢
Fair value of warrants classified as liability ($¢@te 8) 476,26:
Gain from the adjustment for the change in faiueahcluded in net income (204,279

$ 275,00t

14. CELSION EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

Celsion maintains a definembntribution plan under Section 401(k) of the IntdrRevenue Code. The plan covers substantiallgraployee
over the age of 21. Participating employees magrdefportion of their pretax earnings, up to th8 Ehnual contribution limit. Commencincg
the fourth quarter for 2008, the Company began ngaki matching contribution up to a maximum of 3%aofemployee annual salary and 1
Companys total contribution for the years ended Decemler2®14, 2013 and 2012 was $56,875, $57,239 anB&B0espectively. TI
Company’s contribution was made in the form of cammon stock.
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15. LICENSES OF INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY AND PATENTS

On November 10, 1999, the Company entered intacemdie agreement with Duke University under whieh @ompany received worldwi
exclusive rights (subject to certain exceptionsydmmercialize and use Dulkethermally sensitive liposome technology. Therlg@agreeme
contains annual royalty and minimum payment provisidue on net sales. The agreement also requiiledtonebased royalty paymer
measured by various events, including product agrekent stages, FDA applications and approvals,igorenarketing approvals a
achievement of significant sales. However, in ldusuch milestone-based cash payments, Duke agoeadcept shares of the Company’
Common Stock to be issued in installments at time ach milestone payment is due, with each install of shares to be calculated at
average closing price of the Common Stock durimg2® trading days prior to issuance.

The total number of shares issuable to Duke urigeet provisions is subject to adjustment in cexdases, and Duke has piggyback registr.
rights for public offerings taking place more thame year after the effective date of the licenseement. On January 31, 2003, the Com
issued 253,691 shares of Common Stock to Duke kityevalued at $2.2 million as payment for milestdased royalties under this lice
agreement. An amendment to the Duke license agrgecmmtains certain development and regulatory stolees, and other performa
requirements that the Company has met with redpettte use of the licensed technologies. The Compalh be obligated to make roya
payments based on sales to Duke upon commerciahzaintil the last of the Duke patents expire.

For the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 arg] #64 Company has not incurred any expense uhteagreement and will not incur ¢
future liabilities until commercial sales commence.

Under the November 1999 license agreement with Dthiee Company has rights to the thermally sensiijyesome technology, includii
Duke’s US patents covering the technology as well asfom#fign counter parts and related pending apptinat Foreign counterpi
applications have been issued in Europe, Hong KAngtralia and Canada and have been allowed imJdje Japanese allowed applicatic
expected to issue without hindrance in March of1200he European patent has been validated in Audelgium, France, Germany, Gi
Britain, Italy, Luxembourg, Monaco, Spain and Sweitand. In addition, the Duke license agreemenvigdes the Company with rights
multiple issued and pending US patents relatedeéddrmulation, method of making and use of heasis@e liposomes. The Compasyfight:
under the license agreement with Duke Universitgrd for the life of the last-to-expire of the lised patents.

The Company has licensed from Valentis, CA cemgitval rights covering the use of pegylation fonperature sensitive liposomes.

In addition to the rights available to the Compamgder completed or pending license agreementsCtimepany is actively pursuing pat
protection for technologies developed by the Comgpatimong these patents is a family of pending W8 mternational patent applicatic
which seek to protect the Company’s proprietaryhrmetof storing ThermoDox® which is critical for wdwide distribution channels.

ThermoDox®is a registered trademark in the United StateseAtiga, Australia, Canada, China, Columbia, theogean Communitie
(Austria, Belgium, Bulgaria, Cyprus, Czech Repubbenmark, Estonia, Finland, France, Germany, &eBangary, Ireland, Italy, Kore
Latvia, Lithuania, Luxembourg, Malta, NetherlanB®sland, Portugal, Romania, Slovakia, Slovenia, igpaweden, UK), Hong Kong, Isre
Japan, New Zealand, Peru, Philippines, Russia, apmmg@, South Korea and Taiwan. The Company hasteegd transliterations
ThermoDox®in China, Hong Kong, Japan, Singapore, South Kamea Taiwan. The Company has an additional 14 trademrotectio
applications pending for ThermoDox® in countriesldevide.

Finally, through proprietary information agreemewith employees, consultants and others, the Cognpagks to protect its own propriet
know-how and trade secrets. The Company cannot offerasses that these confidentiality agreementsnatillbe breached, that the Comp
will have adequate remedies for any breach, orttiege agreements, even if fully enforced, willddequate to prevent thipghrty use of th
Companys proprietary technology. Similarly, the Companymmat guarantee that technology rights licensedt tbyi others will not b
successfully challenged or circumvented by thirdips, or that the rights granted will provide thempany with adequate protection.
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16. TECHNOLOGY DEVELOPMENT AND LICENSING AGREEMENTS

On May 7, 2012 the Company entered into a long mymmercial supply agreement with Zhejiang HisuarRtaceutical Co. Ltd. (Hisun) 1
the production of ThermoDox® the China territory. In accordance with thartsrof the agreement, Hisun will be responsiblepiamviding
all of the technical and regulatory support sersjdecluding the costs of all technical transfegistration and bioequivalence studies, tech
transfer costs, Celsion consultative support caststhe purchase of any necessary equipment ariibadtfacility costs necessary to supj
capacity requirements for the manufacture of Th&m®. Celsion will repay Hisun for the aggregate amourthese development costs |
fees commencing on the successful completion @fetlegistration batches of ThermoDox®Bisun is also obligated to certain performe
requirements under the agreement. The agreemérihivally be limited to a percentage of the pradion requirements of ThermoDox®
the China territory with Hisun retaining an optifun additional global supply after local regulat@gproval in the China territory. In additi
Hisun will collaborate with Celsion around the rkgary approval activities for ThermoDox@ith the China State Food and D
Administration (CHINA FDA). As of December 31, 201the Company has incurred approximately $209;80€osts to be reimbursed
Hisun.

On January 18, 2013, we entered into a technoleggldpment contract with Hisun, pursuant to whidbud paid us a norefundable resear
and development fee of $5 million to support ouvedepment of ThermoDo® in mainland China, Hong Kong and Macau (the C
territory). Following our announcement on Januaty 2013 that the HEAT study failed to meet itsrary endpoint, Celsion and Hisun h
agreed that the Technology Development Contractredtinto on January 18, 2013 will remain in effediile the parties continue
collaborate and are evaluating the next stepslatioa to ThermoDox®, which include the sgbeup analysis of patients in the Phase 11l Hi
Study for the hepatocellular carcinoma clinicalidadion and other activities to further the develemt of ThermoDoX for the Greater Chir
market. The $5.0 million received as a mefundable payment from Hisun in the first qua&8i3 has been recorded to deferred revenu
will continue to be amortized over the 10 year tefthe agreement, until such time as the parties & mutually acceptable path forwarc
the development of ThermoD@&x based on findinghefdngoing post-study analysis of the HEAT Studyda

On July 19, 2013, the Company and Hisun enteram anMemorandum of Understanding to pursue ongoaliglworations for the continu
clinical development of ThermoDox® as well as teehinology transfer relating to the commercial maotufre of ThermoDox®&or the Chini
territory. This expanded collaboration includeselepment of the next generation liposomal formolatiith the goal of creating safer, m
efficacious versions of marketed cancer chemotleertags.

Among the key provisions of the Celsion-Hisun Mearmtum of Understanding are:

e Hisun will provide the Company with natilutive financing and the investment necessargdmplete the technolo
transfer of its proprietary manufacturing procesa the production of registration batches for tién@ territory;

e Hisun will collaborate with the Company around thiaeical and regulatory approval activities for TDox® as wel
as other liposomal formations with the CHINA FDAwda

e Hisun will be granted a right of first offer for@mmercial license to ThermoDoxf®r the sale and distribution
ThermoDox® in the China territory.

17. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS

In July 2011, the Company executed a lease (thas&®with Brandywine Operating Partnership, L.P. (Bramthe), a Delaware limite
partnership for a 10,870 square foot premises dacat Lawrenceville, New Jersey. In October 20the, Company relocated its offices
Lawrenceville, New Jersey from Columbia, Marylarithe lease has a term of 66 months and provides foonths rent free, with the fi
monthly rent payment of approximately $23,000 doeé paid in April 2012. Also, as required by theake, the Company provided Brandyv
with an irrevocable and unconditional standby fettecredit for $250,000, which the Company secusgéith an escrow deposit at its bank
institution of this same amount. The standby tettiecredit will be reduced by $50,000 on eachhsf 19th, 31st and 43rd months from
initial term, with the remaining $100,000 amourneening until the Lease Term has expired. In cotioeavith two $50,000 reductions of 1
standby letter of credit in April 2013 and 2014 thompany reduced the escrow deposit by $50,000tere.
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In connection with the EGEN Asset Purchase agreeimedune 2014, the Company assumed the existegelavith another landlord for
11,500 square foot premises located in HuntsvilebAma. This lease has a remaining term of 43 nsonith rent payments of approximat
$23,200 per month.

The Company paid $425,443, $280,808 and $184,780rinection with these leases in 2014, 2013 ang,2@%pectively.

Following is a summary of the future minimum paytserequired under leases that have initial or raeingilease terms of one year or mor
of December 31, 2014:

Operating

For the year ending December 31: Leases
2015 $ 570,07¢
2016 575,51:
2017 378,04.
2018 23,20(
2019 and beyond —
Total minimum lease payments $ 1,546,83

18. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On January 20, 2015 the Company announced it liaekdia license and distribution agreement with nmydiwows to implement an Ea
Access Program for ThermoDox®, its proprietary raaivated liposomal encapsulation of doxorubiamall countries of the European Un
(EV) territory plus Switzerland for the treatmefipatients with recurrent chest wall (RCW) breastazr.

RCW breast cancer is difficult to treat and hasoargrognosis with a significant impact on a patgequality of life. Patients with higlr
resistant tumors found on the chest wall oftenthe& cancer progress despite previous treatméemnats including chemotherapy, radia
therapy and hormone therapy. There are approxiyn2%000 to 35,000 incidence of RCW breast caimtd¢ne EU alone and thermal ther:
is a wellaccepted strategy for treating patients. Recedirfgs from two Phase | studies and an ongoing tadel Phase Il study indicate t
when combined with thermal therapy, ThermoDozan demonstrate significant overall response ratelstumor control in post mastectol
refractory patients.

Early Access Programs (EAP) allow biopharmaceuticahpanies to provide eligible patients with ethiecess to investigational medici
for unmet medical needs within the scope of thetang early access legislation. Access is provide@sponse to physician requests in a
compliant manner, where no alternative treatmerionp are available to these patients. Celsioh pvibvide ThermoDox® to centers ¢
excellence in the EU and Switzerland through itdyEAccess Program with myTomorrows, at prices tirat comparable to chemotherapel
used to treat this and other aggressive form of@an The Company expects to have ThermoDax&llable for the EAP in the second que
of 2015.
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19. SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (Unaudited)

(in thousands, except per share data) Quarters Ended
September
March 31 June 30 30 December 3.

2014
Total revenue $ 12t $ 12t $ 12t $ 12t
Net loss (5,427 (6,679 (6,947) (6,45%)
Basic and diluted net loss per share (0.39) (0.3¢) (0.35) (0.39)
2013

Total revenue $ 128 $ 128 $ 128 $ 12t

Net loss (651) 421 (4,072) (3,94¢)

Non-cash deemed dividend from beneficial conver&ature on

convertible preferred stock (4,609 — — —

Basic and diluted net loss available to commonedi@ders per share (0.4¢) 0.0z (0.30) (0.29
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EXHIBIT 10.8

EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

This EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”)is made and entered into effective as of the 5th afaDecember 2014 (il
“Effective Date”), by and between Celsion Corparatia Delaware corporation (the “Company”), and hiel H. Tardugnoan individual (th
“Executive”).

WITNESSETH

WHEREAS , the Company desires to retain the Executive teesi the capacities of Chairman, President an@fExecutive Officer of th
Company on the terms and conditions set forthismAlgreement; and

WHEREAS , the Executive desires to accept employment ih sapacities on such terms and conditions.

NOW, THEREFORE , in consideration of the premises and the mutoakenants and agreements herein contained, and gtioel an
valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficieatwhich are hereby acknowledged by the partiestbesuch parties, intending to be leg
bound, agree as follows:

1.

Employment Duties and Acceptar.

(a) In accordance with the terms of this Agreemtéret, Company hereby employs the Executive, fofTiwen (as hereinafter define
to render fulltime services to the Company as Chairman, PresatahtChief Executive Officer and to perform thetoosary dutie
and bear the customary responsibilities of suclitipas and such other duties and responsibilitespmensurate with such positic
as the Executive shall be directed from time tcetiny the Board (the “Board§f the Company to perform or bear, which duties
responsibilities shall be consistent with the psavis of the Bylaws of the Company in effect on diage hereof that relate to or k£
upon the duties of the Chairman, President andf@hxiecutive Officer, all in accordance with thenerof this Agreement.

(b) The Executive hereby accepts such employmethiagrees to render the services described aboaecordance with the terms
this Agreement.

(c) The Executive further agrees to accept elediuthto serve during all or any part of the Terna asrector of the Company withc
any compensation therefor other than that specifigkis Agreement, if elected to such positionttsy Board or the stockholders of
Company. At all times during the Term, the Compahall include the Executive in the management statelection as a director
every stockholderaneeting at which his term as a director would oflige expire. At the request of the Board, followbegminatiol
or expiration of this Agreement, the Executive ppbimshall tender his resignation as a directathef Company.




(d) The principal place of employment of the Ex@aithereunder shall at all times during the Termirbéhe Lawrenceville, Ne
Jersey area or such other location(s) as may beathuticceptable to the Executive and the Board.

(e) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary heraithough the Executive shall provide servicesaafll-time employee, it
understood that the Executive, with prior notifioatto the Board, may (1) participate in professioactivities; (2) publish acaden
articles; (3) support nooempeting external research programs; and (4)qi@ate in community and/or philanthropic activi
(collectively, “Permitted Activities”)provided,that such Permitted Activities do not interferehwihe Executives duties or services
the Company.

Term of Employmen.

The initial term of the Executive’s employment untlés Agreement (the “Term'$hall commence on the Effective Date and shal
on the January 31, 2018, unless sooner terminatéidebCompany or the Executive pursuant to Sedjohor 8 of this Agreement,
the case may be, or voluntarily by the Executiveitwithstanding the foregoing, unless notice is gil®y the Executive or tl
Company to the other at least three (3) monthg poithe expiration of the Term of this Agreementluding at least three (3) mon
prior to the expiration of any extension hereofpesvided below), the Term automatically shall béeaded by one (1) year from-
date it would otherwise end (whether upon expiratibthe initial Term or any extension(s) thereaf)less sooner terminated pursi
to Section 6, 7 or 8 hereof or voluntarily by theeEutive. In the event of such an automatic extanghe term “Term,as used herei
shall include each and any such extension.

Compensation and Benefits

(a) As compensation for the services to be rendpuegluant to this Agreement, the Company agre@ayahe Executive, during t
period from the Effective Date through and inclgdibecember 31, 2014, an annual base salary inntloeirst of $465,462 (theBase
Salary”). The Executive’ Base Salary hereunder shall be reviewed as ofadad, 2015 and at least annually thereafter duttm
Term of the Agreement for adjustment upward (butdamwnward) in the discretion of the Board or then(pensation Committee
the Board. The ExecutiveBase Salary, as so adjusted, shall be consitlezatew Base Salary for all purposes of this AgersmT he
Base Salary shall be paid in accordance with thegamy’s standard payroll practices applicableg@énior executives.

(b) The Company agrees that the Executive shadlligible for an annual performance bonus from tloenany with respect to ec
fiscal year of the Company that ends during therlTgursuant to the Compasymanagement incentive bonus program, or poli
practice of the Board or Compensation Committeesfiact from time to time. The amount of any su@rfprmance bonus shall
determined by the Board or the Compensation Coramitif the Board in its sole and absolute discretmmsistent with tt
Company’'s performance, the Executive’s contributtonthe Companyg performance and the provisions of any such agiplhk
incentive bonus program, policy or practiggpvided, howeverthat such annual performance bonus shall not exoeedhundre
percent (100%) of the Base Salary for the fiscalryte which the bonus applies except pursuantdpegific finding by the Board
the Compensation Committee of the Board that adriglercentage is appropriate. Any such annual padioce bonus shall be p
not later than two and one-half months after the @frthe fiscal year to which the bonus relates.




(c) The Company agrees to grant to the Executiwang the Term, at the time of its usual annuahgta employees for the applica
year, such options and/or other equity awards veigpect to shares of the Compangbommon stock as the Board or the Compens
Committee of the Board shall determine. In the éwdna Change in Control (as defined in Section &Rjhe Company, all su
options and other equity awards granted by the Gompo the Executive prior to such event, shall edrately vest and, in the cas¢
options and similar awards, become and remain &Mbrcisable through their respective original maxin terms (provided that, af
giving effect to such accelerated vesting and pliog the Executive a reasonable opportunity to @gersuch vested options
similar awards, such options and awards shall bgesuto earlier termination in connection withfgnge in control of the Compe
and similar events as provided in the applicabée @ind/or award agreement) and otherwise in aceoedaith their respective ter
and conditions.

(d) The Company shall pay or reimburse the Exeeutiv all reasonable expenses actually incurrguhat by the Executive during t
Term in the performance of services under this Agrent, upon presentation of expense statementowshers or such ott
supporting information as may reasonably be requigrsuant to the standard policies of the Compamjfect from time to time. Tt
Executive agrees to promptly submit and document emmbursable expenses in accordance with the @agip expens
reimbursement policies to facilitate the timelymbursement of such expenséglditionally, the Executive shall receive a $12,
annual allowance to be used at the Execugidiscretion. The allowance will be grossed uptéorpurposes at the rate of 25%. £
allowance and related tax gross-up shall be paidater than two and onlgalf months after the end of the year to whichahewanct
relates.

(e) During the Term, the Company shall, at its &&c reimburse the Executive for term life insurarat a level equal to one (1) tir
his Base Salary, or provide coverage for the Exeeuwt such level.

(f) During the Term, the Executive shall be eligibd participate in all qualified and neopralified savings and retirement plans, an
other compensation and benefit plans and programtisiding welfare and fringe benefit programs tag generally made available
the Company to other senior executives of the Cappa each case in accordance with the eligibaityg participation provisions
such plans and programs and as such plans or pregray be in effect from time to time.




(g) During the Term, the Executive shall be eligifbr paid vacation of five (5) weeks per calengar taken in accordance with
vacation policy of the Company. In the event thaedutive does not utilize all of his vacation inyazalendar year, he may ce
forward up to five (5) weeks (twenty five (25) dayer up to one (1) calendar year. Unused vacatlags shall not otherwi
accumulate.

Confidentiality.

The Executive acknowledges and agrees that the ldymp Proprietary Information and Ownership of Imiens Agreementannexe
hereto as Exhibit A shall be deemed incorporatedrid made a part of this Employment Agreement. Mbstanding any oth
provision of this Agreement, the Executive shalhtimue to be bound by the terms of such Propriekafgrmation and Inventiol
Agreement for a period of five (5) years after gxpiration or termination of this Agreement for amason. The Executive and
Company agree that following expiration or termiotof this Agreement for any reason the Propnetaformation and Inventiol
Agreement shall be applicable only to material,-pablic, proprietary information of the Company.

Non-Competition, NorSolicitation and NotDisparagement

(a) During the Term, the Executive shall not (Igyide any services, directly or indirectly, to asther business or commercial er
without the consent of the Board or (2) participetehe formation of any business or commercialtgmnithout the consent of tl
Board;provided, however that nothing contained in this Section 5(a) shaldeemed to prohibit the Executive from acquirsaely
as an investment, shares of capital stock (or attterests) of any corporation (or other entity} erceeding two percent (2%) of s
corporation’s (or other entity’s) then-outstandigsigares of capital stock (or other interests) gwdyvided further, that nothin
contained herein shall be deemed to limit the Etteels Permitted Activities pursuant to Section)1(e

(b) If this Agreement is terminated by the Comp#&onyCause (as defined in Section 6(c)) or if thedxive terminates this Agreem
other than in accordance with Section 7 or 8 heraoif the Executive is entitled to receive sevem payments in connection wit
termination of his employment in accordance witlcti®a 9(c)(i) or 9(d)(i), then for a period of tw@) years following the date
termination the Executive shall not (1) provide ayvices, directly or indirectly, to any other imess or commercial entity in 1
Companys Field of Interest (as defined in Section 12),9@)cit any customers or suppliers of the Comp48yattempt to persua
or encourage customers or suppliers of the Compahyo do business with the Company and/or to donmss with a competitor
the Company, (4) participate in the formation of dnusiness or commercial entity engaged primariljtHe Company Field o
Interest, or (5) directly or indirectly employ, seek to employ or secure the services in any cgpaiany person employed at t
time by the Company or any of its Affiliates, ohetwise encourage or entice any such person t@ Isagh employment; providt
however, that nothing contained in this Sectior) S{all be deemed to prohibit the Executive fromuiiing, solely as an investme
shares of capital stock (or other interests) of eogporation (or other entity) in the CompasyField of Interest not exceeding 1
percent (2%) of such corporation’s (or other ehgifythen outstanding shares of capital stock (oerotiterests) and, provided furtr
that nothing contained herein shall be deemedttit Executives Permitted Activities pursuant to Section 1(e)isTection 5(b) she
be subject to written waivers, which may be obtdibg the Executive from the Company.




(c) At no time during the Term of this Agreementlogreafter will the Executive knowingly make angjtten or oral untrue statem
or any statement that disparages the Company okffikates or will the Company knowingly make arwritten or oral untru
statement or any statement that disparages theufixec

(d) If the Executive commits a breach, or threatensommit a breach, of any of the provisions a§ tBection 5 or Exhibit A, tt
Company shall have the right and remedy to haveptbeisions of this Agreement or Exhibit A, as ttese may be, specifica
enforced by any court having equity jurisdictianheing acknowledged and agreed that any such bi@atireatened breach will ca
irreparable injury to the Company and that monayaiges will not provide an adequate remedy to thagzmy.

(e) If any of the covenants contained in this S&ch or Exhibit A or any part hereof or thereofhereafter construed to be inva
illegal or unenforceable by a court or regulatoggrcy or tribunal of competent jurisdiction, suchurt, agency or tribunal shall he
the power, and hereby is directed, to substituteofdimit such provision(s) in order as closely@sssible to effectuate the origi
intent of the parties with respect to such invaligal or unenforceable covenant(s) generally ando enforce such substitu
covenant(s). Subject to the foregoing, the invalidllegality or unenforceability of any one or neoof the covenants contained in
Section 5 shall not affect the validity of any athmovision hereof, which shall be given full effesithout regard to the inval
portions.

(f) If any of the covenants contained in this St or Exhibit A, or any part hereof or theresfhield to be unenforceable becaus
the duration of such provision, the area coverestety or the extent thereof, the parties agree tattribunal making su
determination shall have the power, and herebyirectkd, to reduce the duration, area and/or extérsuch provision and, in
reduced form, such provision shall then be enfdrteea

(g) Anything else contained in this Agreement te ttontrary notwithstanding, the parties heretonidtéo and hereby do con
jurisdiction to enforce the covenants containedhis Section 5 and Exhibit A upon the courts of atgte within the geographi
scope of such covenants. In the event that thetsafrany one or more of such states shall hold sugh covenant whol
unenforceable by reason of the breadth of suchescoptherwise, it is the intention of the partieseto that such determination
bar or in any way affect the Compasyight to the relief provided above in the cowftany other state within the geographical si
of such other covenants, as to breaches of suoknamws in such other jurisdictions, the above camtnas they relate to each ¢
being, for this purpose, severable into diverseinddpendent covenants.




6. _Termination by the Company

During the Term of this Agreement, the Company teagninate this Agreement if any one or more offtilwing shall occur:

(a) The Executive shall die during the Temnovided, however that the Executive’ legal representatives shall be entitled to re
() the Executive’'s Base Salary through the datehvis ninety (90) days after the Executivelate of death and (2) a pro rata an
performance bonus (prorated by multiplying the fidar bonus that otherwise would be due by thegoeage derived from dividil
the number of days in the then-current year prothe death of the Executive by three hundred ity (365) with respect to tl
fiscal year of the Company during which death osculpon the Executive’death, stock options previously granted to thecHive
that are vested and fully exercisable at the tifngeath shall remain fully exercisable, by the Exa@'s legal representatives, thro
their respective original maximum terms (subjecetalier termination in connection with a changecamtrol of the Company a
similar events as provided in the applicable plad/ar award agreement) and otherwise in accordaitbetheir respective terms a
conditions. All stock options and stock awards (aimdilar equity rights) that have not vested pthor date of death shall be forfeited.

(b) The Executive shall become physically or méytdisabled so that the Executive is unable sulisthnto perform his service
hereunder for (1) a period of one hundred twen0jXonsecutive days, or (2) shorter periods aggireg one hundred eigt
(180) days during any twelve (12) month peripdpvided, however that the Company may terminate the Execusivahploymer
under this Section 6(b) only upon thirty (30) dagsbr written notice given by the Company to thesEutive. Notwithstanding su
disability the Company shall continue to pay the=&irive his Base Salary through the date of suohitation. In addition, tF
Executive shall be entitled to a pro rata annudopmance bonus (prorated by multiplying the fudlay bonus that otherwise would
due by the percentage derived from dividing the peinof days in the theodrrent year prior to the termination on accourdisfbility
of the Executive by three hundred siXtye (365) with respect to the fiscal year of then@pany during which such termination occ
Upon such a disability, stock options previouslgrged to the Executive that are vested and fulbr@gable at the time of disabil
shall remain fully exercisable, by the Executivehis legal representatives, should he have sucbugh their respective origir
maximum terms (subject to earlier termination inmection with a change in control of the Compang similar events as provided
the applicable plan and/or award agreement) anghetle in accordance with their respective ternts @mnditions. All stock optior
and stock awards (and similar equity rights) theatehnot vested prior to the date of disability khalforfeited by the Executive.




(c) The Executive acts, or fails to act, in a manthat provides Cause for termination. For purpasiethis Agreement, the tel
“Cause” means (1) the Executigahdictment for, or conviction of, any crime orise@s offense involving money or other propertyt
constitutes a felony in the jurisdiction involve@) the Executives willful and ongoing neglect of, or failure to diarge, dutie
(including fiduciary duties), responsibilities anbligations with respect to the Company hereunpigyidedsuch neglect or failu
remains uncured for a period of thirty (30) day®afvritten notice describing the same is giverht® Executive by the Compal
(3) the Executive’s violation of any of the non-qoatition provisions of Section 5 hereof or the Exa®’'s material breach of a
provisions of Section 13 hereof or Exhibit A hereato (4) any act of fraud or embezzlement by thedtxive involving the Compa
or any of its Affiliates. All determinations of Cs@ for termination pursuant to this Section 6 shallimade by the Board, and s
require at least a two-thirds (2/3) vote of thdrerBoard excluding the Executive, should he themlmember of the Board.

Termination by the Executive

The Executive may terminate this Agreement on amithotice to the Company in the event of a matériehch of the terms of tl
Agreement by the Company if such breach continmesined for thirty (30) days after written noticesdgbing the breach is first giv
to the Companyprovided, howevey that the Executive may terminate this Agreemestich breach is for the payment of money
continues uncured for ten (10) days after writtetioe describing such breach is first given. Thedixive may also terminate t
Agreement upon written notice to the Company if ang or more of the following shall occur:

(a) loss of material duties or authority of the Extave as Chairman, President and Chief Executiffee€, and such loss continues
thirty (30) days after written notice of such lasgjiven to the Company;

(b) a Prohibited Event occurprovidedthat the Executive gives written notice of termioatwithin ninety (90) days after st
occurrence and such Prohibited Event is not rendedithin thirty (30) days after such notice. Foistpurpose a “Prohibited Event”
exists if the Executive is not continuously at temse (1) of Chairman, President or Chief Execu@fficer of the Company during t
Term;

(c) the Company shall make a general assignmetutefoefit of creditors, or any proceeding shallistifuted by the Company seek
to adjudicate it a bankrupt or insolvent, or segKigquidation, winding up, reorganization, arranget) adjustment, protection, rel
or composition of it or its debts under any lavatiglg to bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganizatiomadief of debtors, or seeking en
of an order for relief or the appointment of a reeg trustee, or other similar official for it éor any substantial part of its property
the Company shall take any corporate action tocaizh any of the actions set forth above in thisti®a 7(c);




(d) an involuntary petition shall be filed or artian or proceeding otherwise commenced agains€Ctrapany seeking reorganizati
arrangement or readjustment of the Compsaugbts or for any other relief under the FedeeaikBuptcy Code, as amended, or ul
any other bankruptcy or insolvency act or law,estatfederal, now or hereafter existing and sheatiain undismissed or unstayed f
period of thirty (30) days;

(e) a receiver, assignee, liquidator, trustee milar officer for the Company or for all or any paf its property shall be appoin
involuntarily; or

(f) a material breach by the Company of any othatemial agreement with the Executive shall ocdusuch breach continues uncu
for thirty (30) days after written notice descrigisuch breach is first given to the Compapsqgvided, however that the Executiy
shall be permitted to terminate this Agreementdisbreach is for the payment of money and consinuneured for ten (10) days a
written notice describing such breach is first give

Termination Following a Change in Control

(a) In addition to the above, during the period omncing on the six (6) month anniversary of a ClaimgControl (as defined
Section 12) of the Company and ending on the tWgé€ar anniversary of such Change in Control, tkechtive may terminate tt
Agreement upon expiration of ninety (90) days’ priwitten notice if “Good Reason” exists for thedeutive’s termination. For th
purpose, termination for “Good Reasoshall mean a termination by the Executive of higpleyment hereunder following t
occurrence, without his prior written consent, afy af the following events, unless the Companyyfuures all grounds for su
termination within thirty (30) days after the Exéga’s notice:

(i) any material adverse change in the Execusiwithority, duties, titles or offices (includingporting responsibility), or a
significant increase in the Executigebusiness travel obligations, from those existmgediately prior to the Change
Control;

(ii) any failure by the Company to continue in effany compensation plan in which the Executivdigipated immediate
prior to such Change in Control and which is mateio the Executives total compensation, including but not limiteckite
Companys stock option, bonus and other plans or any dubstplans adopted prior to the Change in Controless a
equitable arrangement (embodied in an ongoing gutesor alternative plan) has been made with retsigesuch plan, or al
failure by the Company to continue the Execusvgarticipation therein (or in such substitute legraative plan) on a basis
less favorable to the Executive, both in termshefamount of benefits provided and the level ofERecutives participatio
relative to other participants, as existed immedyaprior to such Change in Control;




(iii) any failure by the Company to continue to yide the Executive with benefits substantially $amito those enjoyed |
the Executive under any of the Companyktirement, life insurance, medical, health andident, or disability plan
programs or arrangements in which the Executive peaicipating immediately prior to such Change&iontrol, the taking «
any action by the Company that would directly afiiactly materially reduce any of such benefitsleprive the Executive
any perquisite enjoyed by the Executive at the t@hsuch Change in Control, or the failure by thenpany to maintain
vacation policy with respect to the Executive tisadt least as favorable as the vacation policye(ivr formal or informal) i
place with respect to the Executive immediatelpiptd such Change in Control; or

(iv) the failure of the Company to obtain the asption in writing of its obligation to perform thidgreement by ar
successor to all or substantially all of the assétee Company upon a merger, consolidation, sagmilar transaction.

(b) In addition, the Executive may elect to ternténhis employment, at his own initiative, for amason or for no reason, during
six- (6) month period commencing on the six (6) Athoanniversary of a Change in Control of the Comypend ending on the one (1)-
year anniversary of such Change in Control, in Whiase such termination of employment shall alsald®med to be forGooc
Reason.”

Severance and Benefit Continuation

(a) Termination for Cause or Voluntary Termination hg Executivelf the Company terminates this Agreement for Cquesuant t
Section 6(c) hereof, or if the Executive voluntarierminates this Agreement other than pursuarfbeotion 7 or 8 hereof (whi
termination alone shall not constitute a breachthid Agreement), no severance or benefit contionaprovisions shall appl
provided, howevetthat the Executive shall have the same opportunigontinue group health benefits at the ExecusivXpense
accordance with the Consolidated Omnibus BudgetoRalkation Act of 1985 (“COBRA")as is available generally to ot
employees terminating employment with the Compakily.stock options and stock awards (and similarigqughts) held by th
Executive that have vested prior to such termimatibthis Agreement may be exercised by the Exeeutr a period of one hundt
eighty (180) days after the date of terminatiorbjsct to earlier termination in connection withtange in control of the Company
similar events as provided in the applicable plad/ar award agreement), at which time they shalbraatically be forfeited if n
exercised. All stock options and stock awards @mdlar equity rights) that have not vested primstich termination shall be forfer
by the Executive. For purposes of this Agreemanglaction by the Company not to renew this Agresrbeyond the end of the then-
current Term shall be considered a terminatiorhisf Agreement Other Than for Cause.




(b) Termination for Death or Disabilityn the event of termination of this Agreement parsito Section 6(a) or 6(b) by reason ol
death or disability of the Executive, in additianthe Base Salary payments and pro rata annuarpwhce bonus provided for
paragraph (a) or (b) of Section 6, as applicalble,Gompany shall continue to provide all benefifisjasct to COBRA, at its sole ci
and expense, with respect to the Executive anddpgendents for the maximum period provided by COBRA

(c) Termination by the Company Other Than for Caus&emination by the Executive Based on a Materia@a8h by the Compar
If (1) the Company terminates this Agreement arel Executives employment other than pursuant to Section 6 fered2) the
Executive terminates this Agreement and his empéntpursuant to Section 7, and in each case thénation of employment do
not occur on or within two (2) years following tbensummation of a Change in Control of the Compéren:

(i) the Company shall pay the Executive in accocgawith its normal payroll practice an amount edoathe Executives
Base Salary at the annualized rate in effect ondite of such termination, such payment to be madegual monthl
installments (rounded down to the nearest wholet)cever a period of twelve (12) consecutive monfbbowing the
Executive’s Separation from Service (as define@éttion 12) (the “Severance Periodi)ith the first installment payab
subject to Section 14(b), in the month following thonth in which the Executive’'s Separation fromvige occurs;

(ii) all Company employee benefit plans and progsaincluding, but not limited to, the plans and gnams set forth

Section 3(f)), other than participation in any Canyp taxqualified retirement plan and any bonus, equityptber incentiv
plans and programs, applicable to the Executivdl fleacontinued for the Severance Period (or, dhsbenefits are n
available, or cannot be provided due to applicédle the Company shall pay the Executive a lump sash amount equal
the after-tax economic equivalent thergmipvidedthat, with respect to any benefit to be providedaaninsured basis, st
lump sum cash value shall be the present valubeoptemiums expected to be paid for such covemuys with respect

other benefits, such value shall be the presenieval the expected cost to the Company of providingh benefits, and th
in all events, such payment shall be made withiretyi (90) days following the ExecutiwSeparation from Service). In

case of all benefits subject to COBRA, the Compstmgil continue to provide such benefits at its esgewith respect to t
Executive and his dependents for the maximum pgriodided by COBRA,; and

(iii) all stock options and awards of restrictedcst (and similar equity rights), to the extent ¢ammsling and vested on the ¢
of such termination of this Agreement, shall renfaity exercisable through their respective origimaximum terms (subje
to earlier termination in connection with a chamgeontrol of the Company and similar events aviged in the applicab
plan and/or award agreement) and otherwise in daoge with their respective terms and conditions.




(d) Involuntary Termination Other Than for Cause, Taration by theExecutive Based on a Material Breach by the Comparfpr
Good Reas on, or Nonrenewal by the Company, or WpaXfter a Change in Controllf (1) the Company terminates this Agreen
and the Executive’ employment other than pursuant to Section 6 feyed?2) the Executive terminates this Agreemend due
employment pursuant to Section 7 or 8, and in emde the termination of employment occurs on ohiwitwo (2) years of tt
consummation of a Change in Control of the Comp#ren:

(i) the Company shall pay the Executive a cash lsmp equal to one (1) times the ExecuvBase Salary at the annuali
rate in effect on the date of such terminationhspayment to be made, subject to Section 14(theénmonth following th
month in which the Executive’s Separation from Ssoccurs;

(ii) all Company employee benefit plans and progsaincluding, but not limited to, the plans and gmams set forth
Section 3(f), other than participation in any Compdax-qualified retirement plan, applicable to the Exaautshall b
continued for one (1) year from the date of suchieation of employment (or, if such benefits act available, or cannot
provided due to applicable law, the Company shajl fne Executive a lump sum cash amount equalet@aftiertax economi
equivalent thereofprovidedthat, with respect to any benefit to be provided on auiiad basis, such lump sum cash v
shall be the present value of the premiums expeoteé paid for such coverage, and with respeother benefits, such val
shall be the present value of the expected castet@ompany of providing such benefits and thagllirvents, such payme
shall be made within ninety (90) days following aeecutives Separation from Service). In the case of all fisnsubject t
COBRA, the Company shall continue to provide suehdfits at its sole cost and expense with respetiie Executive ar
his dependents for the maximum period provided ®BRA; and

(iii) all stock options and awards of restrictedct (and similar equity rights), to the extent thested and outstanding (a
giving effect to any accelerated vesting pursuarBédction 3 (c) hereof), shall remain fully exeabtite through their respect
original maximum terms (provided that, after givieffect to such accelerated vesting and providimg Executive
reasonable opportunity to exercise such vestedmptind similar awards, such options and awardbktshaubject to earli
termination in connection with a change in contriothe Company and similar events as provided énajbplicable plan and;
award agreement) and otherwise in accordance Wwéhr tespective terms and conditions as if no ChangControl ha
occurred.




(e) The payments provided in Section 9(c) and @¢@) intended as enhanced severance for a termmnlayidhe Company witho
Cause, or a termination by the Executive in theurirstances provided. As a condition of receivinthgpayments, the Executive or
legal representatives, should he have such, shatllefkecute and deliver to the Company within tiyeane (21) days following su
termination of employment a general release otlalims against the Company, its Affiliates, ageantsl employees (other than
claims or rights pursuant to the Agreement or pamstio equity or employee benefit plans), in a famad substance satisfactory to
Company, and shall not revoke such release within ravocation period provided under applicable l&mwvconnection with suc
release by the Executive, the Company shall exesnudedeliver a comparable release of claims ag#iesExecutive within twenty-
one (21) days following such termination of empl@n Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Executivayrelect to forego tt
severance payments provided herein, in which eneither party shall be required to execute a reledghe other. Notwithstandi
the foregoing provisions of this section 9(e), etease to be granted by the Executive shall beinestjtio cause the Executive
release the Company from, waive, or forego in aay any of the Executive’rights to indemnification under the applicablevision:
of the Certificate of Incorporation or By-laws diet Company or any thexisting agreement between the Company and theuiixe
with respect thereto; and no release to be grdmtetie Company hereunder shall apply to any obbgadf the Executive pursuant
this Agreement or any act of fraud or material diststy by the Executive. In addition, any releasiged by one party to the otl
party pursuant to this Section 9(e) shall be nadl woid if the other party does not timely provitie release required hereunder (o
the case of the release provided by the CompantheifExecutive revokes his release within any ration period provided t
applicable law).

10. _Cooperation

Following the termination of his employment, theeEutive agrees to cooperate with, and assist, tap@ny to ensure a smo
transition in management and, if requested by tbe@any, to make himself available to consult duniagular business hours
mutually agreed upon times for up to a three (3hti@eriod thereafter. At any time following thenénation of his employment, t
Executive will provide such information as the Ca@anp may request with respect to any Compaelated transaction or other ma
in which the Executive was involved in any way whdmployed by the Company. The Executive furtheeesy during the Term
this Agreement and thereafter, to assist and catpevith the Company in connection with the defesrsgrosecution of any claim tt
may be made against, or by, the Company or itdidtiis, in connection with any dispute or claimaofy kind involving the Compal
or its Affiliates, including providing testimony iany proceeding before any arbitral, administratjudicial, legislative or other bo
or agency. The Executive shall be entitled to reirmbment for all properly documented expenses nadp incurred in connectis
with rendering transition services under this Smttincluding, but not limited to, reimbursement &l reasonable travel, lodgir
meal expenses and legal fees, and the Executiebghantitled to a per diem amount for his sersiegual to his then most rec
annualized Base Salary under this Agreement, divietwo hundred forty (240) (business days).




11. No Mitigation.

12.

The Executive shall not be required to mitigate dngount of any payment provided for hereunder lakieg other employment
otherwise, nor shall the amount of any payment igex\/for hereunder be reduced by any compensatiored by the Executive as
result of employment by another employer afterdate of termination of employment by the Company.

Definitions
As used herein, the following terms have the follmpymeaning:

(a) “Affiliate” means and includes any person, corporation or athigtyy controlling, controlled by or under commeowontrol with the
person, corporation or other entity in questiortedained in accordance with Rule 12hinder the Securities Exchange Act of 1
as amended).

(b) “Change in Control” means the occurrence of aihe following events:

(i) Any Person, other than the Company, its Afféisor any Company employee benefit plan (including trustee of such plan act
as trustee), is or becomes the Beneficial Owneecty or indirectly, of securities of the Compampresenting more than fifty perc
(50%) of the combined voting power of the then @mnding securities entitled to vote generally ia #lection of directors Yoting
Securities”) of the Company; or

(ii) Individuals who constitute the Board of the @pany (the “Incumbent Directors”), as of the begignof any twentyfour
(24) month period commencing with the Effective ®af this Agreement, cease for any reason to datestat least a majority of t
directors. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any indial becoming a director subsequent to the beginmf such period, who
election or nomination for election by the Companstockholders, was approved by a vote of at wasthirds (2/3) of the directo
then comprising the Incumbent Directors, shalldemsidered an Incumbent Director; or

(i) Consummation by the Company of a recapitdl® reorganization, merger, consolidation or otkamilar transaction
“Business Combination”)with respect to which all or substantially all betindividuals and entities who were the benefioiahers @
the Voting Securities immediately prior such Buss€ombination (the “Incumbent Shareholdedsi)not, following consummatic
of all transactions intended to constitute partso€h Business Combination, beneficially own, diyect indirectly, fifty percer
(50%) or more of the Voting Securities of the cogtimn, business trust or other entity resultirgriror being the surviving entity
such Business Combination (the “Surviving Entityif) substantially the same proportion as their owhigr of such Voting Securiti
immediately prior to such Business Combination; or




13.

(iv) Consummation of a complete liquidation or dission of the Company, or the sale or other digosof all or substantially all «
the assets of the Company, other than to a coipordiusiness trust or other entity with respeattich, following consummation
all transactions intended to constitute part ohssale or disposition, more than fifty percent (5@¥the combined Voting Securit
is then owned beneficially, directly or indirectlyy the Incumbent Shareholders in substantiallysdrae proportion as their owners
of the Voting Securities immediately prior to sigadie or disposition.

For purposes of this definition, the following tesishall have the meanings set forth below:
(A) “Beneficial Owner” shall have the meaning st in Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act;
(B) “Exchange Act” shall mean the Securities Exa®Act of 1934, as amended; and

(C) “Person” shall have the meaning as used ini@ecil3(d) and 14(d) of the Exchange Act.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, a transaction shatlconstitute a Change in Control unless it istaahge in the ownership or effect
control” of the Company, or a change “in the owhgrof a substantial portion of the assaté'the Company within the meaning
Section 409A of the U.S. Internal Revenue Coded@6] as amended (“Code Section 409A”).

(c) “Company’s Field of Interest” means the primansinesses of the Company as described in the &uoyispthen two most rece
Annual Reports on Form 1R-filed by the Company with the Securities and Eawfge Commission (subject to any further descri
of such businesses that may be included in anyt@ilyaReports on Form 10-Q or Current Reports omF8K thereafter filed by tr
Company with the Securities and Exchange Commisinas determined from time to time by the Boaudry the Term hereof.

(d) As used herein, a “Separation from Serviseturs when the Executive dies, retires, or oth@wias a termination of employm
with the Company that constitutes a “separatiomfrgervice” within the meaning of Treasury Regulat®ection 1.409A(h)(1)
without regard to the optional alternative defimits available thereunder.

Representations by Executive

The Executive represents and warrants that heutlagght, power and authority to execute this Agmreent and perform his obligatic
hereunder and that this Agreement has been dubugee by the Executive and such execution and ¢nfegpnance of this Agreeme
by the Executive do not and will not result in amonflict, breach or violation of or default undewyaother agreement or any judgm
order or decree to which the Executive is a partpyowhich he is bound. The Executive acknowledged agrees that any mate
breach of the representations set forth in thii@®d 3 will constitute Cause under Section 6.




14. Section 409A Compliance

(@) Itis intended that any amounts payableeuriis Agreement shall either be exempt from angly with Code Section 40¢
(including the Treasury regulations and other i@t guidance relating thereto) so as not to sutljecExecutive to payment of &
additional tax, penalty or interest imposed unded& Section 409A. The provisions of this Agreemsimall be construed a
interpreted to avoid the imputation of any suchitital tax, penalty or interest under Code Sectl08A yet preserve (to the nea
extent reasonably possible) the intended benefilga to the Executive.

(b) If the Executive is a “specified employesithin the meaning of Treasury Regulation SectiofD9A-1(i) as of the date of tl
Executives Separation from Service, the Executive shallooentitled to any payment or benefit pursuantetctin 9(c) or 9(d) uni
the earlier of (i) the date which is six (6) mon#fter his Separation from Service for any reastwerothan death, or (ii) the date of
Executives death. The provisions of this Section 14(b) steally apply if, and to the extent, required to avibie imputation of any te
penalty or interest pursuant to Code Section 409#. amounts otherwise payable to the Executive ugan the six (6) month peri
following the Executives Separation from Service that are not so paicehgan of this Section 14(b) shall be paid (withntdrest) a
soon as practicable (and in all events within yh{B0) days) after the date that is six (6) morfier the Executive’ Separation fro
Service (or, if earlier, as soon as practicablé, iarall events within thirty (30) days, after ttiate of the Executive’s death).

(c) To the extent that any benefits pursuanSeéation 9(c)(ii) or 9(d)(ii) or reimbursements guant to Section 3(d) or 3(e)

taxable to the Executive, any reimbursement paymeatto the Executive pursuant to any such provisiwll be paid to the Execut
on or before the last day of the Executs/¢axable year following the taxable year in whibh related expense was incurred.
benefits and reimbursements pursuant to such poogisare not subject to liquidation or exchangedioother benefit and the ama
of such benefits and reimbursements that the Ekecuéceives in one taxable year shall not affeet amount of such benefits
reimbursements that the Executive receives in #mgrdaxable year.




15.

16.

17.

Arbitration

The parties shall attempt in good faith to resdileclaims, disputes and other disagreements grisereunder by negotiation. In

event that a dispute between the parties cannogdmved within thirty (30) days of written noti®m one party to the other pal
such dispute shall, at the request of either patier providing written notice to the other parbe submitted to arbitration
Lawrenceville, New Jersey in accordance with thstition rules of the American Arbitration Assadiim then in effect. The notice
arbitration shall specifically describe the claimisputes or other matters in issue to be submittedbitration. The parties shall join
select a single arbitrator who shall have the aitthto hold hearings and to render a decisiondooadance with the arbitration ru
of the American Arbitration Association. If the fias are unable to agree within ten (10) days attbétrator shall be selected by
Chief Judge of the Circuit Court for Howard Countihe discovery rights and procedures provided gy Rederal Rules of Ci
Procedure shall be available and enforceable irathiration proceeding. The written decision af #rbitrator so appointed shall
conclusive and binding on the parties and enfoleelp a court of competent jurisdiction. The expensf the arbitration shall

borne equally by the parties to the arbitratiord aach party shall pay for and bear the cost afritsis own experts, evidence and It
counsel, unless the arbitrator rules otherwiséénarbitration. Each party agrees to use its obé&ss efforts to cause a final decisio
be rendered with respect to the matter submitte@rkitration within sixty (60) days after its sulmsion. Notwithstanding tl
foregoing, the Company shall be free to pursuegtsts and remedies under Section 5 hereof andupatso Exhibit A hereto in ai
court of competent jurisdiction, without regardhe arbitral proceedings contemplated by this Saclb.

Notices.

All notices, requests, consents and other commtioitarequired or permitted to be given hereunderomtemplated or in connecti
herewith shall be in writing and shall be deemetidee been duly given if sent by private overniglaiil service (delivery confirme
by such service), registered or certified mailyretreceipt requested and received), telecopy {coatl receipt by return fax from t
receiving party) or if delivered personally, addals (or to such other address as either partyt dealgnate by notice in writing to t
other in accordance herewith):

If to the Company:

Celsion Corporation

997 Lenox Drive, Suite 100

Lawrenceville, NJ 08648

Attention: Chairman of the Compensation Committee
Telephone: 609-896-9100

Fax: 609-896-2200

If to the Executive:
Michael Tardugno
Address:

Telephone:
Fax: —

Indemnification and Limitation of Liability

The Corporation acknowledges and agrees that thteqiions afforded by Article Ninth of the Amendadd Restated Certificate
Incorporation, as amended, of the Corporation, Artitle VI of the Bylaws, as amended, of the Cogimm are available to t
Executive throughout the Term and thereafter, soetance with their respective terms.




18. General

(a) This Agreement shall be governed by and coedtand enforced in accordance with the laws ofStia¢e of New Jersey applica
to agreements made and to be performed entirdlieim Jersey.

(b) This Agreement, together with the agreementa#h in Annex A hereto, sets forth the entireesgnent and understanding of
parties relating to the subject matter hereof, smgersedes all prior agreements, arrangements radetstandings, written or or
relating to the subject matter hereof. No repres@nt, promise or inducement has been made byrgitiy that is not embodied
this Agreement, and neither party shall be bounatifable for any alleged representation, prongsénducement not so set fol
Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event that ginovisions hereof shall conflict with the ternisaay stock option grant agreem:
stock award agreement or similar document grargiagk options, warrants or similar rights, thentédmens hereof shall control.

(c) This Agreement may be amended, modified, seplexd, canceled, renewed or extended, and the tarom/enants hereof may
waived, only by a written instrument executed by fgarties hereto, or in the case of a waiver, kypérty waiving compliance. T
failure of a party at any time or times to requerformance of any provision hereof shall in no nearaffect the right at a later time
enforce the same. No waiver by a party of the Wrazfcany term or covenant contained in this Agrestmehether by conduct
otherwise, or any one or more or continuing waivarany such breach, shall constitute a waivetheflireach of any other term
covenant contained in this Agreement.

(d) This Agreement shall be binding upon and intreahe benefit of the legal representatives, healistributees, successors
permitted assigns of the parties hereto. The Cognpaay not assign its rights and obligation undés tkgreement without the pri
written consent of the Executive, except to a ss®oe to substantially all the Compasybusiness that expressly assume:
Company’s obligations hereunder in writing. Forpmses of this Agreement, “successasball mean any successor by way of s
exchange, merger, consolidation, reorganizatiorsionilar transaction, or the sale of all or substiyt all of the assets of tl
Company. The Executive may not assign, transfanate or encumber any rights or obligations urldisr Agreement, except by w
or operation of lawprovidedthat the Executive may designate beneficiariegteive any payments permitted under the termse
Company’s benefit plans.

[Signature Page follows.]




IN WITNESS WHEREOF , each of the parties has executed this Agreenratdriits or his seal effective as of the date &tstive written.

[SEAL]

[SEAL]

Celsion Corporation
By:

Print Name Robert W. Hooper

Director and Chairman of Compensation Committee

By:

Print Name: Michael H. Tardugno

Chairman, President & CEO



EXHIBIT 10.27

May 28, 2014
Khursheed Anwer
Dear Khursheed:

Celsion Corporation, a Delaware corporation ("Gel¥), is pleased to extend to you an offer of emplent with Celsion as

Executive Vice President and CSO Nucleic Acid Thgrgending the clos i ng of the purchase of sultistidy all of the assets

and assumption of certain specified liabilitieskgfen, Inc. , an Alabama corporation ("EGEN"), bylsite pursuant to that

certain Asset Purchase Agreement dated on or abeutlate hereof, by and between Celsion and EGE8l 'Purchase

Agreement"). This offer of employment is contingentthe closing of the transactions contemplatethbyPurchase Agreement
(the "Acquisition") and will be effective from arafter the date of the closing of the Acquisitio€lgsing Date"), subject to

your execution and delivery of this offer letterdathe Employee Proprietary Information Agreemenacited hereto (the

"Proprietary Information Agreement"). PLEASE NOTHAT THIS OFFER OF EMPLOYMENT AND THE PROPRIETARY
INFORMATION AGREEMENT WILL BE NULL AND VOID AND OF NO FORCE AND EFFECT IF THE ACQUISITION

DOES NOT CLOSE AND THE PURCHASE AGREEMENT IS TERVANED.

This offer letter, along with the Employee Propaigtinformation Agreement and the other documesfisrred to herein, is the
complete agreement regarding the terms and conditaf your employment and will supersede and replany prior
agreements (written or verbal) between you andi@eknd/or you and EGEN ("Prior Agreements"). Bgegating this offer of
employment with Celsion, you acknowledge and agtest upon the closing of the Acquisition, any Pribgreements
(including, without limitation, the Employment

Agreement and Non-Disclosure, Non-Competition amdn$fer of Intellectual Property Rights Agreemeatween you and
EGEN dated: January 11, 2005 , will be null andhand you will no longer be eligible for any betefir payments under any
such agreements.

Your starting salary with Celsion will be $11,464 .8very two weeks, which is $298,000 on an annedlizasis. Your salary
will be paid bi-weekly in arrears. Salary paymeo# be electronically deposited into a checkingrfegs account of your
choosing. Additionally,

. You will eligible for an annual bonus, with adat bonus of 40% (range 0% - 40%) of your annaakbsalary,
contingent upon meeting personal goals and comphjactives established by Celsion. Your bonus fir2will
be pro- rated for the time you are employed by iGelsYour actual bonus amount each year, if anyi, vé
determined by Celsion's Compensation Committe@&gatelegate) in its sole discretion. You will Hegible for a
bonus for a particular year only if you are emplbyéth Celsion through the date the bonus is paid.




e Subject to approval by the board of director€efsion (the " Boardf Directors"), you will be granted an option to puask 30,000
shares of Celsion common stock. This option graifitwest in equal annual installments over four yéars measured from the
Closing Date, subject in each case to your contirerployment with Celsion through the applicablstivey date. The per-share
exercise price of the option will be the per-shelosing price of Celsion stock on the date of thpraval of the Board of Directors
of this grant. The option will be granted underd anbject to the terms of, Celsion's stock incengilan and standard form of option
agreement under the plan. You will be considered fdiscretionary stock option award in 2015 ancuafly thereafter.

* In addition, you will be eligible for the benifiset forth in the Retention and Severance Agreeattached hereto.

e Subject to the approval of the Board of Direstgiou will also be granted 5,000 shares of Celstook vesting on the date of
approval.

As a member of our professional staff, your poriisalaried and exempt from federal wage-hour ¥ewu will not be eligible for overtime
pay for hours actually worked in excess of 40 igieen workweek. Your employment is at will. You Qelsion may terminate our
employment relationship at any time with or witheause or notice. As such, neither this letterargr other oral or written representations
may be considered a contract for any specific plesitime.

You will be eligible for a benefits package madeeayally available to Celsion employees, currentlyiuding medical, dental, life insurance,
voluntary life insurance, short and long term dikgband participation in a 401(k) plan (which cently includes matching contributions),
subject in each case to terms of the applicablgrpro as in effect from time to time. Medical, dérdad life insurance coverage will
continue under your current programs and will bgestt to renewal in December 2014 as part of Celsiannual renewal process. Subject tc
Celsion's vacation policy in effect from time tmé&, your annual vacation allowance is four (4) veepér year, accrued per pay period, anc
your vacation allowance for 2014 will be at a patarpercentage of a full year calculated from yfoat day of employment.

In addition, you are eligible for holiday, sick ampérsonal days. Personal day allowance for 2014réstsictions as specified in our
Employee Handbook. Details of the entire benefiskage will be given to you on your first day offgayment.




The terms of your employment shall be governedhieylaws of the State of Alabama. All forms of comgeation referred to in this letter are
subject to all applicable tax withholding. Except $uch withholding, you will be responsible foruyawn tax liability imposed with respect
to such compensation. This letter and all of yagints and obligations hereunder are personal toaymumay not be transferred or assignec
by you at any time. Celsion may assign its righidar this letter to any entity that assumes Celsiohligations hereunder in connection
with any sale or transfer of all or a substant@tion of Celsion' s assets to such entity.

Your employment start date is the Closing Date.your first day of employment with Celsion, pleasa@ documentation for the purpose
of completing the 1-9 Form which authorizes yourpbmyment in the United States. Please sign andrrehis letter via mail or fax to me at
(609) 482-4499 no later than June 2, 2014 to indigaur acceptance of this position.

If you have any questions about the contents «f liiiter or about your potential employment withistten Corporation, please contact
Jeffrey Church at (609) 896-9100.

On behalf of the Management and Employees of Qelsisincerely welcome you and wish to expressexgitement with your decision
to join Celsion Corporation.

Sincerely,

Michael H. Tardugno
Michael H. Tardugno

ACCEPTED:

Khursheed Anwe June 2, 201.

NAME Date




May 28, 2014
Khursheed Anwer

Re:Retention and Severance Agreement
Dear Khursheed:

Celsion Corporation, a Delaware corporation ("GelY), is pleased to offer you a retention bonusoopmity and
certain severance protections on the terms anditcamsl described below in this letter, pending thaesing of the purchase of
substantially all of the assets and the assumptiaertain specified liabilities of Egen, Inc., Alabama corporation ("EGEN"),
by Celsion pursuant to that certain Asset Purcliageement dated on or about the date hereof, bybahseen Celsion and
EGEN (the "Purchase Agreement"). This letter agm@ns contingent on the closing of the transastioontemplated by the
Purchase Agreement (the "Acquisition") and willdfective from and after the date of the closinghaf Acquisition ("Closing
Date"), subject to your execution and delivery u§ tletter agreement. PLEASE NOTE THAT THIS LETTRGREEMENT
WILL BE NULL AND VOID AND OF NO FORCE AND EFFECT IFTHE ACQUISITION DOES NOT CLOSE AND THE
PURCHASE AGREEMENT IS TERMINATED.

This letter agreement, along with your offer lettéth Celsion entered into concurrently herewith,the complete
agreement regarding the subject matter hereof ahdwpersede and replace any prior agreementstéwror verbal) between
you and Celsion and/or you and EGEN ("Prior Agreetsig. By accepting this letter agreement with @slsyou acknowledge
and agree that upon the closing of the Acquisitaory, Prior Agreements will be null and void and yeill no longer be eligible
for any benefits or payments under any such agretsne

I. Retention Stock Award. Subject to approvaltbhe board of directors of Celsion (the "BoardDifectors"), you
will be granted an award of 35,000 restricted sharfeCelsion common stock. This award will vesbime installment on the
date that is Thirty-six (36) months after the OhgsiDate (the "Vesting Date") subject to your coméid employment with
Celsion through the Vesting Date. If your employteith Celsion terminates for any reason priorhe Vesting Date, your
unvested shares will be forfeited to Celsion withamy payment or other consideration. The awardl beilgranted under, and
subject to the terms of, Celsion's Stock Incenflan and standard form of restricted stock awardeagent under the plan.




2. Retention Bonus. In addition, if your emptognt with Celsion continues through the VestingeDgbu will be entitled to a
retention bonus of $150,000, such amount to beipatdsh in a lump sum within thirty (30) days aftee Vesting Date.

3. Severance Benefits. If your employment v@tision is terminated by Celsion without Causedgfined below), you will be
entitled to receive as severance (a) payment ofvéMd2) months of your base salary at the ratefiact on your termination date (such
amount to be paid in installments in accordancé Wielsion's regular payroll practices commencinghan sixtieth (60th) day after your
termination date); and (b) payment or reimburserbgrithe Company of your premiums to continue headterage for you and your eligible
dependents under COBRA for twelve (12) months Yol your termination. Your right to receive thessverance benefits is conditioned
on (1) your signing and delivering to Celsion aaeafion agreement and release of claims in a fawe@able to Celsion within forty-five
(45) days following the date of termination of yammployment (and not revoking such agreement aledse within any revocation period
provided by applicable law), and (2) your compliame all material respects with your obligationslenyour nondisclosure, confidentiality,
invention assignment or similar agreement(s) witbls@©n or EGEN and all similar company policiesg@ther, your "Continuing
Obligations").

For purposes of this letter, "Cause" shall meanydar unauthorized use or disclosure of Celsi@trgidential information or trade
secrets; (b) your material breach of any agreerbetween you and Celsion; (c) your material failtwecomply with Celsion's written
policies or rules; (d) your conviction of, or ple&"guilty” or "no contest" to, any felony or anyisdemeanor that includes a punishment of
imprisonment under the laws of the United Statesnyr State thereof; (e) your gross negligence Bfulimisconduct in performance of your
material duties to Celsion; or (f) your continuifagiure to perform assigned material duties forsited after receiving written notification of
such failure from your supervisor or the Board d@febtors.

4. Taxes. Celsion will withhold required federstate and local taxes from any and all paymeotsemplated by this letter.
Except for such withholding rights, you will be pessible for your own tax liability imposed withsgeect to such payments. It is intended
that any amounts payable under this letter shdibebe exempt from or comply with Section 409Athed U.S. Internal Revenue Code so as
not to subject you to payment of any additional f@enalty or interest imposed under Section 4094, the provisions of this letter will be
construed and interpreted in accordance with sotemi.

5. Confidentiality. You will hold this lettemd its terms and conditions in confidence and mtldse them at any time (whether
during or after your employment with Celsion) toyasther person, unless compelled by lawful proaess except for disclosures to your
spouse and/or legal or tax professionals (each lafmy as a condition of such disclosure to them,trsimilarly agree to hold such
information in confidence).




6. Miscellaneous. For as long as you are ensuldyy Celsion, you agree to continue to fulfill yaluties, comply with all
applicable company policies, and use your bestrtsffto advance the interests of Celsion. Howevething contained in this letter
constitutes an employment or service commitmenChbision (or any of its affiliates), affects youatsts as an employee at will who is
subject to termination without cause at any tinteinterferes in any way with Celsion' s right (betright of its affiliates) to change your
compensation or other terms of employment at amg.tiThis letter contains all of the terms and ctowi$ of the retention and severance
arrangements described herein and supersedesoallpderstandings and agreements, written or bedlveen you and Celsion with respect
thereto. You agree that your Continuing Obligatieuils survive any termination of your employmentdayou affirm and agree to continue
to abide by your Continuing Obligations. You regmsthat you have not previously breached any af @ontinuing Obligations. This letter
may be amended only by a written agreement, sidnyedn authorized officer of Celsion that expreggliers to this letter. The validity,
interpretation, construction and performance o$ tleiter shall be governed by the laws of the Stdtédlabama without regard to the
conflicts of laws principles thereof.

If this letter accurately reflects our understagdiegarding these matters, please indicate youepaance by signing this letter

below and returning it to me. A duplicate copy luktletter is included for your records. If you Baany questions about the contents of this
letter, please contact Jeffrey Church at (609) 89@0.

Sincerely,

Michael H. Tardugno
Michael H. Tardugno

ACCEPTED:

Khursheed Anwe June 2, 201.

NAME Date




Exhibit 21.1
Subs idiaries of Celsion Corporation

Jurisdiction of
Name Incorporation
CLSN Laboratories, Inc. Delaware




Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
The Board of Directors and Stockholders

Celsion Corporation
Lawrenceville, New Jersey

We consent to the incorporation by reference ofreport dated March 12, 2015, with respect to imrfcial statements of Celsion Corporat
included in the Annual Report on Form 10-K for ffear ended December 31, 2014.

[s/ Stegman & Company
Baltimore, Maryland
March 12, 2015



Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUA NT TO
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 RULES 13a-14(a) AND15d-14(a)
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO § 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Michael H. Tardugno, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 16fkCelsion Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notadomny untrue statement of a material fact ontdmstate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememts other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtife periods presented in this report;

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s)dainare responsible for establishing and maintgmlisclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant andéiav

€) Designed such disclosure controlsmdedures, or caused such disclosure controlp@ugdures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgibsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the etiin which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control oveaficial reporting, or caused such internal cordgrar financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodiand the preparation of financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with geneeabepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of thgisteant’s disclosure controls and procedures aadgmted in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure conaintsprocedures, as of the end of the period cougyelis report based on such evaluation;

(d) Disclosed in this report any changghie registrant’s internal control over finanagigborting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regrsts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an ameaport) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regsit’'s internal control over financial reporting;dan

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s)daihhave disclosed, based on our most recent etiatuaf internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(@ All significant deficiencies and midd weaknesses in the design or operation of iatlezontrol over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regrg’s ability to record, process, summarize aqbrt financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not materiailat involves management or other employees who aaignificant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 12, 2015 /s/Michael H. Tardugno
Michael H. Tardugno
President and Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit 31. 2
CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUA NT TO
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 RULES 13a-14(a) AND15d-14(a)
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO § 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Jeffrey W. Church, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 16fkCelsion Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notadomny untrue statement of a material fact ontdmnstate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtife periods presented in this report;

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s)dainare responsible for establishing and maintgmlisclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant anddiav

€) Designed such disclosure controlsaodedures, or caused such disclosure controlprouddures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgibsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the etiin which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control oveaficial reporting, or caused such internal cordgrar financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodiand the preparation of financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with geneealbepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of thgisteant’s disclosure controls and procedures aadgmted in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure conaintsprocedures, as of the end of the period cougyelis report based on such evaluation;

(d) Disclosed in this report any changéhie registrant’s internal control over finanagigborting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regigts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an aimaport) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regasit's internal control over financial reporting;dan

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s)daihhave disclosed, based on our most recent etiatuaf internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and mid weaknesses in the design or operation of iatlezontrol over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize aqbrt financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not materiailatinvolves management or other employees who aaignificant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 12, 2015 /sl Jeffrey W. Church
Jeffrey W. Church
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 UNITED STATES CODE § 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
8 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Celsion @ganation (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the yeaded December 31, 2014, as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission orbougMarch 12, 2015 (the “Report”), I, Michael Harlugno, President and Chief
Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuanilO U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to 9% Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that,
to my knowledge:

1. The Report fully complies with the requiremenitSection 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exg®Act of 1934, as amended; and

2.  The information contained in the Report faphgsents, in all material respects, the finanaaldition and results of operations of the
Company.

March 12, 2015 /sl Michael H. Tardugn
Michael H. Tardugno
President and Chief Executive Officer

This certification accompanies each Report pursteaB906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 andl siwd] except to the extent required by
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, be deemed filethbyCompany for purposes of §18 of the SecuritiehBnge Act of 1934, as amended.

A signed original of this written statement reqdit®y 8906 has been provided to the Company andwiietained by the Company and
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commissidts staff upon request.



Exhibit 32. 2

CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 UNITED STATES CODE § 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
8 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Celsion @ganation (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the yeaded December 31, 2014, as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission orboutiMarch 12, 2015 (the “Report”), |, Jeffrey Whuch, Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify,rpuant to 10 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursugh®@b of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,
that, to my knowledge:

1. The Report fully complies with the requiremenitSection 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exg®Act of 1934, as amended; and

2. Theinformation contained in the Report faphgsents, in all material respects, the finana@aldition and results of operations of the
Company.

March 12, 2015 /sl Jeffrey W. Church
Jeffrey W. Church
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

This certification accompanies each Report pursteaB906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and| siwd] except to the extent required by
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, be deemed filethbyCompany for purposes of §18 of the SecuritiehBnge Act of 1934, as amended.

A signed original of this written statement reqdit®y 8906 has been provided to the Company andweiietained by the Company and
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commissidts staff upon request.



